TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY DOCTORAL THESIS 8/2018

The Role, Design and Challenges of Training in a Decentralized Civil-Service System: The Case of Estonia

MERILIN METSMA



TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Business and Governance Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance This dissertation was accepted for the defence of the degree 24/01/2018

Supervisor:	Dr. Külli Sarapuu School of Business and Governance Tallinn University of Technology Tallinn, Estonia
Co-supervisor:	Prof. Dr. Tiina Randma-Liiv School of Business and Governance Tallinn University of Technology Tallinn, Estonia
Opponents:	Prof. Iveta Reinholde University of Latvia
	Prof. Turo Virtanen University of Helsinki

Defence of the thesis: 06/03/2018, Tallinn

Declaration:

Hereby I declare that this doctoral thesis, my original investigation and achievement, submitted for the doctoral degree at Tallinn University of Technology has not been submitted for doctoral or equivalent academic degree.

Merilin Metsma

European Union European Social Fund Investing in your future

Copyright: Merilin Metsma, 2018 ISSN 2685-6898 (publication) ISBN 978-9949-83-221-7 (publication) ISSN 2585-6901 (PDF) ISBN 978-9949-83-222-4 (PDF)

signature

TALLINNA TEHNIKAÜLIKOOL DOKTORITÖÖ 8/2018

Koolituse roll, disain ja väljakutsed detsentraliseeritud avaliku teenistuse süsteemis: Eesti juhtumi analüüs

MERILIN METSMA



Contents

List of Publications	6
1 Introduction	7
1.1 Focus of the thesis	7
1.2 Aim of the thesis	
1.3 Methodology	
1.4 Civil-service training systems	
1.5 The Estonian civil-service training system	
1.6 The design of a decentralized civil-service training system	
1.7 Contextual factors influencing civil-service training	
1.8 The challenges of a decentralized civil-service training system	
1.9 Avenues for further research	34
References	36
Acknowledgements	43
Lühikokkuvõte	44
Abstract	
Publications	53
Appendix	113
Curriculum vitae	129
Elulookirjeldus	130

List of Publications

- I Metsma, M. (2017). Network-Based Coordination of Civil Service Training: Lessons from the Case of Estonia. *The NISPAcee Journal of Public Administration and Policy*, 10(1), 81–98. (1.1)
- II Sarapuu, K., Metsma, M., Randma-Liiv, T., & Uudelepp, A. (2014). Estonia. In M. van Wart, A. Hondeghem, & E. Schwella (Eds.), *Leadership and Culture: Comparative Models of Top Civil Servant Training* (pp. 73–88). Houndmills, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan. (3.1)
- III **Metsma**, **M.** (2014). The Impact of Cutback Management on Civil-Service Training: The Case of Estonia. *Administrative Culture*, *15*(1), 58–79. (1.1)

Appendix

IV Randma-Liiv, T., Metsma, M., & Sarapuu, K. (2013). Between Continuity and Change: The Analysis of the Estonian Civil Service Training System. In M. Vintar, A. Rosenbaum, G. Jenei, & W. Drechsler (Eds.), *The Past, Present and the Future of Public Administration in Central and Eastern Europe* (pp. 195–218). Bratislava: NISPAcee Press. (3.2)

1 Introduction

1.1 Focus of the thesis

The focus of the thesis is on the analysis of civil-service training by exploring the case of Estonia. The thesis addresses the role of training, the design and challenges of training in decentralized civil-service systems. The dissertation analyzes training from a system-level perspective and develops a conceptual framework outlining the key characteristics of decentralized civil-service training arrangements.

The importance of human-resource management (HRM) is growing in contemporary public administration. HRM is a significant factor shaping organizations' performance (Choi & Yoon, 2015; Renkema et al., 2017). As previous research demonstrates, organizational effectiveness can be improved through people-oriented activities, such as staffing, selection, replacement, training, wage and salary administration (Bolman & Deal, 1991, cited in Dipboye, 1997; Kozlowski et al., 2000; Salas et al., 2012; Choi & Yoon, 2015). Among HRM functions, training has been perceived as one of the most important ones (Drost et al., 2002), based on the assumption that the desired improvement in an organization's performance can be accomplished through training (Kozlowski et al., 2000). Training aims to ensure that people in the organization acquire and develop the knowledge, skills, and attitudes they need to carry out their work effectively (Salas et al., 2012; Armstrong & Taylor, 2014). It addresses the knowledge people in the organization need to have, the skills they need in order to perform their tasks, and the attitudes they need to possess (Salas et al., 2012). The relevance of training is related to its positive effect on organizational performance and competitiveness. Studies demonstrate that investments in training lead to improved results and positive organizational outcomes (see, e.g., Schonewille, 2001; Salas et al., 2012; Aragon & Valle, 2013; Choi & Yoon, 2015). However, a simple monetary investment in employee training does not automatically improve organizational outcomes. Training is effective and improves an organization's performance if learning on the individual level is transferred from the course to the work context and transferred learning yields intended organizational objectives (McCourt & Sola, 1999; Kozlowski et al., 2000). Multilevel HRM approaches have thoroughly analyzed conditions of this transfer (see, e.g., Kozlowski et al., 2000; Renkema et al., 2017). Among other things, it is found that training in support of any intervention is unlikely to have a lasting impact until organizational and institutional factors are addressed (McCourt & Sola, 1999). The key factor is whether the investment in training accompanies a coherent and comprehensive framework of human-resource strategies, policies and practices (Armstrong & Taylor, 2014; Choi & Yoon, 2015).

The past decades have witnessed a vast growth in training research (see, e.g., Salas & Cannon-Bowers, 2001; Chen & Klimoski, 2007; Guest, 2011; Salas et al., 2012). However, training has been rarely studied systematically in the public-sector context. The gap in the literature concerning training may derive from the fact that much of the HRM research so far has focused on private-sector organizations rather than public ones (Järvalt, 2012).

HRM in the public sector is usually analyzed in the context of public sector change (e.g. Brown, 2004; Randma, 2002). These studies demonstrate that training is influenced by the manner in which the political, institutional, policy and organizational changes impact the public sector and the conditions of public service. The civil-service recruitment system and the institutional design of HRM are central factors influencing

the characteristics of civil-service training. Discussions over the importance of both the substance and the institutional design of civil-service training rise more specifically in relation to the public-management reforms and incremental changes in general, e.g. political transition from communism to democracy or joining the European Union (e.g. McCourt & Sola, 1999; Lucking, 2003; Witesman & Wise, 2012; Kroll & Moynihan, 2015). This literature addresses the need to train those who are vehicles for reform in order to perform better while implementing changes. Competent civil service is very important, as countries in transition face many specific challenges, e.g. building up democratic institutions, preparing and implementing a great amount of new laws and policies, supporting the development of democratic values, joining and being an active member of international institutions. Some of these types of studies are country profiles of civilservice training systems, also briefly covering institutional structures of training, e.g. which training institutions exist and which institution holds the training budget (e.g. OECD, 1996; OECD, 1997; Lucking, 2003; Bossaert, 2008; ReSPA, 2008; Vyas & Zhu, 2017). More generally, it has been shown that training can facilitate the implementation of new policies by providing information about the policies, justifying why they are needed, and giving employees the capacity to put the new policies in place (Kroll & Moynihan, 2015).

In addition, the cutback-management literature provides some information on civilservice training – namely that the training budget is often one of the first items to be cut because there is a tendency to cut activities with no immediate apparent payoff and the general view held by political executives and public officials considering training a cost rather than an investment (Cayer, 1986; Paddock, 1997; Carrel, 2000; Maor, 2000; Felstead et al., 2012; Lodge & Hood, 2012). This domain of literature indicates that training occupies a paradoxical place in public management. On the one hand, training is expected to fuel the public-management reform, and on the other hand, the costefficiency goal of many public-management reforms may restrain training opportunities of civil servants.

The shortage of civil-service training research is most evident in relation to the systemic perspective on training. While private-sector HRM is concerned with the functioning of single organizations, public-sector organizations constitute elements of larger institutional systems. Consequently, civil-service training deserves special attention and even more so for two contemporary reasons which have led to substantially new challenges in developing civil servants' competencies and their training arrangements. First, the public sector worldwide encounters ongoing changes and new demands as it functions in the environment of complex interacting forces. Nine global megatrends have been identified that have a major impact on governments: demographics, rise of the individual, enabling technology, economic interconnectedness, public debt, economic power shift, climate change, resource stress, and urbanization (KPMG, 2014). Challenges of contemporary public administration have been characterized as "wicked" in the sense that they are complex, ambiguous, uncertain, and there is a lack of agreement on how to deal with them (Lægreid & Rykkja, 2015). It has become evident that coordination and collaboration are needed to address these challenges, and in this vein the emergence of concepts such as "whole-of-government" and "joined-up-government" have been used to denote work done for tackling the "wicked issues" (Christensen & Lægreid, 2007). As regards civil-service training in reflecting these challenges, the environmental contingency theory states that organizations require flexibility, and employees are urged to apply their skills as needed, in order to fit into the changing conditions in rapidly changing environments (Hatch &

Cunliffe, 2006). In addition to a reactive role, public administrations are also expected to have a proactive stance in addressing the global megatrends, which essentially refers to growing expectations towards civil servants. It is important that civil-service training is organized and aligned to future challenges (OECD, 2016). The OECD (ibid.) has identified four areas, each representing specific tasks and skills required in the relationship between the civil service and the society it serves: skills for developing policy, skills for citizen engagement and service delivery, skills for commissioning and contracting services, and skills for managing in and through networks. Investments in training civil servants are needed "to be capable of sophisticated gathering and analysis of policy-relevant information; to be competent at 'horizontal' collaborations with other agencies and departments; and to be skilled in international negotiations on these key challenges" (Pollitt, 2016).

Second, changes in the civil-service systems themselves create challenges and raise new issues. The civil-service system is unique as it represents the state as an employer. Due to private-sector-inspired reforms, civil-service systems have developed from traditional, hierarchical and closed organizations to more open and flexible organizational structures (Demmke & Moilanen, 2010). Cross-European studies demonstrate a growing trend in delegating different HRM decisions to the level of individual organizations (Meyer & Hammerschmid, 2010; Staroňová & Staňová, 2013; Lægreid & Wise, 2015). Public-sector managers and organizational units are given greater freedom in operational decisions and more discretion and responsibility in the field of HRM (Demmke & Moilanen, 2010). These trends undermine "uniform treatment" within a government and create multiple systems, increasing administrative complexity (Lægreid & Wise, 2015). As a result of decentralization, the core issues raised by the public-management reforms address "the difficult trade-off between individualization and delegation of HRM to improve the adaptability and flexibility of the civil service, on the one hand, and the sense of collectivity, shared values and mutual trust relations among civil servants, on the other hand" (OECD, 2005). Finding the balance between centralization and decentralization, fragmentation of the public sector and its capacity to act in a coordinated way, both in terms of public policies and the civil service is a big challenge in HRM reforms in the public sector (Christensen & Lægreid, 2007; Lægreid & Wise, 2015). This has further implications as to what is expected from the civil-service training systems. In order to compensate the weaknesses of a decentralized system, there is a need for a clear division of roles, responsibilities and instruments between various actors in the training system as it helps to avoid overlapping functions, duplication of duties and makes it possible to respond to environmental challenges.

1.2 Aim of the thesis

The aim of the thesis is to analyze civil-service training in a systemic perspective. In order to do so, the Estonian civil-service training system and its functioning is analyzed in detail. The Estonian case provides a good basis for exploring the choices and challenges associated with a decentralized civil-service training arrangement because of the following reasons. First, a decentralized approach to administrative reforms and governing in Estonia has been evident ever since the country regained independence in 1991 (Sarapuu, 2013), leading to one of the most decentralized systems of public-sector HRM in Europe (Meyer & Hammerschmid, 2010). Although a small group of top civil servants (around 100 people) are distinguished as a separate civil-service category with centralized arrangement for service term, recruitment, selection, assessment, and development (II), the core nature of civil-service HRM is decentralized in Estonia. The administrative system relies on strong organizational responsibility, as every ministry and executive agency is responsible for the recruitment, probationary periods, training, performance appraisal, promotion, setting of pay levels and organization of the work of its officials (IV). Second, the post-communist transition and the subsequent accession to the EU forced the Estonian government to address civil-service training on a system level. The case offers a unique opportunity for researchers to follow the design and development of a civil-service training system from scratch, which, in turn, makes it possible to identify critical elements and choices from a system perspective. Third, the small size of Estonia (population 1.3 million) helps to grasp the entire civil-service training system with all its actors and their interrelationships, which is essential in addressing the training system as a whole.

Consequently, the analysis of the Estonian case makes it possible to filter out the key characteristics of a decentralized civil-service training system and to develop a conceptual framework for studying civil-service training. The focus is on systemic elements: actors, the roles and relationships between actors, funding as well as civil-service training content and methods. The Estonian civil-service training system embraces several lessons and makes it possible to pinpoint challenges of decentralized training arrangements for those governments that are considering a (further) decentralization of their systems. Altogether, the dissertation contributes to academic discussion on decentralized civil-service training systems and fosters a further understanding of civil-service training. The dissertation helps to fill in a gap in public-management literature since so far, civil-service training has received little attention from a system perspective. It provides a coherent view of an entire civil-service training system.

The main research questions of the thesis are the following:

- What role does civil-service training play in a decentralized civil-service system?
- Who are the key actors in the civil-service training system?
- What are the interlinkages between the key actors in a decentralized setting?
- What lessons on the role, design and challenges of a decentralized civil-service training system can be drawn from the Estonian experience?

The theoretical framework of the thesis relies on HRM and training research and combines it with three branches of public-administration literature. First, the thesis draws on the public-administration discussion on civil-service systems and public management. The second stream of literature used dissects the coordination of public-sector organizations and network structures in public administration. And third, the literature on public-management reforms and cutback management is utilized. Such a combination of different streams of theoretical knowledge offers a comprehensive and original approach to the training function in the civil service.

The main focus of the Estonian case study is on ministries, agencies, and constitutional institutions, and less on local governments as they are independent in their functioning. Also the study excludes a few branches of civil service that are regulated by special statutes: foreign service, police service, board guard, the court system, and a few institutions within the administrative area of the Ministry of Defense. With regard to the representativeness of the Estonian case for understanding training in a decentralized setting, one has to be aware of certain contextual limitations. First, Estonia is a small-size country, and states with small sizes tend to demonstrate unique traits in their public administrations (see Sarapuu, 2010; Randma-Liiv, 2002). A few of the most recognized traits include higher reliance on informal communication and cooperation, personalism, the small labor market, and market failures. Second, Estonia, together with other Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries, is positioned in the context of post-communist transformation. The pursuit of democracy has demanded the formation of competent and meritocratic civil services able to support democratic policy-making and implementation. While the transformation context makes it possible to observe the elaboration and development of civil-service training systems from scratch, one should also realize that by 2017 the specific post-communist features of CEE countries have started to fade away, and it is increasingly questionable whether it is possible to speak of a distinct administrative tradition in CEE (Randma-Liiv & Drechsler, 2017). Third, and more generally, the New Public Management (NPM) fashion of the 1990s influenced the human-resource policies in Estonia, leading to a very decentralized setup of the civil service with great decision-making autonomy for individual public-sector managers (Järvalt, 2012). Although the specific characteristics of the Estonian cultural-historical context and political-administrative system leave their footprint in training practices, it is expected that the findings from the case of Estonia help to identify crucial lessons for governments which are planning to further decentralize the public-sector HRM generally, and civil-service training systems more specifically.

The main body of arguments of the thesis is developed in four original articles. First, the article "Network-Based Coordination of Civil Service Training: Lessons from the Case of Estonia" (I) focuses on the coordination of civil-service training in a decentralized civil-service system. The article investigates network-based coordination, analyzes the power sources of the central coordinator and discusses the opportunities and limitations of creating coherence through network-type cooperation. The article concentrates on the possibilities of the Ministry of Finance of Estonia as the central coordinator to create unity in a civil-service system in which the responsibility and management autonomy for training is delegated to individual ministries and agencies. Second, the book chapter "Estonia" (II) (co-authored with Külli Sarapuu, Tiina Randma-Liiv and Annika Uudelepp) analyzes the Estonian top civil-service training framework to a genuine horizontal system of top civil service. The chapter outlines the cultural, political, and administrative factors

in order to understand the nature and functioning of the Estonian top civil service and then takes a more detailed look at the characteristics of and challenges facing the top civil-service training system. The author of this dissertation contributed to the book chapter by collecting data, doing the literature review and working more thoroughly on the sections on the content and methods of training and expectations of top civil servants. The third article "The Impact of Cutback Management on Civil-Service Training: The Case of Estonia" (III) focuses on the civil-service training during cutback management. The crisis management in Estonia was characterized by immediate and severe governmental expenditure cuts. The article analyzes how cutback management affected civil-service training in Estonia during 2006–2011. The analysis is operationalized by looking at three key elements of civil-service training: budget, content and methods. Fourth, the book chapter "Between Continuity and Change: The Analysis of the Estonian Civil Service Training System" (IV) (co-authored with Tiina Randma-Liiv and Külli Sarapuu) focuses on the evolution, design and actual functioning of the civilservice training system in Estonia in the context of post-communist transformation. The article sheds light on the role of training in a civil-service system and presents an in-depth case study of the evolution of the Estonian civil-service training system. The author of this dissertation contributed to the article by collecting data and composing and analyzing tables and figures.

The introductory discussion of the dissertation develops as follows. First, the methodology of the thesis is described. Second, the role of civil-service training in centralized and decentralized civil-service systems is discussed. Third, the case of Estonia is described on the basis of key characteristics of civil-service training systems. Fourth, the design of a decentralized civil-service training system is illustrated by discussing actors, their roles and relationships between them, training funding schemes, training content and methods. Fifth, the contextual factors influencing civil-service training are highlighted. Sixth, the challenges of a decentralized civil-service training system are outlined. Finally, the recommendations for further research are presented.

1.3 Methodology

The dissertation explores what role civil-service training plays in a decentralized civilservice system, who the key actors in the civil-service training system are, what the interlinkages between actors in a decentralized civil-service training system are, and what lessons can be drawn regarding the role, design and challenges of civil-service training. In order to develop in-depth knowledge on these issues, a single-case study approach has been chosen as the most suitable one. The case-study method is the most appropriate one for describing the details about organizations, policy processes, and institutional arrangements (Eller et al., 2013), which is crucial for studying civil-service training on a system level. The case-study approach allows in-depth investigation into a contemporary phenomenon within a real-life context (Yin, 2009). Also, it provides context-dependent knowledge (Flyvbjerg, 2006) which enables an understanding of what factors influence training systems.

The qualitative analysis undertaken combined different data sources and analytical methods to produce a high-quality result. The methods of information gathering involved desk research and interviews. For the desk research, several information sources were used. First, academic literature was primarily used to explain the importance and role of civil-service training (I; III; IV), to describe civil-service systems, and to place the civil-service training system in the context of contemporary trends and challenges of state governance. In addition, paper I drew on academic literature about theoretical discussions on coordination and the theory on the power sources in governance networks. The analysis in paper III was operationalized by looking at three key elements of civil-service training: budget, content and methods. The theoretical background for this derived from the academic literature on cutback management and training. The synthesis of different streams of academic discussion allowed analyzing civil-service training from different angles, leading to a coherent systemic perspective.

The second type of data included Estonian legislation, previously implemented surveys, budgetary data, statistics, and other government documents. The information gathered from these sources was used in all of the academic papers (I; II; III, and IV) to illustrate the Estonian civil-service training system. The official statistics was widely used in paper III to describe the Estonian civil-service training: the number and dynamics of civil servants participating in training activities, the content of civil-service training presented as the percentage of the total amount of training hours, different training methods used presented as the percentage of the total amount of training methods used, data on training funding from the central resources and from the individual organizations' budgets, and the share of training costs from the payroll. Paper II outlined cultural, political, and administrative factors in order to understand the nature and functioning of the Estonian top civil service by making use of previously implemented surveys on different aspects of the Estonian country and top civil servants. Paper I analyzed in detail the Ministry of Finance's legal mandate in coordinating civil-service training and used Estonian legislation and government documents in pursuing this. For the analysis of the evolution of a decentralized training system in Estonia, paper IV made use of the information from previous studies and government documents.

Third, in order to develop an analytical framework for studying civil-service training and for placing the case of Estonia into a broader international context, the analysis relied also on secondary data derived from international empirical studies. Most importantly, country profiles of civil-service training systems (OECD, 1996; OECD, 1997) gave an overview of the training landscape and provided additional information on the existing training structures and systems in selected countries.

A key source of primary data for the empirical research was interviews. During the period of 2011–2016 altogether 38 interviews were conducted. This time span covered legal changes leading to major institutional reorganizations in the Estonian civil-service training system and the recent financial crisis. For selecting the interviewees snowball sampling was used. Snowball sampling is a form of sampling in which the respondent is asked to provide the names of other suitable respondents (van Thiel, 2014). The aim of the interviews was to cover all relevant stakeholders. The interviewees included training managers of ministries, agencies, local governments and the Government Office representatives (24); secretary generals, deputy secretary generals, county governors (7); and experts in the field (7). The interviews were used to open up the characteristics and challenges of the Estonian civil-service training system, to learn more about the network-based coordination, and cutbacks in civil-service training. As the focus of the study was on the systemic characteristics of civil-service training systems, the aim of the interviews was to understand the role and the relationships of the key actors. The interviews were semi-structured, which allowed the respondents to elaborate on their understanding and experience of the issues under study. The interviews lasted between 1 and 2 hours. The interviews were transcribed, and the transcripts were used to triangulate the information that was gathered from the desk research. The content of the interviews and documents were coded in order to identify the key actors, their roles and relations, the principles of funding of civil-service training, and the most common training content and methods.

Furthermore, the thesis also relied on the findings of an applied project report commissioned by the Estonian Ministry of Finance, The Analysis of Civil Service Training System and Development Needs of Estonia (Sarapuu et al., 2011). The project focused on different aspects of the Estonian civil-service training system: the functioning of the Estonian civil-service training system in the context of the challenges facing public administration, the international practice in the organization of training systems, training and development needs of civil service, and the importance and role of civil-service training. Within this project, a comparative analysis of the civil-service training systems of five selected countries was carried out. Five countries were selected to compile a more detailed overview of international practice. These countries included the Netherlands, Ireland, Norway, Slovenia and Finland. A questionnaire about the organization of training and development in the public service was designed and sent to contact persons. The responses provided an overview of the training systems of the selected countries, training providers, content of the training, and financing of training. The author of the thesis served as an analyst in this project, conducted interviews and worked more thoroughly on the analysis of the international practice of civil-service training systems.

Last but not least, the author of this dissertation has also benefitted from her previous work experiences at the Estonian Ministry of Finance as the specialist of the central training program and as a human-resource consultant, and at the Estonian Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications as the head specialist of training. Also, the author is a member of the network of Estonian training managers. The observations through these experiences have provided insight into the daily operation of the Estonian civilservice training system. Observation offers an opportunity to examine feelings, establish who interacts with whom, and understand how participants communicate with each other (Kawulich, 2005). The work experience in the Estonian civil service, work-related conversations, and other interactions helped to get the sense of how things are organized and prioritized, and how people and organizations interrelate. The author's participant observations revealed what was valued in the decentralized system, what were the expectations towards the central coordinator, and what were the (dis)advantages of the system from the perspective of different actors.

1.4 Civil-service training systems

The civil-service system and the institutional design of HRM are central factors influencing the characteristics of civil-service training arrangements. The two main models of civil-service systems are well described in the public-management literature (Bossaert et al., 2001; Meyer & Hammerschmid, 2010). First, career-based systems are characterized by the dominance of life-long careers, specific criteria for initial entry, a strong emphasis on career development with a high relevance of seniority and a relatively strong differentiation between private- and public-sector employment. They tend to promote collective values and show a weaker emphasis on individual performance and accountability. Second, position-based systems are characterized by a focus on selecting the candidates for each position, more open access and a higher mobility between private- and public-sector employment. They tend to have weaker cross-government values but stronger links across levels of hierarchy and status as well as a stronger focus on individual performance assessment (Meyer & Hammerschmid, 2010). However, pure models hardly ever exist, and governments mix components of different civil-service systems in order to compensate weaknesses of the "pure" models.

Within these civil-service systems, there are two basic models of civil service management – a centralized and a decentralized model (Staroňová & Staňová, 2013). Decentralization means that decision-making powers are handed over to individual organizations. More specifically, in the field of HRM decentralization refers to the line managers' and public employees' increased HR responsibilities, discretion and job control, possibility to recruit, evaluate, offer incentives, promote, suggest training needs and communicate directly. In contrast, in a centralized model decision-making is guided by central rules (Demmke & Moilanen, 2010). In a centralized system individual organizations are directly controlled by central rules (by law) or by central powers of the central coordinator.

Civil-service training is usually divided into pre-service and in-service training (Lavtar, 2008). Pre-service training is related to the education acquired before entering the civil service. In-service training is received once in the service. The focus in this dissertation is on in-service training. The management of in-service training is different in position-based and career-based civil-service systems. A career-based civil-service system assumes a highly regulated organization of training, as these systems are usually characterized by a comprehensive and mandatory initial training (Dujić et al., 2006). Therefore civil-service training is usually centralized in a career-based system. In a position-based system, training is not a determinative element. The organization of training is more decentralized, and in most cases, individual ministries and agencies carry the main responsibility for training of their civil servants (Bossaert et al., 2001; Lucking, 2003). In terms of resources, decisions on resource allocation are also transferred to lower levels. For a decentralized civil-service training system, this means that decisions on training funding, needs, providers, and contents are made autonomously in each public-sector organization.

The goals of training can be distinguished between three levels: the individual level, the positional/organizational level and the level of the civil service as a whole. Training on the individual level is one of the motivational factors of civil servants (Bossaert, 2008; Vidal-Salazar et al., 2012). This is especially important in a decentralized position-based

civil-service system, as it provides civil servants with opportunities to move to new positions and develop their careers through developing their skills and competencies in a context where the career path is not determined. Training enables civil servants to be more mobile within the system. Good training and development opportunities may thus increase the attractiveness of civil-service careers. As public-service commitment is based on the specific job, pay and conditions (Horton & Hondeghem, 2006), appropriate training opportunities may thus increase commitment to the service. Altogether, training on the individual level is expected to bring about change on the organizational and also on the civil-service-system levels.

On the positional/organizational level, the goals of training are related to the implementation of organizational tasks and focus on developing skills and competencies in order to fulfill the objectives of the organization. Training on the organizational level is highly important in transition countries, as they are going through organizational changes, e.g. the establishment of new management systems, structural changes or the implementation of new laws (ReSPA, 2008; Chlivickas, 2010; Kroll & Moynihan, 2015). All these changes require new skills and competencies in order to prepare and implement them successfully. Job-specific training is also vital when governments face environmental changes and challenges or different crisis (III).

On the system level, the role of training is to support the core functions of the civil service. First, civil service can be seen as a personnel-management system. In this regard, the main role of the civil service is to attract and retain a high-quality and high-performing workforce (Järvalt & Randma-Liiv, 2010). On this level training becomes relevant to support the core functions of public administration, deliberate change and to tackle crisis. Competent civil service is expected to develop solid policy-making capacity in every policy field (Beblavý & Sičáková-Beblavá, 2015). Also, civil servants need training in order to adapt to their roles and to comply with the requirements of the office (Randma-Liiv & Connaughton, 2005). Furthermore, the membership of international institutions requires professionalism in order to influence the decisions, as well as to make the decision-making processes more transparent, trustworthy and knowledge-based. For example, for the newer members of the EU, an extensive EU-related competencies training period falls before the country's EU Council Presidency. Presidency tasks demand extraordinary preparations and extra hiring both in bigger and smaller member states (Kajnč & Svetličič, 2010).

Second, civil service describes the basis of accountability of civil servants and contributes to the differentiation between political and administrative spheres by drawing the line between public positions with different principles of access. Training is a particularly valuable mechanism to raise civil servants' awareness of their role and responsibility in a democratic public administration and to contribute to the development of civil service ethics (Chlivickas et al., 2002; Randma-Liiv & Connaughton, 2005; Bossaert, 2008; Trendafilova, 2008; Palidauskaite et al. 2010). It has been argued that decentralized systems may entail the loss of a civil-service ethos (Demmke & Moilanen, 2010), hence civil-service ethics training is very important in highly decentralized systems.

Third, civil service can be seen as a system of symbols and values. Training is an instrument for the development of shared values and knowledge in the civil service, which form a basis for coherent policy-making and analysis (Bossaert, 2008). This is especially important in decentralized civil-service systems. The development of a common knowledge and value base throughout the civil service is likely to create a solid

foundation for coordination and cooperation between different institutions and also to ensure a similar developmental stage and management principles throughout the executive (Peters, 1998). In that respect, training is an excellent instrument to foster cooperation – for example, the joint training events of top civil servants bring different actors and institutions together under the same formal and mental roof (II).

The importance of civil-service training and its functions on different levels are summarized in Table 1. All of these goals of training on different levels are important elements of civil-service training systems. As they are interdependent with each other, one must consider all of them when analyzing a civil-service training system. The focus of this dissertation is on the system level because this level creates important context for the other levels. Also, training on the level of the civil-service system is the least investigated in the context of decentralized civil-service systems. In the next chapter, the Estonian civil-service training system is described.

	Personnel-management system		
	 high-quality and high-performing workforce 		
	• core functions of public administration,		
	deliberate change, tackling crisis		
Civil-service-system	Mechanism of accountability and control		
level	awareness of roles and responsibilities		
	civil service ethics		
	System of symbols and values		
	 shared values and knowledge 		
	coordination and cooperation		
Positional/	Job-specific training		
organizational level			
Individual level	Motivation		
	Career opportunities		

Table 1: The role of civil-service training in a civil-service system

Source: the author

1.5 The Estonian civil-service training system

This chapter gives a general overview of the Estonian civil-service training system, which is more specifically analyzed in the articles I, II, III, and IV. Estonia regained independence from the Soviet Union in August 1991. Since then, the state has gone through major economic and administrative reforms. The radical shift of political regime from communism to democracy and from planned to market economy necessitated administrative changes, both in terms of institutions and people (Randma-Liiv & Järvalt, 2011). Estonia inherited an institutionally fragmented administrative system with a high number of relatively autonomous individual organizations (Sarapuu, 2011). The general trend of reforms over the last two decades has been toward aggregating the administrative system and establishing mechanisms for steering, control and cooperation (OECD, 2011; II; IV). The executive power rests with the government. The administrative system relies on ministerial responsibility for policy-making and implementation. The eleven ministries are rather small, and the policies are mostly administered by various agencies in their areas of governance. Individual organizations have considerable leverage over the issues belonging to their area of responsibility, including HRM.

The basis for a modern professional civil service was established with the 1995 Public Service Act (PSA) in Estonia. It introduced an open, position-based civil-service system that covered a restricted share of the public-sector workforce – the people working for the ministries, government agencies, local government institutions and a few other state institutions – that is, the people at the core of the public sector. In terms of training, the PSA provided for a decentralized organization of training and an individual responsibility for professionalism. An official was required to replenish his or her knowledge and skills for the competent performance of functions. The immediate or higher supervisor decided on the need for an official to participate in the training (I). In April 2013, the new PSA was passed in the parliament *Riigikogu*, which restricted the 1995 institutionally based definition of the civil service even more by differentiating officials who were engaged in executing the public power and employees who did not have this function. The latter ones work under the general labor law. In other respects, the reform further endorsed the open and decentralized nature of the Estonian civil service and aimed to abolish the perceived "disparities" that there were taken to be between the civil service and private-sector employment (e.g. in redundancy benefits) (II; IV). Altogether, the civil service employs about one fifth of the public-sector staff (in total 132,900 people in 2016) (Rahandusministeerium, 2017).

In accordance with the decentralized arrangement, every public organization is responsible for the recruitment, probationary periods, training, performance appraisal, promotion, setting of pay levels and organization of the work of its officials. Ministries and executive agencies are guided by the legal framework and centrally set advisory guidelines. (Tõnnisson & Paabusk, 2005; I; II; III; IV) Minor exceptions concern the category of top officials. The recruitment and development of around 100 top civil servants is partly centralized to the Top Civil Service Excellence Centre in the Government Office. The Centre is responsible for the recruitment, selection and development of top executives (Järvalt & Veisson, 2005; Randma-Liiv et al., 2015; I; II; IV). Such a decentralized system has increased the demand for better horizontal integration of policy sectors and for a whole-of-government approach. (Randma-Liiv et al., 2015: I; IV) There is no institution at the central-government level with single powers to develop the government's human-resource policy, as the coordination of the civil service is

fragmented among several institutions. The Estonian system has been reluctant in committing steering powers to some central units (Tõnnisson & Randma-Liiv, 2008). There are a few government institutions which have specific coordinating responsibilities:

- The Ministry of Finance is responsible for the general development of public administration, the development of personnel and training policy, the development of remuneration policy in the civil service, the planning and implementation of civil-service training and development, the promotion of quality development in the civil service, the development of the strategic planning system for the central government, the reform of budgetary procedures and financial management.
- The Government Office is responsible for the recruitment, selection, and development of top civil-service executives.
- The Ministry of Justice is responsible for the general public-law development, including civil-service legislation (I; II; III; IV).

Altogether, the Ministry of Finance has the central role in holding the civil-service system together, steering its development and guaranteeing coherence. The Ministry is expected to use the following instruments for central coordination: planning and implementation of central training activities, cooperation with training managers in public-sector organizations, gathering, analyzing and circulating relevant information, and designing and steering common policies and principles (I; III; IV). The Ministry is expected to play a strategic role in the system development and to provide advice and guidance, disseminate information, foster change and initiate new leadership programs (I). In 2013, the Ministry of Finance published the Green Paper on the Personnel Policy of the State as an Employer that mapped the existing situation, problems and policy options in personnel policy, including civil-service training. In 2014, the White Paper on the Personnel Policy of the State as an Employer was published, which was the first comprehensive HRM document, and, among other things, addressed civil-service training. However, as of 2018, the principles of the White Paper have not been systematically implemented.

Training activities in the Estonian civil service have been financed from different resources: training budgets of individual organizations, the central training budget administered by the Ministry of Finance and Government Office, and also foreign aid (III). The civil-service training system has been influenced in many ways by the EU structural funds, as the top civil-servant training program and the Ministry of Finance's central training program have relied heavily on these funds (II; III; IV).

Until 2015, the Centre for Public Service Training and Development operated within the Estonian Academy of Security Sciences under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Interior. According to its statute, the Centre was supposed to function as a central training institution for the civil service. However, in practice, the Centre operated like any other company in the training market and did not fulfil the role of central training institution, as is common in established civil-service systems. (I; III) The Centre was abolished in 2015, the coordination of the continuing education was consolidated into the Centre for Continuing Education in the Academy of Security Sciences, and the focus was turned to internal security training. As is characteristic of a decentralized system, the ministries and agencies carry the main responsibility for providing civil-service training (Tõnnisson & Paabusk, 2005; I; II; III; IV). Through the years the training specific to an organization's core function has been among the top three training priorities in ministries and agencies. It has been followed by language courses, law courses, training on communication psychology and other training topics (III). The central training program has offered free training on the following topics: orientation training, civil-service values and ethics, the Estonian language, policy-making skills and human-resource-management skills (III; IV). As for the top civil servants, development activities have cultivated both public-sector-specific knowledge and skills related to administrative capacity, policy making, policy implementation, coordination, and quality of public services, as well as more generic management topics, such as innovation, leadership, strategic management, and client orientation (II).

The role of the training market in the Estonian decentralized civil-service training system is significant. Due to the fact that there is no central civil-service training institution, individual organizations, the Ministry of Finance, and the Government Office contract out training activities to the external providers (I; II; III; IV). These activities are based on classroom-type off-the-job courses and in-house trainings provided by external trainers. However, ministries and agencies are often compelled to send civil servants to out-of-the-house open training courses instead of tailor-made solutions because of the small size of the groups (III). Individual coaching and mentoring are exercised more extensively among the group of top civil servants (II).

1.6 The design of a decentralized civil-service training system

Based on the synthesis of knowledge from the existing literature and the in-depth analysis of the functioning of the Estonian civil-service training system, critical elements of a decentralized training arrangement can be outlined. Although civil-service training in a decentralized system is administered in the nexus of several actors all contributing to the performance and effect of the system, their configurations and interrelationships have escaped detailed scientific attention thus far.

Most importantly, the decentralized nature of HRM determines the principal relations within such a system, and the actual responsibility for civil-service training is delegated to *individual public-sector organizations* (Bossaert et al., 2001; Lucking, 2003; I; III: IV). HR units in ministries and agencies are engaged in implementing the civil-service training strategy, and so they are connected with the central coordinator through the strategy. HR units have both strategic and operational roles (OECD, 2008; Meyer-Sahling, 2009). They are responsible for training-needs assessment, organizing, and evaluating the efficiency and effectiveness of training activities.

Next, in most developed countries with a decentralized civil-service system, there is a body responsible for central coordination. Its main role is the horizontal coordination of HRM (Staroňová et al., 2013; I; II; IV). Usually this is a specific ministry or Prime Minister's office (OECD, 1996; Lucking, 2003). Often this responsibility is allocated to the Ministries of Finance, of Interior, of Labor, or of Justice, but sometimes to specific ministries dealing with public administration (e.g. Ministry of Public Administration) (OECD, 2008; Meyer-Sahling, 2009). This institution is also responsible for the development of the civil-service training policy (Trendafilova, 2008). Also the central body coordinates the civil-service training system, and different coordination instruments shape the relationships between the actors (I). A study among the European Union member states has demonstrated that an important instrument often used by the central body for coordination is the general *civil-service training strategy*, which is designed and steered by the central coordinator (Bossaert et al., 2001). Such a strategy foresees a coherent, long-term and systematic approach to training throughout the civil service and is believed to be a precondition for improving the quality of public administration (Chlivickas et al., 2002).

Besides training strategy as a central instrument, an increasing trend is to develop specific development programs for *top civil servants* (Van Wart & Hondeghem, 2014a; **II**). Centrally organized top civil servants' training can compensate the weaknesses of a decentralized system. As top civil servants form an important group in the civil service that initiates changes and maintains democratic values, several national governments have found that their development requires special attention. Centrally planned and implemented training of top officials also serves as a coordination instrument bringing about coherence and unity.

An important coordination instrument for the central coordinating body is *the central civil-service training institution*. The central civil-service training institution is usually in charge of training-needs assessment, responsible for developing, organizing and delivering horizontal training activities throughout the civil service, and evaluating the efficiency and effectiveness of training activities. The central training institution normally gets input for its activities from the central coordinating body for developing, organizing or delivering training (**IV**). It is not simply a training supplier – it usually creates and develops a specific in-house competence in public administration – but it is also a

competence and analysis center regarding general civil-service development (Lucking, 2003). The institutional structure of the central training institution may occur in different formats – it may be part of the hierarchical structure of central government or belong to the central coordinating unit's governing area (OECD, 1997; Bossaert et al., 2001). In some decentralized systems, the central training institution is missing altogether (Sarapuu et al., 2011; I; III; IV).

The extent of (de)centralization of the civil-service training system becomes apparent in the *funding scheme*. The funding of civil-service training is an important component of a training system – it operationalizes roles and relationships of various actors (I; III). In a decentralized civil-service training system the governmental funds for training are allocated to individual ministries and agencies. But in general, even in decentralized systems a certain amount of civil-service-specific training activities can be financed and organized from central resources (III). Additional funding for training may be received from external aid projects or EU funds (OECD, 1997; Van Wart & Hondeghem, 2014b; III; IV).

Civil-service training in a decentralized system is provided by in-house or external providers (Vyas & Zhu, 2017; III). Training programs are conducted in-house by government agencies or ministries themselves, or are in-sourced from the external providers. The decentralized funding scheme, lack of specific expertise and a demand for a high training volume pressures agencies and ministries to outsource civil-service training. Outsourcing training creates an open and diverse training market formed of training providers. These training providers can include both public- and private-sector training institutions which offer specific training activities for civil servants as a result of a procurement process (Lucking, 2003). Outsourcing training affects both the quantity and the quality of civil-service training. The buyer is sensitive to the quality and cost of training and thus creates and affects a training market (IV). On the one hand, the decentralized model requires well-articulated demand in order for market providers to be interested in the development of specific civil-service training activities and the presence of competition in a training market (Sarapuu et al., 2011). Creating demand requires sophisticated HRM and development skills within each HR unit to assess training needs (Lucking, 2003). On the other hand, organizations can just resort to the supply. Thus, the quality of civil-service training depends to a large extent on the training market and the providers.

With the responsibility for the civil-service training and funds allocated to perform this task, the civil-service training content and methods can vary across individual organizations (III). In general, civil-service training content demonstrates the areas in which civil servants are expected to develop their skills and perform professionally. The *content of civil-service training* is divided into two: general civil-service training and job-specific training (Schiavo-Campo & Sundaram, 2001; Bossaert et al., 2001; Randma, 2002; Pollitt & Op de Beeck, 2010; III). First, general civil-service training is provided in issues that have a high priority for the public service as a whole and that require uniform understanding, know-how and principles of action to be adopted and implemented in different organizations across areas. For top civil servants, generic management and leadership training is oriented around the needs and expectations of individual organizations. It involves preparing public officials in the specific knowledge and skills related to their posts (Bossaert et al., 2001). Job-specific training content involves the development of knowledge and skills which are critical to the functioning of a specific

organization (or even a specific job). Hence, job-specific training is prevailing in the decentralized civil-service training system (III).

Training method is a set of systematic procedures, activities, or techniques that are designed to impart knowledge, skills, or attitudes to the participants that have direct utility in enhancing their job performance (Martin et al., 2014). Training is an expensive investment. Hence, the choice of a training method is critical to optimize its effectiveness and efficiency (ibid.). There are many methods of delivering training. A distinction between methods is usually made by the training provider and the location of training activities (Kitching & Blackburn, 2002; III). Methods of training are usually divided into internal and external delivery training, depending on the training provider, and into onthe-job and off-the-job training, depending on the location (Schiavo-Campo & Sundaram, 2001; Torrington et al., 2002; Jacobs, 2010; III). Based on the international experience, the source of trainers varies from professional trainers to consultants, universities, and experts from the government itself (Van Wart & Hondeghem, 2014a). On-the-job training (e.g. coaching, mentoring) is the process in which knowledge and skills are acquired at the location of work; knowledge and skills are passed down by one person (e.g. a supervisor) to another person (Jacobs, 2010). These methods are good for accomplishing change in employees' performance (ibid.), helping to fulfil the objectives of an organization, pass on values and support individual development (Torrington et al., 2002). Off-the-job training provides group-based learning opportunities on a variety of topics at a site other than where the work is actually done (Jacobs, 2010). New knowledge is best passed on in the format of classroom-type courses delivered by either an external or an internal provider (Torrington et al., 2002). Classroom-type courses embrace a big audience, which ensures that the target group gets the same information, and this also supports a common understanding of the topic, which is important in civil service, as it favors cooperation.

In the decentralized civil-service training system, the preference in training methods is related to available resources (III). For example, previous studies (Felstead et al., 2012; Vanhala, 1995; III) have demonstrated that organizations shift from external to in-house and on-the-job training in time of retrenchment. Organizations have found that these methods cost less and are good ways to use in-house knowledge. The recent economic crisis also gave a boost, though not witnessed in the Estonian case, to online and e-learning because it is perceived to be a cheap, standardized, cost-cutting and highly flexible mode of training (Felstead et al., 2012).

The features of a decentralized civil-service training system are best highlighted through a comparison with a centralized civil-service training arrangement. One can summarize the key differences of centralized and decentralized civil-service training systems as presented in Table 2, outlining the core characteristics of the training systems in an ideal-typical way.

	Centralized civil-service trai- ning system	Decentralized civil-ser- vice training system		
Civil-service system	Career-based civil-service system	Position-based civil- service system		
Training funding model	Centralized funding model	Decentralized funding model		
Central coordinating bo- dy	Coordination and operation of the system	Coordination of the sys- tem		
Central training insti- tution	Central training institution as a training and competence center	May or may not exist, different status and funding schemes		
Training-needs analysis and evaluation of training effectiveness	Central training institution as a civil-service competence center analyzes training needs of civil service and evaluates training effective- ness by gathering input from individual organizations	e competence nization is responsible lyzes training for training-needs ana- vil service and lysis and evaluation of ining effective- ering input from		
Providers of training	Central training institution is the main civil-service training provider	Training market, in- cluding central training institution (if it exists)		

Table 2: Centralized and o	decentralized	civil-service	training systems
	accentianzea	CIVIL SCIVICC	training systems

Source: the author

Altogether, the key characteristics of the decentralized civil-service training systems can be brought out based on the preceding analysis. These key characteristics are: the actors, roles and relationships between those actors, the funding model of training, and the content and methods of training. The decentralized civil-service training system is a setup of different actors whose relations are determined by the position-based civil-service system and a decentralized funding scheme. The role and instruments of individual ministries and agencies in a system are clear-cut – the HR unit manages the organization's training budget, decides on the training content and methods, and buys training from the market. Hence, each publicsector organization is responsible for training-needs analysis and the evaluation of training effectiveness. However, the setting around the central coordinating body varies somewhat. A central training institution as a training and competence center may or may not exist, different status and funding schemes are possible. Also, the central civil-service training strategy as a basis for civil-service training may not exist, and the management of the top civilservice development may be centralized. These critical elements of the decentralized civilservice training system require special attention for understanding and studying civil-service training. They are illustrated in Figure 1, which serves as a conceptual framework for analyzing decentralized civil-service training systems.





Source: original drawing by the author

1.7 Contextual factors influencing civil-service training

The system-level approach is relevant for understanding and developing civil-service training. However, analysis on this level is dependent on the surrounding environment, as it affects the functioning of the system. In order to make recommendations or draw lessons from particular countries, it is relevant to be aware of the contextual peculiarities. In the following paragraphs, the possible impact of the context is outlined. In the final chapters the challenges of a decentralized system, the lessons from the Estonian case, and the avenues for further research are detailed.

First, the political-administrative system describes the way policies are formulated, are put into practice, and are evaluated. The political regime and the institutional structure of the state explain power structures, roles, and relationships of different political and administrative institutions. Administrative structure determines the extent of centralization in the civil-service system and hence is a crucial factor for understanding the civil-service training arrangement. Also the Estonian case illustrates how the change of a political regime is accompanied by a structural reorganization of the administrative system (Sarapuu, 2013; IV), which, among other things, shapes the organization of civil-service training.

Second, the evolution of the civil-service training system is influenced by the historical-cultural environment. The historical-cultural context involves the prevailing values within the organization and its environment (Sarapuu, 2013). In CEE, it is important to consider the context of post-communist transition and Europeanization (Randma-Liiv et al., 2011). The aim of post-communist structural reorganization was to overcome the legacy of the highly politicized and centralized Soviet system (Sarapuu, 2013). Accession to the EU was a key incentive for administrative reform. Although it has been argued that the Europeanization of personnel policies was mostly about legislation as the main reform instrument (Randma-Liiv & Järvalt, 2011), the Estonian case reveals that it also affected the content of training and the civil-service training funding scheme (IV). Furthermore, the civil-service systems of Eastern Europe countries, their work values and motivation can be expected to be influenced by the NPM ideology prevailing in the period of democratic institution-building (Randma-Liiv & Järvalt, 2011; Virtanen, 2016). At that time, civil-service training in Estonia was transformed into a market-based system, and the previous centralized system was decentralized.

The third important factor to consider is the socio-economic environment of a country. For example, the financial resources available for training are influenced by the economic situation. Civil-service training should be financed on a permanent basis, yet in economically poorer countries training can be insufficiently funded. Also, even in wealthier countries the civil-service training budget is often among the first items to be cut when fiscal stress hits (Cayer, 1986; Maor, 2000; Felstead et al., 2012; Lodge & Hood, 2012). International country profiles demonstrate that transition countries need external help for training and are using international and foreign aid programs (OECD, 1997). The Estonian case exemplifies the use of EU structural funds in civil-service training (III; IV). On the one hand, external funds allow training activities to continue even during the crisis. On the other hand, this type of funding scheme is not sustainable.

Fourth, according to the studies on small states, small countries feature specific traits in their public administrations (see Sarapuu, 2010; Randma-Liiv, 2002). One of the most recognized ones is a more important role for individuals, higher personalism and stronger reliance on informal communication. For example, the coordination of the training

system appears to rely on flexible and informal structures in Estonia, e.g. the role of the network of training managers (I). Also, the small size of Estonia has an impact on the functioning of the training market, and this, in turn, creates a specific context for the civil-service training system. The market failures characteristic to small states also challenge civil-service training systems. In many areas of civil service, the education system of a small country may not offer specific education, which must be compensated by in-service training. For example, Estonian universities do not train health policy, education policy or environmental policy experts (to name just a few policy areas). There can be a lack of training providers in specific public-administration subfields. This may increase the cost of training with regard to the purchase of training from abroad. Also, certain training providers may have a monopoly in offering some specific topics in many areas where training for "advanced-level" may be lacking (Sarapuu et al., 2011).

And fifth, in order to analyze a civil-service training system, it is important to consider the influence of the entire civil-service system and the recruitment procedures. In a position-based system, access to the civil service is open to all candidates, and candidates are selected for each position (Bossaert et al., 2001). This means that people working in the civil service have very different educational and professional backgrounds. This, in turn, creates input for training content. In Estonia, where the education system and the training system for civil servants are separate, the central civil-service training program provides induction training for new civil servants who do not have a degree in public administration, law, or political science (Sarapuu et al., 2011). The purpose of the training is to help civil servants to adapt more quickly to the new environment and, among other things, to explain the specific role of civil servants.

1.8 The challenges of a decentralized civil-service training system

Decentralized systems are argued to be flexible, decision-making is faster, procedures are less complex, and it is possible to meet the specific needs of individual organizations (Demmke & Moilanen, 2010). Indeed, organizations have greater freedom (compared to centralized systems) in operational decisions on job-specific training, e.g. how to evaluate training needs and the effectiveness of training, which training topics to prioritize, what type of training methods and training providers to use. Due to the autonomy over the training budget, organizations can more easily prioritize training needs and design tailor-made training to use in-house expert knowledge in the training process. However, the decentralized system also creates a number of challenges, especially from the systemic perspective.

There are several lessons that can be learned from the Estonian case on the functioning of a decentralized civil-service training system. The Estonian experience can be useful for countries with a decentralized setup of central government and with an open position-based civil-service system. As there is a tendency of governments to move towards a greater decentralization of their public-sector HRM practices (Lægreid & Wise, 2015), the Estonian case study may shed light on both the strengths and weaknesses of decentralized training systems.

Firstly, central coordination is vital for a decentralized training system. It is crucial because the freedom in decision-making in a decentralized system could easily lead to a situation where there are not one but many different approaches to civil-service training, undermining the unity and coherence of the system. Also, central coordination is needed because the liberty to prioritize training topics means that the government does not have an overview of civil-service development in general. And yet, civil-service training should also address macro-level needs. Coordination can be more efficient if it is located in one (central) organization – otherwise a number of coordinators may face difficulties with coordinating central roles between themselves instead of taking care of the entire system (IV). If civil-service coordination is shared between different organizations, the division of roles must be clear, and each actor must have enough resources to perform their tasks. The Estonian case shows that the central coordinator needs to have a clear mandate for steering, backed with necessary human and financial resources (I).

Secondly, a decentralized civil-service training system challenges the central coordinator to use efficient instruments. The main goal is to find the optimal balance between centralization and decentralization through increased coordination and efficient instruments in order to guarantee a coherent approach to the development of the civil service as a whole as well as meeting the demands of the changing environment and ensuring strong and unified values, trust, and a common ethos of public service. The Estonian system relies on the following instruments for central coordination: development of top civil service, planning and implementation of central training activities, cooperation among training managers in public-sector organizations, gathering, analyzing and circulating relevant information, designing and steering common policies and principles (I; IV). In the nexus of different actors, a long-term systematic perspective for civil-service training is required. Without a common strategic basis for civil-service development the country's strategic and purposeful development and ability to cope with different challenges is restricted (IV). Offering development programs for top officials plays a substantial role in initiating and maintaining changes and creating common values and culture (II). It helps to overcome the silo mentality which often prevails in decentralized systems. The Estonian case reveals that the rise of

network structures and network-based governance has influenced civil-service training (I). Network-based coordination binds different actors together quite effectively. This case demonstrates that in a decentralized civil-service system, where there are no comprehensive centrally imposed obligatory measures for ensuring the coherence of civil-service training, a common understanding of training and development policies and practices can be expanded by intense collaboration through networks. The power structure frames the roles in networks, and even if the central coordinator has no power sources to impose obligatory measures, it has a vital role and opportunity for ensuring the coherence of civil-service training through network-based instruments (I).

Thirdly, the analysis of the Estonian experience indicates the role for a functioning central training institution in a decentralized system (IV). The Estonian civil-service training system lacks an operating central civil-service training institution, which is an important coordination instrument for a central coordinating body. A central training institution should be "at arm's length" from the central civil-service coordinator and offer specific training activities (mostly those which are not available in the training market), develop training materials, analyze civil-service training needs and effectiveness, as well as building and offering specific competencies relevant for the civil service. Having individual organizations tackle a common challenge autonomously could bring about insufficient coherence and fragmentation of approaches. The Estonian case demonstrates that in a situation where the central coordinator and the central training institution have hardly any formal linkages, and there is no functioning central civil-service training strategy, the central training institution does not fulfil its purpose and the decentralized nature of the system is even more emphasized.

Fourthly, the Estonian case reveals a number of disadvantages of a decentralized funding system. First, training activities are planned for a relatively short period, following the annual budgeting system. Therefore, the training activities are reactive rather than proactive, and public-sector organizations and training providers tend to focus on organization-specific training rather than on the civil-service macro-level needs. Also, in a decentralized arrangement there is a risk that most of the attention is focused on the personnel-management function rather than on accountability and values of civil service. However, these macro-level functions are very important in a decentralized system, especially within the recent reform trends. Strong and unified values, trust, common ethos of public service, and accountability are central concerns of post-NPM concepts such as "whole-of-government" and "joined-up-government" (Christensen & Lægreid, 2007). Second, the Estonian case demonstrates that even a decentralized training system needs sustainable and continuous central funding in some of its parts. Across-the-board cuts and a decentralized training system will lead to major cuts in training budgets (III). Continuous funding is especially important for specific training needs, which are better addressed centrally to ensure a unified approach across the civil service and provision in times of fiscal crisis. Thirdly, the Estonian case also demonstrates that organizations shift from external to in-house and on-the-job training in time of retrenchment. In-house courses have the advantage of internal expertise and are relatively cheap. Also, when under pressure to prioritize training programs organizations choose to maintain job-specific training (III).

Fifthly, with the NPM trend, the competences of public managers have been questioned in a very profound way (Virtanen, 2000). The decentralized civil-service training system puts a heavy burden on officials responsible for training in ministries and agencies. The success of training units depends on the professional skills of managers

and the knowledge base of HR professionals. In an open position-based system, the competencies of HR staff may vary considerably. HR specialists' capacities to responsibly and effectively administer their tasks must be centrally addressed (I) as this would further secure coherence of practices. The capacity of organizational-training specialists to analyze training and development needs is also vital (III). In addition, individual training specialists in organizations should be equipped with knowledge and skills on how to handle global "megatrends" affecting their workforce. Besides pressing challenges of public administrations, the private and public sectors are operating in changed workforce conditions, which have important implications for training. A few common trends include: dealing with an aging workforce; a new generation entering the workforce with different motivations, expectations, and approaches to learning; access to rapidly emerging technologies that can accelerate or distract from employee development; and the need to develop an adaptive, flexible workforce that can adjust to changes, while simultaneously ensuring that they have the specific skills they need to do the present work (Salas et al., 2012).

Altogether, a decentralized civil-service system clearly has its challenges as well as opportunities. In Table 3 they are summarized under the advantages and disadvantages of a decentralized civil-service training system. The table draws also on Demmke and Moilanen (2010), who have listed the advantages and disadvantages of decentralization and centralization of HRM.

System	
	Advantages
•	Flexible to changes, less bureaucratic processes and faster decision-making
	(e.g. easy access to top civil servants).
•	Responsive to urgent challenges, changing environment and labor mobility.
•	Enhanced motivation of public sector managers due to higher responsibi- lity and autonomy.
•	Each organization can develop its system of analyzing training needs and
	delivering training to civil servants. Chance to initiate innovative solutions in
	the organization's training system.
•	Each organization can prioritize its training needs (choose training content) and allocate appropriate funds respectively. Opportunity to take into account all genuine and individual training needs and the peculiarities of an organization.
•	Each organization has the freedom to choose training providers and maintain good partnerships in the training market.
•	Each organization can design tailor-made training programs to meet their exact needs (involve civil servants themselves to the process and use inhouse expert knowledge).
•	Each organization can choose the appropriate training method for their needs and financial capacity.

Table 3: Advantages and disadvantages of a decentralized civil-service training system

• Each organization can choose the appropriate method for the evaluation of training effectiveness and use this information in the future.

Disadvantages

- As each organization prioritizes training needs according to their needs, there is a need for better coordination to address state-wide issues (e.g. wicked issues, changes).
- Instability of funding for civil-service training as training budgets tend to be cut in a period of economic decline.
- Differences in training policies and procedures can cause mobility obstacles, unfairness across the civil service and difficulties for civil servants to pursue their personal development plans.
- Negative impact on policy coherence with regard to important topics. A coherent approach and understanding (e.g. of current governance perspectives in the public sector) is necessary to ensure a positive development.
- Negative effects (e.g. decision quality, inefficiency) if managers and HR officials lack training-specific knowledge and skills (e.g. procurement process, how to design a training program, adult learning principles, training-needs analysis and evaluation of training effectiveness etc.).
- High transaction costs and administrative burden for each organization (related to the selection of training provider and organizing training events, e.g. booking rooms, informing the target group, registration etc.).
- Assumes the existence of a functioning training market (including the existence of public-sector-specific know-how).
- The possibility that different training providers offer training on the same subject in a very different way, thus challenging the coherence and values of the civil service as a whole.

Source: the author, based on Demmke & Moilanen, 2010

In order to overcome the disadvantages of a decentralized civil-service training system and to find an optimal balance between centralization and decentralization, governments need to address challenges deriving from a decentralized civil-service training system proactively. The lessons based on the in-depth analysis of the Estonian civil-service training system (I; II; III; IV) can be summarized to form a number of recommendations as appear below:

- Clearly define the responsibilities, roles, and cooperation mechanisms between different actors with regard to the development and implementation of the civil-service training policy.
- Avoid fragmentation of the central coordination function between different institutions.

- Ensure the implementation of the civil-service training policy, its systemic development and continuity.
- Ensure sustainable and sufficient resources for civil-service training this includes both financial and human resources both on the central and organizational levels.
- Develop top officials as a separate group bringing the civil-service system together and maintaining joint values.
- Provide a civil-service training strategy for individual organizations addressing the key issues for the development of the civil service as a whole and priority areas for the training of civil servants.
- Foster a common understanding on training and development by intense collaboration through networks.
- Develop managers' and HR officials' HR and civil-service-training-related competences.

1.9 Avenues for further research

The findings of the thesis indicate several avenues for future research. First, there is still little research on the contextual factors shaping the civil-service training systems that could explain the peculiarities of the systems. The dissertation at hand highlighted the potential impact of the political-administrative system, historical-cultural context, socioeconomic environment, small states' specifics, civil-service systems and recruitment procedures on civil-service training. Further analysis in a similar direction could bring a better understanding of civil-service training arrangements, their evolution and functioning. Especially, international comparative analysis of civil-service training systems would allow advancing the knowledge.

Second, joining the EU has been brought out as one of the developmental milestones of CEE countries (Staroňová, 2013). However, civil-service training in the context of EU membership requires more analysis. Joining the EU, participation in EU decision-making, undertaking the EU Presidency as well as the EU structural funds have had an impact on the content of civil-service training (OECD, 1997; Kajnč & Svetličič, 2010), but also a more structural influence can be expected. The specific impact of the EU and Europeanization on the civil-service training systems still demands detailed analysis.

Third, on the system level there are possibilities for going more in-depth with regard to the analysis of central training institutions. The central civil-service training institution can have different roles and many institutional forms. It has been demonstrated that a decentralized civil-service training system may exist even without the presence of a central civil-service training institution. In-depth analysis of the central training institution's legal status, funding, competences, tasks etc. could considerably enhance the understanding of civil-service training systems.

Fourth, the study reveals that the funding scheme of civil-service training is a defining element in the system. At times the funding system even determines whether the training is provided or not and sometimes also dictates the training content and methods. In sum, a lot of the choices made in civil-service training are dependent on the finances. Since the topic has not been closely studied, it should be done more thoroughly. Analyzing how the decisions on the allocation of training funds are born in decentralized civil-service systems can contribute to a better understanding of the functioning and challenges of civil-service training systems. Also, for transition countries external donors have been of great importance (OECD, 1997). The thesis reveals that it is not sustainable to rely heavily on external financial support (e.g. EU structural funds), hence it would be worth examining the impact of external funding on civil-service training systems.

Fifth, a distinction has been made between general civil-service training and jobspecific training. The thesis argues that in order to compensate the weaknesses of a decentralized civil-service training system, it is preferable that general civil-service training is organized centrally. The process and principles of providing general civilservice training did not receive in-depth attention in the thesis, yet the importance of it is well demonstrated in the study. More in-depth knowledge is needed on how the general civil-service training should be provided so that it would meet the demands of a changing environment. Further studies along this line could consider the importance of a general civil-service training strategy, the distribution of tasks between central actors and individual organizations, and analyze the entire training cycle on the civil-servicesystem level. And finally, in order to really zoom in and grasp the core of civil-service training, a training cycle should be analyzed on the level of individual public agencies. In a decentralized system, ministries and agencies are responsible for providing training specific to an organization's core functions. However, the effective provision of job-specific training is equally important, also for the functioning of the public administration as a whole. The thesis highlighted the need to focus on HR units' competencies, yet it would be useful to take a step forward and analyze how these competencies are put into practice by focusing on training activities in ministries and agencies. It would be beneficial to consider ministry-agency relations in this regard, as well, as their cooperation is important for the functioning of the whole decentralized civil-service training system.

References

- Aragon, I. B. & Valle, R. S. (2013). Does Training Managers Pay Off? *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *24*(8), 1671–1684.
- Armstrong, M. & Taylor, S. (2014). *Armstrong's Handbook of Human Resource Management Practice.* 13th edition. London, Philadelphia, New Delhi: Kogan Page Ltd.
- Beblavý, M. & Sičáková-Beblavá, E. (2015). Making the State Work: Lessons from 20 Years of Public Administration Reforms in Central and Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union. United Nations Development Programme. Retrieved from https://ssrn.com/abstract=2699154.
- Bossaert, D., Demmke, C., Nomden, K., Polet, R. & Auer, A. (2001). *Civil Services in the Europe of Fifteen*. Maastricht: European Institute of Public Administration.
- Bossaert, D. (2008). Training and Human Resource Development in the European Union Member States: New Practices and Innovative Trends. Maastricht: European Institute of Public Administration.
- Brown, K. (2004). Human Resource Management in the Public Sector. *Public Management Review*, 6(3), 303–309.
- Carrel, L. F. (2000). Training Civil Servants for Crisis Management. *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management*, 8(4), 192–196.
- Cayer, N. J. (1986). Management Implications of Reduction in Force. *Public Administration Quarterly, 10*(1), 36–49.
- Chen, G. & Klimoski, R. J. (2007). Training and Development of Human Resources at Work: Is the State of Our Science Strong? *Human Resource Management Review, 17*, 180–190.
- Chlivickas, E. (2010, May 13–14). Development of Human Resources System for Improvement of Public Administration in Eastern European Countries. Paper presented at the 6th International Scientific Conference, Business and Management, Vilnius, Lithuania.
- Chlivickas, E., Marceline, K., & Vaitenkovaite, R. (2002). Civil Servant Training Strategy as a Precondition for Improving the Quality of Public Administration: The Example of Lithuania. In J. Caddy & M. Vintar (Eds.), *Building Better Quality Administration for the Public: Case Studies from Central and Eastern Europe* (pp. 124–141). Bratislava: NISPAcee Press.
- Choi, M. & Yoon, H. J. (2015). Training Investment and Organizational Outcomes: a Moderated Mediation Model of Employee Outcomes and Strategic Orientation of the HR Function. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 26(20), 2632–2651.
- Christensen, T. & Lægreid, P. (2007). The Whole-of-Government Approach to Public Sector Reform. *Public Administration Review, 67*, 1059–1066.
- Demmke, C. & Moilanen, T. (2010). *Civil Services in the EU of 27. Reform Outcomes and the Future of the Civil Service*. Frankfurt am Main, Berlin, Bern, Bruxelles, New York, Oxford, Wien: Peter Lang.
- Dipboye, R. L. (1997). Organizational Barriers to Implementing a Rational Model of Training. In M. A. Quinones & A. Ehrenstein (Eds.), *Training for a Rapidly Changing Workplace: Applications of Psychological Research* (pp. 31–60). Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Drost, E. A., Frayne, C. A., Lowe, K. B., & Geringer, J. M. (2002). Benchmarking Training and Development Practices: a Multi-Country Comparative Analysis. *Human Resource Management*, *41*(1), 67–86.
- Dujić, S., Miglic, G., Cerovic, R., Vojinovic, J., & Pavlicic, N. (2006). Civil Service Training System in Montenegro. *Publication on Civil Service Training System in Montenegro*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.uzk.co.me/stari/eng/publications/doc/PARIM_Publikacija_Sistem</u> <u>usavrsavanja sluzbenia ENG.pdf</u>.
- Eller, W. S., Gerber, B. J., & Robinson, S. E. (2013). *Public Administration Research Methods: Tools for Evaluation and Evidence-Based Practice*. New York: Routledge.
- Felstead, A., Green, F., & Jewson, N. (2012). Training During the Recession. *Work, Employment and Society, 26*(6), 968–986.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2006). Five Misunderstandings about Case-Study Research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *12*(2), 219–245.
- Guest, D. E. (2011). Human Resource Management and Performance: Still Searching for Some Answers. *Human Resource Management Journal, 21*(1), 3–13.
- Hatch, M. J. & Cunliffe, A. L. (2006). Organization and Environment. In M. J. Hatch & A. L. Cunliffe (Eds.), Organization Theory (pp. 63–100). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Horton, S. & Hondeghem, A. (2006). Editorial. Public Service Motivation and Commitment. *Public Policy and Administration*, *21*(1), 1–12.
- Jacobs, R. (2010). *Structured On-the-Job Training: Unleashing Employee Expertise in the Workplace*. 2nd edition. San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Järvalt, J. & Veisson, M. (2005, May 19–21). Developing Public Sector Leaders: an Analysis of the Competency Framework for the Estonian Senior Civil Service. Paper presented at the NISPAcee Annual Conference, Moscow, Russia.
- Järvalt, J. & Randma-Liiv, T. (2010). Public Sector HRM: The Case of No Central Human Resource Strategy. *Baltic Journal of Management*, *5*(2), 242–256.
- Järvalt, J. (2012). Strategic Human Resource Management in the Public Service: Evidence from Estonia and Other Central and Eastern European Countries. *Tallinn University of Technology Doctoral Theses Series I: Social Sciences, 18,* 1–146.
- Kajnč, S. & Svetličič, M. (2010). What It Takes to Run an EU Presidency: Study of Competences in Slovenia's Public Administration. *Administrative Culture*, 11(1), 84–109.

- Kawulich, B. B. (2005). Participant Observation as a Data Collection Method. *Forum Qualitative Social Research, 6*(2), 1–28.
- Kitching, J. & Blackburn, R. (2002). *The Nature of Training and Motivation to Train in Small Firms*. London: Kingston University Department for Education and Skills.
- Kozlowski, S. W. J., Brown, K. G., Weissbein, D. A., Cannon-Bowers, J. A., & Salas, E. (2000). A Multilevel Approach to Training Effectiveness. Enhancing Horizontal and Vertical Transfer. In K. J. Klein & S. W. J. Kozlowski (Eds.), *Multilevel Theory, Research, and Methods in Organizations: Foundations, Extensions, and New Directions (pp. 157–210)*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- KPMG. (2014). Future State 2030: The Global Megatrends Shaping Governments. KPMG International. Retrieved from <u>https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2014/02/future-state-2030v3.pdf</u>.
- Kroll, A. & Moynihan, D. P. (2015). Does Training Matter? Evidence from Performance Management Reforms. *Public Administration Review*, 75(3), 411–420.
- Lavtar, R. (2008). Tacit Knowledge and In-service Training of Civil Servants. *Uprava, letnik,* 6(4), 63–76.
- Lægreid, P. & Rykkja, L. H. (2015). Organizing for "Wicked Problems" Analyzing Coordination Arrangements in Two Policy Areas: Internal security and the Welfare Administration. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*, 28(6), 475–493.
- Lægreid, P. & Wise, L. R. (2015). Transitions in Civil Service Systems: Robustness and Flexibility in Human Resource Management. In J. C. N. Raadschelders, T. A. J. Toonen, & F. M. Van der Meer (Eds.), *Comparative Civil Service Systems in the 21st Century* (pp. 203–222). 2nd edition. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Lodge, M. & Hood, C. (2012). Into an Age of Multiple Austerities? Public Management and Public Service Bargains Across OECD Countries. *Governance*, 25(1), 79–101.
- Lucking, R. (2003). Civil Service Training in the Context of Public Administration Reform: a Comparative Study of Selected Countries from Central and Eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union (1989 to 2003). *Lessons on Best Practice in the Approach to Civil Service Training*. Retrieved from <u>http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/untc/unpan013648</u>. <u>pdf</u>.
- Maor, M. (2000). A Comparative Perspective on Executive Development: Trends in 11 European Countries. *Public Administration, 78*(1), 135–152.
- Martin, B. O., Kolomitro, K., & Lam, T. C. M. (2014). Training Methods: A Review and Analysis. *Human Resource Development Review*, *13*(1), 11–35.
- McCourt, W. & Sola, N. (1999). Using Training to Promote Civil Service Reform: a Tanzanian Local Government Case Study. *Public Administration and Development*, *19*, 63–75.
- Meyer-Sahling, J.-H. (2009). Sustainability of Civil Service Reforms in Central and Eastern Europe Five Years After EU Accession. *Sigma Papers, 44*, 1–90.

- Meyer, R. E. & Hammerschmid, G. (2010). The Degree of Decentralization and Individual Decision Making in Central Government Human Resource Management: a European Comparative Perspective. *Public Administration*, *88*(2), 455–478.
- OECD. (1996). Training Civil Servants for Internationalization. *Sigma Papers*, *3*, 1–95.
- OECD. (1997). Country Profiles of Civil Service Training Systems. Sigma Papers, 12, 1–246.
- OECD. (2005). Modernizing Government. The way forward. Paris: OECD.
- OECD. (2008). The state of the Public Service. Paris: OECD.
- OECD. (2011). *Estonia: Towards a Single Government Approach*. Paris: OECD Public Governance Reviews.
- OECD. (2016). Skills for a High Performing Civil Service. Paris: OECD.
- Paddock, S. C. (1997). Benchmarks in Management Training. *Public Personnel Management*, *26*(4), 441–460.
- Palidauskaite, J., Pevkur, A., & Reinholde, I. (2010). A Comparative Approach to Civil Service Ethics in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. *Journal of Baltic Studies*, *41*(1), 45-71.
- Peters, B. G. (1998). Managing Horizontal Government: the Politics of Co-ordination. *Public Administration, 76*, 295–311.
- Pollitt, C. (2016). Be Prepared? An Outside-In Perspective on the Future Public Sector in Europe. *Public Policy and Administration*, *31*(1), 3–28.
- Pollitt, C. & Op de Beeck, L. (2010). Training Top Civil Servants: A Comparative Analysis. *Project Report*. Retrieved from <u>https://soc.kuleuven.be/io/english/research/publication/report-training-top-</u> <u>civil-servants-a-comparative-analysis</u>.
- Rahandusministeerium. (2017). Riigihaldus. *Ministry of Finance Website*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.rahandusministeerium.ee/et/riigihaldus</u>.
- Randma, T. (2002). Public Personnel Management. In G. Wright & J. Nemec (Eds.), Public Management in the Central and Eastern European Transition: Concepts and Cases (pp. 179–282). Bratislava: NISPAcee.
- Randma-Liiv, T. (2002). Small States and Bureaucracy: Challenges for Public Administration. *Trames, 6*(4), 374–389.
- Randma-Liiv, T. & Connaughton, B. (2005). Public Administration as a Field of Study: Divergence or Convergence in the Light of "Europeanization"? *Trames: Journal* of the Humanities and Social Sciences, 9(4), 348–360.
- Randma-Liiv, T. & Järvalt, J. (2011). Public Personnel Policies and Problems in the New Democracies of Central and Eastern Europe. *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis, 13*(1), 35–49.
- Randma-Liiv, T., Nakrošis, V., & Hajnal, G. (2011). Public Sector Organization in Central and Eastern Europe: From Agencification to De-Agencification. *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences*, Special Issue, 160–175.
- Randma-Liiv, T., Uudelepp, A., & Sarapuu, K. (2015). From Network to Hierarchy: the Evolution of the Estonian Senior Civil Service Development System. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, *81*(2), 373–391.

- Randma-Liiv, T. & Drechsler, W. (2017). Three Decades, Four Phases: Public Administration Development in Central and Eastern Europe, 1989–2017. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*, *3*(7), 595–605.
- Renkema, M., Meijerink, J., & Bondarouk, T. (2017). Advancing Multilevel Thinking in Human Resource Management Research: Applications and Guidelines. *Human Resource Management Review, 27*, 397–415.
- ReSPA. (2008). Civil Service Training Systems in the Western Balkans Region. An Overview of the Civil Service Training Systems in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia, and Kosovo under UNSCR 1244/99. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/countries/serbia/42331015.pdf.
- Salas, E. & Cannon-Bowers, J.A. (2001). The Science of Training: A Decade of Progress. Annual Review of Psychology, 52, 471–499.
- Salas, E., Tannenbaum, S.I., Kraiger, K., & Smith-Jentsch, K.A. (2012). The Science of Training and Development in Organizations: What Matters in Practice. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest, 13*(2), 74–101.
- Sarapuu, K. (2010). Comparative Analysis of State Administrations: The Size of State as an Independent Variable. *Administrative Culture*, *11*(1), 30–43.
- Sarapuu, K. (2011). Post-Communist Development of Administrative Structure in Estonia: From Fragmentation to Segmentation. *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences*, *35*(4), 54–73.
- Sarapuu, K., Randma-Liiv, T., Uudelepp, A., & Metsma, M. (2011). Final report of the Analysis of a Civil Service Training System and Development Needs of Estonia. Commissioned by the Estonian Ministry of Finance. Tallinn: Praxis Centre of Policy Studies and Tallinn University of Technology.
- Sarapuu, K. (2013). Mapping and Explaining Post-Communist Development of Administrative Structure: The Case of Estonian Public Administration 1990– 2010. Tallinn University of Technology Doctoral Theses Series I: Social Sciences, 20, 1–128.
- Schiavo-Campo, S. & Sundaram, P. (2001). Investing in Government Personnel. In S. Schiavo-Campo & P. Sundaram (Eds.), *To Serve and To Preserve: Improving Public Administration in a Competitive World* (pp. 465–494). Philippines: Asian Development Bank.
- Schonewille, M. (2001). Does Training Generally Work? Explaining Labour Productivity Effects from Schooling and Training. *International Journal of Manpower*, 22(1/2), 158–172.
- Staroňová, K. (2013). Innovative Elements in Civil Service Reform in Slovakia: A way to Attract and Retain Young Professionals? In Lenka Furová & Dagmar Špalková (Ed.), Current Trends in the Public Sector Research (pp. 200–212). Brno: Masaryk University.
- Staroňová, K. & Staňová, L. (2013). The Role of Central Structures for Coordination, Management and Control of the Civil Service: the Case of Slovakia. In

Regionalisation and Inter-regional Cooperation. The 21st NISPAcee Annual Conference (pp. 1–16). Bratislava: NISPAcee Press.

- Staroňová, K., Staňová, L., & Jajcayová, Z. (2013). Innovative Elements in Civil Service Reform in Slovakia. Research paper prepared in the Framework of the Project Named Public Administration Reform in Visegrad Countries: Lessons Learned for Belarus and Ukraine. Retrieved from <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/317278568_Innovative_Elements_i</u> n Civil Service Reform in Slovakia.
- Thiel, S. van. (2014). *Research Methods in Public Administration and Public Management: An Introduction*. London: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Torrington, D., Hall, L., & Taylor, S. (2002). Learning and Development. In D. Torrington,
 L. Hall, & S. Taylor (Eds.), *Human Resource Management* (pp. 423–439). Essex:
 Pearson Education Limited.
- Trendafilova, T. (2008, June 26–27). Managing the Civil Service: Roles, Mechanisms and Capacities. *Central Capacity and Line Ministries*. Seminar on Building a Professional Civil Service, Pristina, Kosovo.
- Tõnnisson, K. & Paabusk, K. (2005). Securing Common Knowledge and Values in Decentralized Public Service. The Case of Estonia. In G. Jenei, A. Barabashev, & F. van den Berg (Eds.), *Institutional Requirements and Problem Solving in the Public Administrations of the Enlarged European Union and its Neighbours* (pp. 262–278). Bratislava: NISPAcee.
- Tõnnisson, K. & Randma-Liiv, T. (2008). Public Management Reforms: Estonia. In G. Bouckaert, J. Nemec, V. Nakrošis, G. Hajnal, & K. Tõnnisson (Eds.), *Public Management Reforms in Central and Eastern Europe* (pp. 93–120). Bratislava: NISPAcee Press.
- Vanhala, S. (1995). Human Resource Management in Finland. *Employee Relations, 17*(7), 31–56.
- Van Wart, M. & Hondeghem, A. (2014a). Introduction: Understanding the Role and Context of Senior Civil Servant Training. In M. Van Wart, A. Hondeghem, & E. Schwella (Eds.), *Leadership and Culture: Comparative Models of Top Civil Servant Training* (pp. 1–21). Houndmills, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Van Wart, M. & Hondeghem, A. (2014b). Conclusion: Understanding the Reasons for the Differences in Importance, Quantity, and Quality of SCS Training. In M. Van Wart, A. Hondeghem, & E. Schwella (Eds.), *Leadership and Culture: Comparative Models of Top Civil Servant Training* (pp. 337–347). Houndmills, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Vidal-Salazar, M. D., Hurtado-Torres, N. E., & Matías-Reche, F. (2012). Training as a Generator of Employee Capabilities. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *23*(13), 2680–2697.
- Virtanen, T. (2000). Changing Competences of Public Managers: Tensions in Commitment. *International Journal of Public Sector Management, 13*(4), 333–341.

- Virtanen, T. (2016). Roles, Values, and Motivation. In C. Greve, P. Lægreid, & L. Rykkja (Eds.), *Nordic Administrative Reforms. Lessons for Public Management* (pp. 79–104). London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Vyas, L. & Zhu, Y. (2017). Centralisation, Decentralisation and Outsourcing of Civil Service Training: Hong Kong, Singapore and United Kingdom Experience in Comparative Perspective. *Asia Pacific Journal of Public Administration, 39*(1), 1–15.
- Witesman, E. M. & Wise, C. R. (2012). The Reformer's Spirit: How Public Administrators Fuel Training in the Skills of Good Governance. *Public Administration Review*, 72(5), 710–720.
- Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.

Acknowledgements

I am delighted to have studied in the Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance at the Tallinn University of Technology. I am grateful for the challenges I have faced and opportunities I have had while studying in the Tallinn University of Technology, where I have completed both the bachelor's level of studies and the master's level of studies in addition to my PhD studies, which are nearing their end. I can say that my studies have played an instrumental part both in my personal development and career. For that I thank all the members of the Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance.

Above all, I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Külli Sarapuu and Prof. Tiina Randma-Liiv for their continuous support and guidance in throughout my PhD studies. Their criticism and insistence on high academic standards have been very valuable for me. It has been a privilege to work alongside them and to learn from them.

I am also thankful to Ly Looga, Piret Tõnurist and Riin Savi for inspiration, advice and support. I would like to express my gratitude to Piret Kähr for solving all the administrative issues. My special thanks also go to Annika Uudelepp, a co-author in a research project and one of my publications. I am equally grateful to my former colleagues in the Ministry of Finance and all the members of the training managers' network who demonstrated their interest in this topic.

This thesis has benefitted financial aid from different sources which I highly appreciate as it has enabled me to participate in international conferences and academic visits. I would like to emphasize my time spent as a guest researcher in Leuven Catholic University and Potsdam University. These stays widened my views on academic world and gifted me with some lifelong friends.

I cannot imagine my life without my sisters and brothers – I thank them, and my friends, for accepting my busyness and just being there for me.

Finally, I want to dedicate this dissertation and effort to my mother Merike and father Erich. Their question every now and then: "So, how is your thesis writing going?" reminded me their unconditional support and trust in my choices and kept me from giving up. They raised me to be curious and conscientious – both were necessary qualities during PhD studies and I appreciate my parents for building this foundation for my life.

Lühikokkuvõte Koolituse roll, disain ja väljakutsed detsentraliseeritud avaliku teenistuse süsteemis: Eesti juhtumi analüüs

Väitekiri analüüsib koolituse rolli, disaini ja väljakutseid detsentraliseeritud avaliku teenistuse süsteemis. Koolitus on personalijuhtimise keskne valdkond, mis toetab organisatsiooni eesmärkide täitmist. Uuringud näitavad, et investeering koolitusse parandab organisatsiooni tulemusi (Aragon ja Valle 2013; Choi ja Yoon 2015). Koolitusel on soovitud mõju, kui lisaks investeeringule pööratakse teadlikku tähelepanu ka koolitussüsteemi institutsionaalsetele teguritele. Niisamuti vajab koolitus strateegilist lähenemist (Armstrong ja Taylor 2014; Choi ja Yoon 2015).

Avaliku sektori kontekstis ei ole koolitust seni põhjalikult analüüsitud. Teaduslike analüüside puudus on silmatorkavaim süsteemitasandi uuringute hulgas. Samas on just süsteemitasand avaliku sektori uuringute puhul oluline tasand, sest avaliku sektori organisatsioonid on suurema institutsionaalse süsteemi osa. Olemasolev teaduskirjandus käsitleb koolitust põgusalt avaliku sektori reformimise raames (McCourt ja Sola 1999; Lucking 2003; Witesman ja Wise 2012; Kroll ja Moynihan 2015). Avaliku sektori reform ja järkjärgulised muutused avalikus halduses, nagu üleminek kommunismilt demokraatiale või liitumine Euroopa Liiduga, toovad koolituse vajalikkuse kõige teravamalt esile. Süsteemsed muutused tekitavad vajaduse koolitada neid, kes on reformide elluviijad, selleks et nad suudaksid muudatusi paremini saavutada. Koolituse teemal peatutakse põgusalt ka majanduskriisi käsitlevates analüüsides. Mitmed uuringud toovad välja, et koolituseelarve on sageli üks esimesi kulukohti, mida sel ajal vähendatakse (Cayer 1986; Paddock 1997; Carrel 2000; Maor 2000; Felstead jt. 2012; Lodge ja Hood, 2012).

Avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteem väärib analüütilist tähelepanu kahel olulisel põhjusel. Esiteks tegutseb avalik sektor muutuvas keskkonnas, mis toob pidevalt kaasa uusi väljakutseid. Sellised väljakutsed on näiteks erinevad globaalsed megatrendid ning n-ö nurjatud probleemid (wicked problems) (KPMG 2014; Lægreid ja Rykkja 2015). Nende väljakutsetega tegelemiseks on suurenenud vajadus koordineerimise ja koostöö järele ning kasutusele on tulnud kontseptsioonid, nagu "terviklik valitsemine" ja "ühtne valitsemine" (Christensen ja Lægreid 2007). Avalik sektor peab sellistele väljakutsetele reageerima nii reaktiivselt kui ka proaktiivselt, mis omakorda seab ootused avaliku teenistuse koolitusele, sest ametnikkond peab omandama oskused ja võime reageerida ühiskonna suurenenud väljakutsetele. Lisaks mõjutavad avaliku teenistuse süsteemid ise koolitussüsteemide toimimist. Personalijuhtimise otsuste detsentraliseerimine üksikute asutuste tasandile on kasvav trend (Meyer ja Hammerschmid 2010; Staroňová ja Staňová 2013; Lægreid ja Wise 2015). Ehkki detsentraliseerimine annab juhtidele otsustusvabaduse, kaalutlusõiguse ja vastutuse, ohustab see ühiseid väärtusi ning soodustab paralleelsete personalijuhtimise süsteemide tekkimist. Sellest tulenevalt on teenistuse väljakutseks tasakaalu leidmine tsentraliseerimise avaliku ja detsentraliseerimise vahel, killustatuse vähendamine ja kooskõlastatult tegutsemise suutlikkuse suurendamine (Christensen ja Lægreid 2007; Lægreid ja Wise 2015). Need väljakutsed seavad kõrgendatud ootused ka avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemidele. Detsentraliseeritud süsteemi puuduste kompenseerimiseks on vaja, et koolitussüsteemis osalejate rollid, kohustused ja vahendid oleksid selgelt jaotatud, et vältida kattuvaid funktsioone, ülesannete dubleerimist ja vastata väljakutsetele.

Süsteemitasandil avaliku teenistuse koolituse analüüsimiseks on valitud Eesti koolitussüsteem ja selle toimimine. Detsentraliseeritud süsteemi uurimiseks sobib Eesti juhtum mitmel põhjusel. Esiteks on alates taasiseseisvumisest Eesti riigi kui tööandja personalipoliitikat iseloomustanud detsentraliseeritud lähenemine (Sarapuu 2013). Iga avaliku teenistuse asutus vastutab värbamise, katseaja korralduse, koolituse, hindamise, edutamise ja palgapoliitika eest (IV). Teiseks väärib Eesti juhtum analüüsimist, sest Eesti on pidanud pärast kommunistlikust režiimist väljumist koolitussüsteemi üles ehitama ning on seetõttu adresseerinud just süsteemitasandit. Kuna Eesti on väikeriik, siis on analüüsiga võimalik hõlmata kogu avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemi, selle osalisi ja nendevahelisi suhteid.

Väitekiri pakub kontseptuaalse raamistiku, mis demonstreerib detsentraliseeritud koolitussüsteemi võtmeelemente: osalisi, nende rolle ja omavahelisi seoseid, rahastamismudelit, koolituse teemasid ja meetodeid. Väitekiri toob välja mitu õppetundi, millega detsentraliseeritud süsteemides peaks arvestama, ning panustab seega akadeemilisse arutellu ja avaliku teenistuse koolituse alastesse teadmistesse laiemalt.

Väitekirjas on püstitatud järgmised uurimisküsimused:

- Millist rolli täidab avaliku teenistuse koolitus detsentraliseeritud avaliku teenistuse süsteemis?
- Kes on avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemis peamised osalised?
- Millised seosed on osaliste vahel detsentraliseeritud süsteemis?
- Mida saab Eesti juhtumist õppida detsentraliseeritud koolitussüsteemi rolli, disaini ja väljakutsete kohta?

Väitekirja teoreetiline raamistik tugineb personalijuhtimise, koolituse ja arendamise teemalistele uurimustele ning kombineerib neid kolmest avaliku halduse valdkonnast tuleva erialase teadmisega. Esiteks tugineb väitekiri avaliku teenistuse süsteeme kirjeldavatele allikatele, teiseks avaliku sektori organisatsioonide koordineerimist ja võrgustik-struktuure käsitlevale kirjandusele ning kolmandaks on kasutatud avaliku halduse reformide ja majanduskärbete alast kirjandust. Selline kombinatsioon on uudne ning pakub võimaluse avaliku teenistuse koolitusfunktsiooni põhjalikult analüüsida.

Väitekiri koosneb sissejuhatusest ja neljast teaduspublikatsioonist (I; II; III; IV). Esimene artikkel (I) keskendub koolituse koordineerimisele detsentraliseeritud avaliku teenistuse süsteemis. Artikkel uurib võrgustikupõhist koordineerimist, analüüsib keskse koordinaatori võimuallikaid ja arutleb sidususe loomise võimaluste ja piirangute üle võrgustikupõhises koostöös. Teine artikkel (II) analüüsib Eesti avaliku teenistuse tippjuhtide koolitussüsteemi ja selle väljakutseid. Artikkel analüüsib kultuurilisi, poliitilisi ja administratiivseid tegureid, et mõista Eesti avaliku teenistuse tippjuhtide grupi arendamise olemust ja toimimist. Kolmas artikkel (III) keskendub avaliku teenistuse koolitusele majandussurutise ajal. Artiklis antakse ülevaade sellest, kuidas mõjutas majandussurutis Eestis aastatel 2006–2011 avaliku teenistuse koolituse koolitussüsteemi arengule, kujunemisele ja toimimisele. Peatükk toob esile koolituse rolli avaliku teenistuse koolituse süsteemis ja esitab põhjaliku juhtumianalüüsi Eesti avaliku teenistuse koolituse valiku teenistuse koolituse valiku teenistuse koolituse valiku teenistuse valiku teenistuse valiku teenistuse valiku teenistuse valiku teenistuse koolitussüsteemi arengule, kujunemisele ja toimimisele. Peatükk toob esile koolituse rolli avaliku teenistuse koolituse valiku teenistuse koolituse

Uurimisstrateegiaks on valitud juhtumiuuring. Juhtumiuuring on kõige sobivam meetod nähtuse ja selle keskkonna põhjalikuks analüüsimiseks (Yin 2009). Tegemist on kvalitatiivanalüüsiga, kus kvaliteetse tulemuse saamiseks on kombineeritud üksteist täiendavaid ja valideerivaid andmeallikaid. Andmete kogumiseks kasutati

dokumendianalüüsi ja viidi läbi intervjuud. Akadeemilist kirjandust kasutati avaliku teenistuse koolituse olulisuse, rolli ning meetodite selgitamiseks, avaliku teenistuse süsteemide ja koordineerimismehhanismide kirjeldamiseks ning analüüsimaks majandussurutise mõju avaliku teenistuse koolitusele. Lisaks kasutati kõikides teaduspublikatsioonides informatsiooni allikatena Eesti seadusandlust ja teisi valitsuse dokumente, varasemaid uuringuid, statistikat ning teisi koolituse rahastamist kirjeldavaid andmeid. Väitekirjas toetutakse ka rahvusvahelistele empiirilistele analüüsidele. Poolstruktureeritud süvainterviuusid kasutati Eesti avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemi kirjeldamiseks, selle ees seisvate väljakutsete avamiseks, võrgustikupõhise koordineerimise analüüsimiseks ja avaliku teenistuse koolituseelarve kärbete tagamaade avamiseks. Kuna analüüsi keskmes olid avaliku teenistuse koolituse süsteemsed tunnused, oli intervjuude põhieesmärk mõista peamiste süsteemis osalejate rolli ja suhteid. Väitekiri toetub ka Rahandusministeeriumi tellitud uuringule "Eesti avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemi ja arenguvajaduste analüüs" (Sarapuu jt. 2011), mille koostamises osales käesoleva väitekirja autor analüütikuna. Uuringu käigus lahati täienduskoolituse olulisust ja rolli tänapäeva avalikus teenistuses, rahvusvahelist praktikat koolitussüsteemide korraldamisel (viie Euroopa riigi näitel),

Eesti avaliku teenistuse täienduskoolitussüsteemi toimivust avaliku halduse ees seisvate väljakutsete kontekstis ning riigi arengu seisukohalt peamisi avaliku teenistuse koolitamise ja arendamise vajadusi.

Lisaks kõigile eelnimetatud andmeallikatele on väitekiri ainest saanud ka osalusvaatlusest. Väitekirja autor on töötanud Rahandusministeeriumis avaliku teenistuse keskse koolituse programmi spetsialistina ning Majandus- ja Kommunikatsiooniministeeriumis koolituse peaspetsialistina. Lisaks kuulub autor avaliku sektori koolitusjuhte ühendavasse võrgustikku. Töökogemus, tööga seotud vestlused ja muu läbikäimine erinevate osapooltega aitasid mõista, kuidas koolitus on Eesti avalikus teenistuses korraldatud ning kuidas on süsteemi osapooled omavahel seotud.

Avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemi ülesehitus (detsentraliseeritud või tsentraliseeritud) ja selle toimimise põhimõtted on otseselt seotud avaliku teenistuse kui Traditsiooniliselt karjäärisüsteeme terviku ülesehitusega. eristatakse ia positsioonisüsteeme. Neis süsteemides on koolituse roll ja korraldus erinevad. Reeglina on koolitus karjäärisüsteemis tsentraliseeritud, kuna koolitus peab looma eeldused erinevates ametiasutustes töötamiseks. Positsioonisüsteemis on koolitusdetsentraliseeritud, kuid reeglina näeb ka positsioonisüsteemiga riikide korraldus koolitussüsteem ette keskseid elemente, mis lähtuvad avaliku teenistuse kui terviku vajaduste täitmisest, nt on olemas keskne koolitusinstitutsioon, keskne kooliühised koolitustegevused, keskne koolituse rahastamine jms. tusstrateegia, (Sarapuu jt. 2011) Koolitus täidab avalikus teenistuses mitmeid eesmärke. Koolitus toimib motivatsioonimehhanismina, sest see aitab kaasa tööga rahulolu saavutamisele. Ühtlasi loob koolitus võimalusi uutele ametipositsioonidele liikumiseks ja toetab organisatsiooni kui terviku eesmärkide saavutamist. Koolitussüsteemi toimimisel ja selle elementidel on oluline roll ka organisatsiooniliste muutuste läbiviimise toetamisel ja avaliku teenistuse funktsioonide täitmisel.

Eesti juhtumi analüüs näitab, et avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteem on detsentraliseeritud – põhiline vastutus ametnike teadmiste ja oskuste nõuetele vastavuse ja arendamise eest lasub asutustel. Koordineerivaid rolle täidavad süsteemis Rahandusministeerium, Justiitsministeerium ja Riigikantselei. Vastutus koolitussüsteemi keskse koordineerimise eest kuulub Rahandusministeeriumile. Rahandusministeeriumil on oma rolli täitmiseks kasutada järgmised koordineerimismehhanismid: programm "Keskne koolitus"; koostöö koolitus- ja personalijuhtidega; koolitusvaldkonna info kogumine, analüüs ja levitamine; ühtse poliitika ja põhimõtete kujundamine juhendmaterjalide ning personalijuhtimise infokirjade kaudu (I; III; IV). Koolitustegevuse rahastamiseks kasutatakse erinevaid allikaid: ministeeriumide ja ametiasutuste koolituseelarved, Rahandusministeeriumi ja Riigikantselei administreeritud tsentraalsed riigieelarvelised koolitusvahendid ja väiksemas mahus ka välisabi projektidest saadud finantseeringud. Euroopa Liidu struktuurifondide toetus on mitmel moel koolitussüsteemi mõjutanud, sest Rahandusministeeriumi keskse koolituse programmi tehtud kulud ning Riigikantselei tippjuhtide arendamise programmi eelarve tuginevad Euroopa Sotsiaalfondile.

Eesti avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemis puudub keskne koolitusinstitutsioon. Detsentraliseeritud süsteemile sarnaselt on peamine vastutus koolitus- ja arendustegevuste eest delegeeritud asutuse tasandile (I; II; III; IV). See omakorda on mõjutanud koolitusteemasid – asutustes on prioriteetseim ja mahukaim vastava valdkonna erialane koolitus. Sellele järgneb keeleõpe, õigusalased koolitused, suhtlemispsühholoogia ja teised teemad (III). Keskselt on korraldatud koolitusi järgmistel teemadel: sisseelamiskoolitused, eetika, eesti keele õpe, personalitöö koolitused ja poliitikakujundamine (III; IV). Tippjuhtidele on pakutud koolitusi järgmistel teemadel: poliitikakujundamine, poliitikate elluviimine, koordineerimine, avalike teenuste kvaliteet, innovatsioon, eestvedamine, strateegiline juhtimine ning kliendikesksus (II). Koolitusturu roll Eesti detsentraliseeritud avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemis on märkimisväärne. Kuna süsteemis puudub toimiv keskne koolitusinstitutsioon, siis nii üksikud asutused kui ka Rahandusministeerium ja Riigikantselei ostavad koolitusteenust turult (I; II; III; IV). Sisseostetud koolitused on üldjuhul klassiruumi-tüüpi töökohavälised koolitused, mida viib läbi väliskoolitaja. Samal ajal on asutused sageli sunnitud saatma teenistujaid avatud koolitustele, sest konkreetne koolitusvajadus on ühel-kahel inimesel ning spetsiaalselt neile kujundatud tellimine ei ole rahaliselt mõttekas (III). Individuaalset juhtimistreeningut ja mentorlust kasutatakse rohkem tippjuhtide grupis (II).

Eesti süsteemi põhjaliku analüüsi ja olemasoleva rahvusvahelise teadmise süntees võimaldab välja tuua detsentraliseeritud koolituskorralduse olulisemad süsteemitasandi elemendid. Koolitussüsteem moodustub avaliku teenistuse koolituskorralduse osalistest. nende omavahelistest suhetest ja rollidest. Samuti on koolituse rahastamismudel oluline element, sest see mõjutab koolitusmeetodeid, sisu ja koolituskorraldust laiemalt. Detsentraliseeritud avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemis on nende erinevate osapoolte suhted ja rollid määratletud positsioonisüsteemi ja detsentraliseeritud rahastamismudeli kaudu. Olulisemad osalised on ministeeriumid ja ametid ning koolitustegevuste koordineerijatena personaliüksused, mis viivad läbi koolitusvajaduse analüüsi, korraldavad koolitusi ja hindavad koolitustegevuste tõhusust ja mõjusust. Väitekiri näitab, et keskse üksuse institutsionaalne korraldus võib olla väga varieeruv – keskne koolitusinstitutsioon kui koolitus- ja kompetentsikeskus võib koolitussüsteemis eksisteerida, aga võib ka mitte. Selle staatus, roll ja rahastamismudelid varieeruvad. Samuti võib koolitussüsteem toimida ilma keskse avaliku teenistuse koolitusstrateegiata ning tippjuhtide arendamine võib olla tsentraliseeritud. Nende osaliste kõrval on detsentraliseeritud süsteemis oluline roll koolitusturul, mis pakub koolitusi nii ministeeriumitele, ametitele kui ka on partneriks kesksetele institutsioonidele.

Koolitussüsteemi kujunemist ja toimimist mõjutab laiem kontekst. Eesti juhtum näitab, kuidas poliitilis-administratiivse süsteemi muutus toob kaasa struktuursed

muutused ka avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemis (IV). Ühtlasi kujundab ajalooliskultuuriline kontekst väärtuste süsteemi. Eesti avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteem on olnud mõjutatud muutuvatest väärtustest seoses üleminekuga kommunismilt demokraatiale, plaanimajanduselt turumajandusele ning seoses avaliku teenistuse euroopastumisega (Randma-Liiv ja Järvalt 2011). Lisaks on Kesk- ja Ida-Euroopa riigid olnud mõjutatud uue haldusjuhtimise reformiideest, sest riigistruktuure ehitati ajal, mil see oli valitsevaks avaliku halduse lähenemiseks eelkõige Anglo-Ameerikas, aga ka teistes riikides (IV). Koolitussüsteemi toimimist mõjutab ka riigi sotsiaalmajanduslik kontekst. Majanduslikult kehvemal järjel riigid ei saa koolitusse piisavalt panustada ning kasutavad avaliku teenistuse koolituse pakkumiseks välisabi (III; IV). Samal ajal kärbivad ka jõukamad riigid majandussurutise ajal koolituseelarveid (III). Väikeriigi teooria viitab mitmele tunnusele, mis Eesti juhtumi näitel mõjutavad koolitussüsteemi toimimist. Näiteks tugineb Eesti avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteem paljuski mitteformaalsetele struktuuridele (I) ja esinevad olulised väikeriikidele omased turutõrked (Sarapuu jt. 2011). Lisaks eelnimetatutele mõjutavad koolituse korraldust avaliku teenistuse süsteem ja värbamissüsteem.

Eesti juhtumi analüüs viitab mitmele detsentraliseeritud avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemi tugevusele ja nõrkusele ning pakub neist lähtuvalt ka mitu soovitust.

- Ilmneb, et detsentraliseeritud süsteemis on keskne koordineerimine hädavajalik. Vastutus, rollid ja koostöömehhanismid peavad olema erinevate osaliste vahel selgelt defineeritud.
- Keskne koordineerija peab olema varustatud piisavate inim- ja finantsressursside ja instrumentidega.
- Üks koordineerimisinstrument on keskne koolitusinstitutsioon, mis peaks olema kesksele üksusele oluline käepikendus avaliku teenistuse koolituspoliitika elluviimisel ning muuhulgas kesksete koolituste pakkumisel.
- Keskne koolitusstrateegia peab adresseerima avaliku teenistuse arendamise peamisi suundi ja prioriteetseid koolitsteemasid.
- Tihe koostöö võrgustiku-tüüpi vormides kinnistab ühiseid arusaamu ja kokkuleppeid.
- Tippjuhte peab arendama ühtse grupina, et juurutada ühiseid väärtusi.
- Avaliku teenistuse koolitus vajab jätkusuutlikku rahastamismudelit, muuhulgas selleks, et adresseerida avaliku teenistuse üleseid koolitusvajadusi (väärtused, eetika, vastutus jms).
- Arvestades, et detsentraliseeritud süsteemis lasub vastutus koolituse korralduse eest asutuste personaliüksustel, on vajalik, et personali- ja koolitusspetsialistide kompetentsidega tegeldaks ka süsteemi tasandil.

Väitekirjast ilmnevad ka mitmed võimalused edasiseks uurimistööks. Esiteks on jätkuv vajadus uurida konteksti mõju avaliku teenistuse koolituse korraldusele, koolitussüsteemi kujunemisele ja toimimisele. Sellist teadmist pakuks rahvusvaheline koolitussüsteeme võrdlev analüüs. Teiseks viitab väitekiri, et põhjalikumalt on vaja uurida Euroopa Liidu potentsiaalset mõju koolitussüsteemile. Süsteemitasandil väärib uurimist keskse koolitusinstitutsiooni õiguslik vorm, rahastamissüsteem, ülesanded, kompetentsid jm. Avaliku teenistuse koolituse rahastamisallikad ja rahastamissüsteemid võiks olla neljandaks uurimissuunaks, sest väitekiri on näidanud, et rahastus on koolitussüsteemis määrava tähtsusega element, kuid seda ei ole põhjalikult uuritud.

Viimaseks, kuna avaliku teenistuse koolitus on jagatud üldiseks avaliku teenistuse koolituseks ja asutuse põhitegevusega seotud koolituseks, võiks need samuti pakkuda teemasid edasiseks uurimistööks. Koolitustsüklipõhine analüüs nende koolituste kohta võimaldaks avaliku teenistuse koolituse alast teadmist edasi arendada.

Abstract The Role, Design and Challenges of Training in a Decentralized Civil-Service System: The Case of Estonia

The focus of the thesis is on the analysis of civil-service training by exploring the case of Estonia. The thesis addresses the role of training, the design and challenges of training in decentralized civil-service systems. The dissertation analyzes training from a system-level perspective and develops a conceptual framework outlining the key characteristics of decentralized civil-service training arrangements.

Training has been perceived as one of the most important human resource management function. Training aims to ensure that people in the organization acquire and develop the knowledge, skills, and attitudes they need to carry out their work effectively (Salas et al., 2012; Armstrong & Taylor, 2014). However, in the public-sector context, training has been rarely studied in a thorough way. The shortage of civil-service training research is most evident in relation to the systemic perspective on training.

The aim of the thesis is to analyze civil-service training in a systemic perspective. In order to do so, the Estonian civil-service training system and its functioning are analyzed in detail. The analysis of the Estonian case makes it possible to filter out the key characteristics of a decentralized civil-service training system and to develop a conceptual framework for studying civil-service training. The focus is on systemic elements: actors, the roles and relationships between actors, funding as well as civil-service training content and methods. The dissertation contributes to academic discussion on decentralized civil-service training systems and fosters a further understanding of civil-service training. The dissertation helps to fill in a gap in public-management literature. It provides a coherent view of an entire civil-service training system. The Estonian experience can be useful for countries with a decentralized setup of central government and with an open position-based civil-service system.

In order to develop in-depth knowledge on the issue, a single-case study approach has been chosen. The qualitative analysis undertaken combined different data sources and analytical methods to produce a high-quality result. The methods of information gathering involved desk research and interviews. The thesis also relied on the findings of an applied project report commissioned by the Estonian Ministry of Finance, *The Analysis of Civil Service Training System and Development Needs of Estonia* (Sarapuu et al., 2011). The author of this dissertation has also benefitted from her previous work experiences at the Estonian Ministry of Finance as the specialist of the central training program and as a human-resource consultant, and at the Estonian Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications as the head specialist of training. Also, the author is a member of the network of Estonian training managers.

The key characteristics of the decentralized civil-service training systems are brought out based on the analysis. These key characteristics are: the actors, roles and relationships between those actors, the funding model of training, and the content and methods of training. The decentralized civil-service training system is a setup of different actors whose relations are determined by the position-based civil-service system and a decentralized funding scheme. The role and instruments of individual ministries and agencies in a system are clear-cut – the HR unit manages the organization's training budget, decides on the training content and methods, and buys training from the market. Hence, each public-sector organization is responsible for training-needs analysis and the evaluation of training effectiveness. However, the setting around the central coordinating body varies somewhat. A central training institution as a training and competence center may or may not exist, different status and funding schemes are possible. Also, the central civil-service training strategy as a basis for civil-service training may not exist, and the management of the top civil-service development may be centralized. These critical elements of the decentralized civil-service training systems require special attention for understanding and studying civil-service training.

The dissertation demonstrates how the surrounding environment affects the functioning of the system. In order to analyze a civil-service training system, it is important to consider these contextual peculiarities: the political-administrative system, the historical-cultural environment, the socio-economic environment, specific features of small size countries, the influence of the entire civil-service system and the recruitment procedures.

Despite some contextual peculiarities, there are several lessons that can be learned from the Estonian case on the functioning of a decentralized civil-service training system. Firstly, central coordination is vital for a decentralized training system. Secondly, the main goal is to find the optimal balance between centralization and decentralization through increased coordination and efficient instruments. Thirdly, operating central civilservice training institution is an important coordination instrument for a central coordinating body. Fourthly, even a decentralized training system needs sustainable and continuous central funding. Fifthly, the success of training units depends on the professional skills of managers and the knowledge base of HR professionals. The thesis proposes also several avenues for further research.

Publications

Article I

Metsma, **M**. (2017). Network-Based Coordination of Civil Service Training: Lessons from the Case of Estonia. *The NISPAcee Journal of Public Administration and Policy*, *10*(1), 81–98.

Network-Based Coordination of Civil-Service Training: Lessons from the Case of Estonia

Merilin Metsma¹

Abstract

The focus of this article is on the coordination of civil-service training in a decentralized civil-service system. The Estonian case is studied. The article investigates network-based coordination, analyzes the power sources of the central coordinator and discusses the opportunities and limitations of creating coherence through network-type cooperation. The article concludes that the key power sources for the central coordinator are financial, human and technical resources paired with knowledge, leadership and commitment. The case study shows that, in a decentralized civil service system, a common understanding on training and development can be fostered by intense collaboration through networks.

Keywords:

civil service training, coordination, networks, power sources

1. Introduction

Employee training is an important function of human-resource management (HRM). It is relatively well studied in the private-sector context. The public-sector HRM literature on training remains more modest. Although there is a quite considerable body of knowledge available on some spheres of civil-service training – for example, related to the implementation of public-management reforms (e.g. Mc-Court and Sola 1999; Wise 2002; Kroll and Moynihan 2015; Lucking 2003; Witesman and Wise 2012), the substance of training programs (e.g. Lavtar 2008; Vukovic et al. 2008; Van Wart et al. 2015) or the fate of training budgets during cutbacks

¹ PhD student, Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance, Tallinn University of Technology, Tallinn, Estonia. Head Specialist, Human Resources Department, the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications of the Republic of Estonia.

(Cayer 1986; Maor 2000; Felstead et al. 2012; Lodge and Hood 2012; Metsma 2014) – the specifics of training in the public-sector context are still not well addressed.

The lack of research is most evident in relation to the systemic perspective in training. While private-sector HRM is mostly concerned with the functioning of single organizations, public-sector organizations constitute elements of larger systems. The smooth functioning of the public sector as a whole is important, although the nature and tasks of the organizations it comprises are very diverse. Such a systemic perspective has become even more important after the overwhelming New Public Management reforms in the West (Pollitt and Bouckaert 2011) and post-communist reforms in Central and Eastern Europe (Bouckaert et al. 2008) that challenged the underlying principles and values of the administrative systems.

The core issues raised by the public-management reforms address the balance between centralization and decentralization, fragmentation of the public sector and its capacity to act in a coordinated way, both in terms of public policies and coherent functioning of the civil service. Due to private-sector-inspired reforms governments are no longer as single employers and have led to the delegation of different HRM decisions to the level of individual organizations (Lægreid and Wise 2015). Although such decentralized HRM systems are more flexible and adaptive to organizations' needs, they are also more unstable and poorer in securing unity, common values and shared culture in the civil service (Coggburn 2005). In this context, the role and levers of central agencies in coordinating the civil-service systems have emerged as a key question of public-sector HRM, among other topics also in the field of civil-service training that is a crucial means for achieving shared values and culture (Tõnnisson and Paabusk 2005).

While in a centralized system, the central coordinator has strong, hierarchical instruments to steer the civil-service training, a coordinating unit in a decentralized training system (if it exists at all) must rely on more horizontal instruments and network-based collaboration with other public-sector organizations. Indeed, recent years have seen the rise of network structures and network-based governance (Lew-is 2011). Network-based coordination has its unique logic of management with its strengths and weaknesses. The central concern of network-based coordination is related to the type of power sources that the central unit can use to foster coherence in a decentralized system. However, very little is known on the possibility to apply such a network and power perspective to the coordination of civil service, in general, and to the functioning of civil-service training, in particular.

Therefore, the goal of the article is to study the possibilities of a coordinated approach in civil-service training within a decentralized system. The case of the Estonian civil-service training system is analyzed. A few studies have dealt with the Estonian civil-service training system before. Tonnisson and Paabusk (2005) have presented pros and cons of a decentralized training system based on the Estonian case and analyzed its impact on establishing shared knowledge. Randma-Liiv et al. (2013) have focused on structure, evolution and functioning of the civil-service training system. Metsma (2014) has analyzed the impact of cutback management on civil-service training. Sarapuu et al. (2015) have discussed the functioning and challenges of the system established to develop top-level civil servants in Estonia. This article goes more in depth and concentrates on the possibilities of the Ministry of Finance as the central coordinator to create unity in a civil-service system in which the responsibility and management autonomy for training is delegated to individual ministries and agencies. The empirical discussion draws on studying the Ministry's cooperation with the network of public-sector training managers. Cooperation with the network is a key coordination instrument for the Ministry. The leading research questions of the article are: first, what are the power sources of the Ministry of Finance in coordinating the decentralized civil-service training system? Second, what are the possibilities and limitations for fostering coherence of civil-service training through cooperation with the network of public-sector training managers? Based on the analysis, generalized observations and lessons for the civil-service training discourse are drawn.

The analytical framework of the article combines three branches of literature – the knowledge on civil-service training, the theoretical discussion on coordination and the theory on the power sources in governance networks. The synthesis of these different branches of academic discussion allows the analysis of civil-service training from a systemic perspective. The empirical analysis is based on desk research (the analysis of previous studies, public documents and other secondary sources) and in-depth interviews with Estonian civil servants. Interview respondents included three training managers and an advisor working for the coordinating unit while the network of training managers' network was established (coordination function was in the Government Office at that time). Semi-structured interviews were carried out from November to December 2016. The respondents were asked about the goals, decision-making, history, strengths and weaknesses of the network. The use of semi-structured interviews allowed respondents to elaborate on their understanding and experience of the network and its functioning.

The article starts with a theoretical overview, which sheds light on civil-service training systems and coordination. The theoretical framework is followed by the presentation of the case study of the Estonian civil-service training system, with focuses on the role and power sources of the Ministry of Finance and its cooperation with the network of training managers in coordinating the system. The paper ends with a discussion and conclusions.

2. Theoretical framework

2.1 Civil service training system

Training is a planned and systematic effort to modify or develop knowledge, skills and attitudes through learning experiences, to achieve effective performance in an activity or a range of activities (Garavan 1997). Civil-service training can be divided into pre-service and in-service training (Lavtar 2008). Pre-service training is related to the education acquired before entering the civil service. In-service training is received once in the service. In this paper the focus is on in-service training. In general terms, in-service training is designed to acquire and/or update the specific skills which are necessary to efficiently fulfill a specific function within the public service (Freibert 1998, 30). Training is an instrument to ensure that knowledge and values are kept up to date (Lucking 2003).

The content and management of civil service training is closely related to the characteristics of civil-service systems. There are two main types of civil-service systems – the career system and the position-based system (Bossaert et al. 2001). A career-based approach requires a more centralized training system (Lavtar 2008) because training is a mandatory element and a prerequisite for career development. In a position-based system, the organization of training is more decentralized, and in most cases, individual ministries and agencies carry the main responsibility for training their civil servants (Bossaert et al. 2001; Lucking 2003). In practice, the civil-service systems are usually hybrids of the two ideal types but can be linked more to one or the other of the types according to their characteristics.

In terms of function, Randma-Liiv et al. (2013) have divided the in-service training into three levels: the individual level, the positional/organizational level and the level of the civil service as a whole. First, training on the individual level provides civil servants with opportunities to move to new positions and develop their careers through developing their skills and competencies (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). The opportunity to participate in this kind of training events is especially important in countries with position-based systems, where the posts are open to external recruitment and training is not a determinative element in the system. Employees recruited from the private sector may lack some knowledge and skills necessary to make a career in the public sector, but high-quality training can compensate this deficit (Op de Beeck and Hondeghem 2010). Second, on the positional/organizational level, training is related to the implementation of tasks and focuses on developing skills and competencies necessary for fulfilling the objectives of a particular organization (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). Training on this level is especially important when a country is going through a reform or is facing other challenges that require organizational change (Farazmand 2009). Finally, on the system level, the role of training is more value-based. In this regard, the main role of the civil service is to attract and retain a high-quality and high-performing workforce, to raise civil servants' awareness of their role and responsibility and to support the development of shared values and knowledge in the civil service. Homogenous training is required on these occasions (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). The focus of this article is mainly on the system level.

2.2 Coordination of civil service training

Civil-service training policy is usually designed in the nexus of the central coordinator, individual public organizations and the central training institution. First, the central coordinator is responsible for the development and training of civil servants on the policy-making level (Trendafilova 2008). It is a central coordinating body for the entire civil-service human-resource management. Second, the responsibility for civil-service training has increasingly been delegated to individual public-sector agencies for organizing training activities specifically tailored for the needs of the organizations. Third, a central civil-service training institution (Lucking 2003) gets input for its activities from the central coordinator for developing, organizing or delivering training. A central training institution may be part of the hierarchical structure of central government or belong to the central coordinating unit's governing area (OECD 1997; Bossaert et al. 2001).

The roles and relationships between those actors are influenced by the characteristics of civil-service systems. A decentralized setup of civil service, where the making and implementation of training policy are dispersed between many actors, requires careful horizontal coordination in order to balance out the shortages of the system. Coordination – "the alignment of tasks and efforts of multiple units in order to achieve a defined goal" – can be induced, sustained and nurtured by a central coordinating organization (Verhoest et al. 2005, 4). In the civil-service training context it means advancing a common understanding of civil-service culture, values and ethics. Improved coordination in the civil-service training system contributes to improvements in efficiency, costs savings, avoiding oversupplies, overlaps, reducing gaps and spreading nation-wide standards, while retaining the benefits of decentralized decision-making and implementation (Lucking 2003). Therefore, the role of a central coordinator in a decentralized civil-service training system is to develop coherence in the system.

The task of creating coherence in this mix of objectives and actors is a tricky one. The central coordinator's ability to ensure it depends on available coordination instruments and its power sources. One option is advancing coordination through an intra-governmental network. The central coordinator and other members in such a network are connected through both the network itself and the wider government system. The level of influence that the central coordinator has within a network depends on the "power structure" of the network and the coordinator's "power sources". Power structure describes how different actors occupy different roles in networks and how their opinions carry weight in the decision-making process (Agranoff 2006). The power sources can be divided into two: formal power sources and informal power sources. The formal power sources are based on:

- legally derived authority e.g. legal authority (Agranoff and McGuire 2001), legitimacy (Purdy 2012), legal mandate (McGuire 2006; Cristofoli and Markovic 2016; Keast and Mandell 2013) and hierarchy (Metcalfe and Lapenta 2012);
- access to different resources e.g. financial, human, technological etc. (McGuire 2006).

The informal power sources are based on:

- knowledge, information and expertise (Agranoff 2006; Heritier and Lehmkuhl 2008; Røiseland 2011; Metcalfe and Lapenta 2012; Purdy 2012);
- leadership (McGuire 2006; Røiseland 2011);
- commitment to the network (Agranoff 2006; Røiseland 2011);
- prestige and government affiliation (Agranoff 2006).

These power sources have a function – they help to get things done in a network setting. Power can be used to improve the joint action or to empower others to participate more effectively (Purdy 2012). Furthermore, power both prevents and facilitates action: it can exclude actors, ban points of view and close off potential actors outside of the network. Some authors have marked power dimensions as power over, power to and power for (Agranoff 2006; Purdy 2012) which also describe the different roles that the participants can have in networks. "Power to" means the ability to get things done. The "power over" refers to a direct relation of subordination. From the "power for" dimension, authority can be used to sanction the participation of stakeholders who might otherwise be marginalized. These roles can be formal and informal and are important in explaining the distribution of power and the different sources of power (Røiseland 2011). For example, resources affect how well-informed or expert the participants are because information and knowledge resources are needed to comprehend and analyze issues (Purdy 2012).

A combination of theoretical knowledge on civil-service training, coordination and networks offers an analytical framework to study the coordination of civil service in general and the functioning of civil-service training in particular. The case study below looks in depth at the Estonian civil-service training system, with a focus on the role and power sources of the Ministry of Finance in coordinating civil-service training and the network of training managers, in order to shed light on the possibilities to foster coordination through network-type cooperation.

3. Coordination of training in the Estonian civil service

3.1 The Estonian civil service training system

Estonia is a small country with an area of 45,227 km² and a population of 1.29 million. The Estonian public sector employs a total of 135,300 people. The open, position-based civil-service system makes up only a small part of the entire public-sector workforce and covers the people working for the ministries, government agencies, local-government institutions and a few other state institutions – that is, the people at the core of the public sector. In 2015, there were 29,113 people working in the civil service (Rahandusministeerium 2016).

The Ministry of Finance is the central coordinating body of HRM issues and has the most important role in holding the civil-service system together, steering its development and guaranteeing coherence (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). The line ministries form strong administrative actors that have considerable leverage over the issues belonging to their area of governance, including HRM (Sarapuu 2011). Until 2015, the Centre for Public Service Training and Development operated under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Interior. According to its statute, the Centre was supposed to function as a central training institution. However, in practice, the Centre operated, and continues to operate, as any other company in the training market. The development of civil-service top executives is somewhat autonomous from the rest of the training system - the Top Civil Service Excellence Centre as a structural unit of the Government Office is responsible for the recruitment, selection and development of top executives (see Sarapuu et al. 2015). As the study of top public managers in Europe demonstrates, in a large number of European Union member states a movement towards a special status and special conditions for top public managers is seen (Kuperus and Rode 2016). However, this article examines the general civil-service training and will not focus on top executives, as their training and development has been thoroughly analyzed already (e.g. Sarapuu et al. 2015; Randma-Liiv et al. 2015).

Previous studies have pointed at several deficits of the civil-service training system. The management of training is fragmented, cooperation between different actors is irregular, and the quality of training depends on the competences of the agency purchasing the training (Randma-Liiv et al. 2011). In 2013, the Ministry of Finance published The Green Paper on the Personnel Policy of the State as an Employer that mapped the existing situation, problems and policy options in personnel policy, including civil-service training. In 2014, the White Paper on the Personnel Policy of the State as an Employer was published, which was the first comprehensive HRM document, and, among other things, addressed civil-service training. However, as of 2017, the principles of the White Paper have not been implemented. Estonia has not one but many civil-service systems, as each ministry has developed its own approach to personnel management (Meyer-Sahling 2009). This has result-

ed in a wide variety of training and development policies and practices across the public service that is likely to lead to very different professional knowledge, skills and values of public servants (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). The decentralized nature of the system is well apparent when analyzing the division of civil-service training expenses – in 2015, only 3.8% of them were made by the Ministry of Finance on the central training program, 4.2% by the Government Office on the top civil servants development program, and altogether 92% of civil-service training expenses were carried by single central and local government institutions (Rahandusministeerium 2016). Consequently, Estonia is an excellent case to study coordination in the context of an open decentralized civil service. Indeed, according to Meyer and Hammerschmid (2010), who compared HRM practices in Europe, Estonia has one of the most decentralized organizations of public-sector HRM.

3.2 The role and power sources of the Ministry of Finance in coordinating civil-service training

The Ministry of Finance's legal mandate derives from the Civil Service Act, which declares that the Ministry steers the development of civil service in Estonia. The Act also provides for a decentralized organization of training and an individual responsibility for competence. An official is required to replenish his or her professional knowledge and skills for the competent performance of functions, and the immediate or higher supervisor decides on the need for an official to participate in the training (Civil Service Act, § 31). The Statutes of the Ministry of Finance state that the Public Administration and Public Service Department within the Ministry develops policy, prepares draft legislation and coordinates the activity of state authorities in the area of the organization of public administration, the development of public service, personnel relations and official statistics. With regard to civil-service training, the Ministry has defined its mission as creating an environment and conditions that support systematic and effective training in public-sector organizations in order to guarantee professional knowledge, skills and values of public servants.²

Regardless of the legal mandate, the Ministry has limited authority and instruments to coordinate civil-service training in Estonia. The instruments that it has are mainly based on informal power sources. First, the Ministry can steer the system by designing and steering common policies and principles. As the principles of the White Paper have not been implemented yet and there is also no common training strategy in the civil service, this instrument has been largely underemployed. Nevertheless, throughout the years a few instructional materials have been centrally produced to support training managers in their work and to create common principles, e.g. a handbook of the training manager and the best practice of training and development. One adviser in the Public Administration and Public Service Department is responsible for the overall coordination of civil-

² Civil Service Website http://www.avalikteenistus.ee/?id=10660.

service training: developing training principles, producing training materials and conducting surveys, analyzing legislation, planning the central training program, organizing training and development events outside the central training program, collecting data, cooperating with the network of training managers and ensuring the availability of training information.

Second, coordination through gathering, analyzing and circulating training information is a possibility. The Ministry of Finance annually gathers general statistics about training activities in individual public-sector organizations and disseminates it through publications, seminars, information days and the central web of civil service. The statistics are gathered through a common enterprise resourceplanning system, and manually, as well, since not all institutions use the system. The Ministry also occasionally conducts surveys and studies. Gathered information is expected to be used for the development of the training system and for systematically evaluating training needs and the effectiveness of training activities. However, the analysis of training needs and the effectiveness in the civil service as a whole has been rather modest and irregular due to limited resources.

A third possibility is coordination through planning and implementation of central training activities. The Ministry of Finance administers the central training program by contracting specific horizontal training activities out to the external providers, for example training on civil-service values and ethics, Estonian language, policy-making skills and human-resource management skills. The central training program can be seen as a basis for creating common practices, knowledge, skills and values across the civil service. For the implementation of the central training program, financial resources of the European Social Fund are used: 85 % of the total funding comes from the European Union and 15 % from the Estonian state budget. In 2015, the budget of the central training program was 291,000 Euros, and the target group was approximately 118,400 public servants (Rahandusministeerium 2016). The impact of the central training program is rather moderate due to very limited funding, which allows to reach only a small share of the target groups.

Last but not least, the Ministry can foster coordination by cooperating with the network of public-sector training managers. The next subsection will focus on this coordination instrument more in detail as it is a lever that supports the implementation of all the other coordination activities. All in all, the Ministry of Finance's sources of power in coordinating the Estonian civil-service training system can be summarized as seen in Table 1. The coordination instruments used by the Ministry have been limited in many cases to technical operation without strategic policy design. It becomes apparent also in the use the resources of the European Social Fund for planning and implementing central training activities. At the same time, the Ministry has relevant resources for more strategic activities, such as information (incl. statistics), expertise to analyze this information and channels for spreading the results (e.g. the central web page of civil service). However, the lack of human resources limits the Ministry's coordination ability.

Table	1
-------	---

The Ministry of Finance's (MoF) power sources in coordinating the civil-service training

	MoF power source	Power source's function in a network setting	MoF instruments for fostering coherence
Formal power sources	Legal mandate	Right to make decisions and to require information	Designing common training policies and principles; gathering and analyzing training information
	Access to different resources (financial, technological and human)	Ability to get things done	Human resource for coordination activities; financial resource to provide central civil-service training program; financial and technical resource to support the functioning of the network
Informal power sources	Knowledge, information and expertise	Ability to comprehend and analyze issues	Sharing available information and best practices within the system, employing information for planning coordination activities; finding common training needs and analyzing training effectiveness
	Leadership	Ability to bind actors together	Attracting the training managers' interest in systemic issues; binding the training managers into a common information sphere; introducing common policies and principles
	Commitment to the network	Ability to bind actors together	Contributing actively to the functioning of the network of training managers
	Government affiliation and prestige	Sending a message that this network is important, hence improving joint action	Raising the prestige of the network of training managers by active participation and by engaging the network into training policy-making

Source: author's compilation; based on Agranoff and McGuire (2001), Agranoff (2006), McGuire (2006), Heritier and Lehmkuhl (2008), Randma-Liiv et al. (2011), Røiseland (2011), Purdy (2012), Metcalfe and Lapenta (2012), Keast and Mandell (2013), Randma-Liiv et al. (2013), Cristofoli and Markovic (2016).

3.3 Cooperation with the network of training managers

In all of the coordinating activities listed above, the Ministry of Finance cooperates with the network of public-sector training managers. The network was first initiated by 23 training managers in 2001. Push for cooperation derived from the National Audit Office's critical evaluation of the quality of civil-service training. The training managers decided to start meeting regularly to discuss mutual problems, as they lacked knowledge and experience on how to develop and operate training systems on an organizational level. The central coordinator (the Government Office at that time) encouraged the cooperation. The intention was to form an informal and flexible body of professionals whom to consult and involve in policy-making. The central coordinator also hoped that network members would then develop their training systems according to similar principles. Another deliberate decision was to make participation in the network voluntary.

The network is composed of training managers from the public-sector organizations, mostly ministries and government agencies. Written principles of the network state that only a person whose main tasks are related to the development and training of public-sector personnel can participate in the network. In 2017, it had 60 members, among them also four officials from the Ministry of Finance. The network aims to contribute to the awareness of the principles of lifelong learning, support organizations in developing their training systems, develop the professional skills and knowledge of the network members, submit proposals for adult training and development legislation and the preparation of instructional materials and participate in the development of professional standards for training managers. The Ministry of Finance has involved network members in the development of personnel and payroll accounting systems. Also, network members have organized study trips abroad and joint study visits to various public-sector institutions and private-sector companies.

The network's activities are managed and coordinated by an elected board, comprising three members. Elections are held every two years. To ensure continuity, a new board comprises one member from the previous board. All decisions in the network are made by consensus or by majority voting. In order to induce the participants' commitment, meetings rotate monthly among the network members' organizations. Through the years, the network's activities have been supported financially by the central coordinator. Furthermore, the network has used the Ministry's web platform to store materials and a mailing list to share information.

By 2017, the training managers' network has formed into an entity with a clear structure and clear operating rules. In most of its characteristics it resembles a cooperative network. Keast and Mandell (2013) have defined cooperative networks as informal, voluntary based and initiated for information-sharing. In contrast to Keast and Mandell's description of cooperative networks, the training managers' network is not a short-term entity, and the participants do share common goals. From a managerial point of view it resembles a shared-governance/participant-governed type of network (Provan and Kenis 2008) – it is governed completely by the members that make up the network, decision-making in the network is decentralized, goal consensus is high, and cooperation is based on the training managers' own initiative. Indeed, the interviews revealed that network members highly value eye-to-eye meetings and have a strong sense of belonging whilst being a member.

The representative of the central coordinator has encouraged the cooperation by using its central position but has not deliberately taken a leading role. Nevertheless, there are some elements of a lead-organization model (Provan and Kenis 2008) in operation - the Ministry of Finance has important resources and an important function in the network. Its financial and technical support has enabled the network's existence. The central coordinator has successfully made use of its position and leadership skills and has bound training managers together into a network. Its participation, leadership, commitment to the network and prestige has attracted new members and has supported the network's sustainability through the years. The central coordinator has information, knowledge and expertise about training policy developments and new initiatives. This was especially important in the early years when the network started its activities. The interviews revealed that the central coordinator's mere participation in the network already improves joint action. Members value the network due to the Ministry of Finance's participation. During the interview it was even stated that the central coordinator's participation is an indication of necessity and topicality of the network.

The network provides a valuable communication mechanism for the publicservice training managers. The participating training managers have come to know each other through joint activities that have facilitated the sharing of training information and best practices. It has also served as a communication channel between individual public organizations and the Ministry of Finance. Study trips abroad have widened the training managers' knowledge on international experience. Also, mutual training events have supported the development of professional skills and knowledge of the network members. As for the issues covered in the network, interviews revealed that now that the training systems have institutionalized, it is vital to find new and interesting topics for the network as a whole, especially for old members. There have been occasions of members leaving because the network does not offer anything new. Similarly, being an active member can be rather time-consuming and may affect the decision to participate. During the course of its existence, there have been frequent discussions over the size of the network, the principles of inclusion and exclusion, cooperation with other institutions etc. However, the interviewees said that managing a growing network is challenging. The study revealed that when the network got bigger and personal contacts among network members declined, trust also declined.

4. Discussion

In a decentralized system, network-based coordination offers many opportunities for the central coordinator to foster coherence. In the case of the Estonian civilservice training, the central coordinator can make practical use of the network of training managers in two ways. First, the network serves as an institutionalized communication channel between individual public organizations and the central coordinator. The central coordinator can disseminate and receive information from the network. Second, the network is a body to consult with. Consultation is equally important to the central coordinator and to training managers, who value the opportunity to have a say, as they are the ones who implement the training policy. Participation in decision-making is also likely to increase the ownership of individual training managers and thus facilitate the implementation of central guidelines. Sharing information and involving training managers helps to ensure that they understand the training principles similarly.

In addition to these two main functions, there are other reasons for a central coordinator to be interested in the continuation of this type of professional network. The mere existence of the network is expected to support the creation of coherence in civil-service training. The network brings otherwise autonomous organizations together into a common sphere of information and knowledge. Collaboration in this format offers an opportunity to interact with colleagues from other organizations, create personal contacts, learn from the experience of others and find common solutions – all of this supports organizations in improving their training systems. Also, cooperation and different activities in the network develop the members' professional skills and knowledge.

Collaboration through the training managers' network offers opportunities, but it also has numerous limitations for fostering the coherence of civil-service training. First, not all training managers participate in the network activities, which makes its impact rather uneven (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). For the same reason, the training managers' network cannot be the one and only advisory body for the central coordinator. The central coordinator must make an extra effort to include those who are outside the network. Second, the training managers' network is a soft coordination instrument, and its impact on civil-service training can be relatively vague and unpredictable because participating organizations remain autonomous in human-resource management decisions. Organizations maintain their independence, and neither the central coordinator nor the network carries legal powers to make individual institutions bound to recommendations made or ideas spread in the network. Third, since the network's activities are based on the members' initiative, its sustainability and content depends on the members' time and commitment. Here lies a challenge for the central coordinator - how to contribute to the better functioning of the network? The Estonian case shows that the central coordinator should provide relevant and topical content for the network's activities. After most of the institutions had built up their training systems, the central coordinator diminished its role as the content provider. However, new challenges could derive from the changing environment (e.g. new training methods) and the training managers' role (e.g. how to become a strategic partner to the management). Fourth, the central coordinator is expected to devote resources to supporting the structures that enable the existence of the network, e.g. manage the mailing list and website, support financially and ensure that the statute is up to date.

Altogether, a combination of hard and soft coordination instruments could serve well to attain coherence of civil-service training in a decentralized system. The assumption is that the coordinating unit is equipped with sufficient formal and informal power sources in order to perform a harmonizing function in the system. Importantly, coordinating activities presuming legal mandate and authority can be enforced and supported by softer collaboration-based instruments. To enforce common training principles, collect statistics or conduct surveys, the central coordinator can rely on network-type cooperation.

5. Conclusion

In a decentralized civil-service system, where there are no comprehensive centrally imposed obligatory measures for ensuring the coherence of civil-service training, a common understanding of training and development policies and practices can be expanded by intense collaboration through networks. Collaboration is likely to serve equally well both the central coordinator who can spread relevant information and collect input and individual organizations that can participate in policy design and get to know each other through joint activities which facilitate the sharing of training information, best practices and values. However, in order to achieve a desired effect, the central coordinator must have sufficient financial, human and technical resources paired with knowledge, leadership and commitment to the issue. As formal power sources as well as strong top down instruments are limited in a decentralized system, the central coordinator must make active use of its informal power sources. The establishment, developing and retaining civil-service-wide networks, proves to be a good opportunity to strengthen the informal power sources of the central coordinator.

Acknowledgment

The study was supported by the Estonian Research Council grant PUT1461.

References

- Agranoff, Robert. 2006. "Inside Collaborative Networks: Ten Lessons for Public Managers." *Public Administration Review* 66, 56–65.
- Agranoff, Robert and Michael McGuire. 2001. "Big Questions in Public Network Management Research." *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 11(3), 295–326.
- Bossaert, Danielle, Christoph Demmke, Koen Nomden, Robert Polet and Astrid Auer. 2001. *Civil Services in the Europe of Fifteen*. Maastricht: European Institute of Public Administration.

- Bouckaert, Geert, Juraj Nemec, Nakrošis Vitalis, György Hajnal and Tõnnisson Kristiina. 2008. *Public Management Reforms in Central and Eastern Europe*. Bratislava: NISPAcee Press.
- Cayer, N. Joseph. 1986. "Management Implications of Reduction in Force." *Public Administration Quarterly* 10(1), 36–49.
- Civil Service Act. Available at https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/515122016001/ consolide (last accessed 21 March 2017).
- Civil Service Website. Available at http://www.avalikteenistus.ee/?id=10660 (last accessed 21 March 2017).
- Coggburn, Jerrell D. 2005. "The Benefits of Human Resource Centralization: Insights from a Survey of Human Resource Directors in a Decentralized State." *Public Administration Review* 65(4), 424–435.
- Cristofoli, Daniela and Josip Markovic. 2016. "How to Make Public Networks Really Work: A Qualitative Comparative Analysis." *Public Administration* 94(1), 89–110.
- Farazmand, Ali. 2009. "Building Administrative Capacity for the Age of Rapid Globalization: A Modest Prescription for the Twenty-First Century." *Public Administration Review* 69(6), 1007–1020.
- Felstead, Alan, Francis Green and Nick Jewson. 2012. "Training during the Recession." *Work, Employment and Society* 26(6), 968–986.
- Freibert, Anke. 1998. "The Challenges of Training the Public Service During Transition and in an Unstable Environment." In Jak Jabes and Marie Christine Meininger (eds). La Formation dans la Fonction Publique: Enjeux et Perspectives [Civil Service Training: Challenges and Prospects]. Slovakia: NISPAcee Press, 28–33.
- Garavan, Thomas N. 1997. "Training, Development, Education and Learning: Different or the Same." *Journal of European Industrial Training* 21(2), 39–50.
- Heritier, Adrienne and Dirk Lehmkuhl. 2008. "The Shadow of Hierarchy and New Modes of Governance." *Journal of Public Policy* 28(1), 1–17.
- Keast, Robyn and Myrna P. Mandell. 2013. "Network Performance: A Complex Interplay of Form and Action." *International Review of Public Administration* 18(2), 27–45.
- Kroll, Alexander and Donald P. Moynihan. 2015. "Does Training Matter? Evidence from Performance Management Reforms." *Public Administration Review* 75(3), 411–420.

- Kuperus, Herma and Anita Rode. 2016. "Top Public Managers in Europe: Management and Employment in Central Public Administrations." Document prepared for the Ministry of the Interior and Kingdom Relations of the Netherlands. The Hague, December 2016.
- Lægreid, Per and Lois R. Wise. 2015. "Transitions in Civil Service Systems: Robustness and Flexibility in Human Resource Management." In Jos C. N. Raadschelders, Theo A. J. Toonen, and Frits M. Van der Meer (eds). Comparative Civil Service Systems in the 21st Century. 2nd edn. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan UK, 203–222.
- Lavtar, Roma. 2008. "Tacit Knowledge and In-Service Training of Civil Servants." *Uprava, letnik* 6(4), 63–76.
- Lewis, Jenny M. 2011. "The Future of Network Governance Research: Strength in Diversity and Synthesis." *Public Administration* 89(4), 1221–1234.
- Lodge, Martin and Christopher Hood. 2012. "Into an Age of Multiple Austerities? Public Management and Public Service Bargains across OECD Countries." *Governance* 25(1), 79–101.
- Lucking, Richard. 2003. Lessons on Best Practice in the Approach to Civil Service Training. Civil Service Training in the Context of Public Administration Reform: A Comparative Study of Selected Countries from Central and Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union (1989 to 2003). Available at http://unpan1. un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/untc/unpan013648.pdf (last accessed 25 March 2017).
- McCourt, Willy and Nazar Sola. 1999. "Using Training to Promote Civil Service Reform: A Tanzanian Local Government Case Study." *Public Administration and Development* 19, 63–75.
- McGuire, Michael. 2006. "Collaborative Public Management: Assessing What We Know and How We Know It." *Public Administration Review* 66(1), 33–43.
- Maor, Moshe. 2000. "A Comparative Perspective on Executive Development: Trends in 11 European Countries." *Public Administration* 78(1), 135–152.
- Metcalfe, Les and Antonio Lapenta. 2012. "Partnerships as Strategic Choices in Public Management." *Journal of Management & Governance* 18(1), 51–76.
- Metsma, Merilin. 2014. "The Impact of Cutback Management on Civil-Service Training: The Case of Estonia." *Administrative Culture* 15(1), 58–79.
- Meyer, Renate E. and Gerhard Hammerschmid. 2010. "The Degree of Decentralization and Individual Decision Making in Central Government Human Resource Management: A European Comparative Perspective." *Public Administration* 88(2), 455–478.

- Meyer-Sahling, Jan-Hinrik. 2009. "Sustainability of Civil Service Reforms in Central and Eastern Europe Five Years After EU Accession." *Sigma Paper* 44. Paris: OECD.
- OECD. 1997. "Country Profiles of Civil Service Training Systems." *Sigma Papers* 12. Available at http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocum entpdf/?cote=OCDE/GD(97)122&docLanguage=En (last accessed 25 March 2017).
- Op de Beeck, Sophie and Annie Hondeghem. 2010. "Managing Competencies in Government: State of the Art Practices and Issues at Stake for the Future." *GOV/PGC/PEM(2010)1*. Paris: OECD.
- Pollitt, Christopher and Geert Bouckaert. 2011. Public Management Reform: A Comparative Analysis: New Public Management, Governance, and the Neo-Weberian State. 3rd edn. New York: Oxford University Press Inc.
- Provan, Keith G. and Patrick Kenis. 2008. "Modes of Network Governance: Structure, Management, and Effectiveness." *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 18(2), 229–252.
- Purdy, Jill M. 2012. "A Framework for Assessing Power in Collaborative Governance Processes." *Public Administration Review* 72(3), 409–417.
- Rahandusministeerium. 2016. *Avaliku teenistuse 2015: Aasta aruanne* [Public Service Yearbook 2015]. Tallinn: Rahandusministeerium. Available at http://www.avalikteenistus.ee/public/Avaliku_teenistuse_aruanne_2015_koond. pdf (last accessed 21 March 2017).
- Randma-Liiv, Tiina, Külli Sarapuu, Annika Uudelepp and Merilin Metsma. 2011. "Avaliku teenistuse koolitussüsteemi ja arenguvajaduste analüüs" [The Analysis of Civil Service Training System and Development Needs of Estonia]. Available at http://www.avalikteenistus.ee/public/Jurgen/ATKOS.pdf (last accessed 25 March 2017).
- Randma-Liiv, Tiina, Merilin Metsma and Külli Sarapuu. 2013. "Between Continuity and Change: The Analysis of the Estonian Civil Service Training System." In Mirko Vintar, Allan Rosenbaum, Gyorgy Jenei and Wolfgang Drechsler (eds). *The Past, Present and the Future of Public Administration in Central and Eastern Europe*. Bratislava: NISPAcee Press, 195–218.
- Randma-Liiv, Tiina, Annika Uudelepp and Külli Sarapuu. 2015. "From Network to Hierarchy: The Evolution of the Estonian Senior Civil Service Development System." *International Review of Administrative Sciences* 81(2), 373–391.
- Røiseland, Asbjørn. 2011. "Understanding Local Governance: Institutional Forms of Collaboration." *Public Administration* 89(3), 879–893.

- Sarapuu, Külli. 2011. "Post-Communist Development of Administrative Structure in Estonia: From Fragmentation to Segmentation." *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences* 35(4), 54–73.
- Sarapuu, Külli, Merilin Metsma, Tiina Randma-Liiv and Annika Uudelepp. 2015. "Estonia." In Montgomery Van Wart, Annie Hondeghem and Erwin Schwella (eds). Leadership and Culture: Comparative Models of Top Civil Servant Training. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 73–88.
- Statutes of the Ministry of Finance. Available at https://www.riigiteataja.ee/ akt/110072015002 (last accessed 25 March 2017).
- Trendafilova, Tatjana. 2008. "Managing the Civil Service: Roles, Mechanisms and Capacities." *Central Capacity and Line Ministries*. Seminar on Building a Professional Civil Service, 26–27 June, Pristina, Kosovo.
- Tonnisson, Kristiina, and Kaido Paabusk. 2005. "Securing Common Knowledge and Values in Decentralized Public Service. The Case of Estonia." In György Jenei, Alexei Barabashev and Frits van den Berg (eds). *Institutional Requirements and Problem Solving in the Public Administrations of the Enlarged European Union and its Neighbours.* Bratislava: NISPAcee, 262–278.
- Van Wart, Montgomery, Annie Hondeghem and Erwin Schwella. 2015. *Leadership and Culture: Comparative Models of Top Civil Servant Training.* Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Verhoest, Koen, Guy Peters, Eva Beuselinck, Falke Meyers and Geert Bouckaert. 2005. "How Coordination and Control of Public Organizations by Government Interrelate: An Analytical and Empirical Exploration." Paper presented at the conference SCANCOR/SOG, 1–2 April, Standford University.
- Vukovic, Goran, Bruno Zavrsnik, Blaz Rodic and Gozdana Miglic. 2008. "The Training of Civil Servants in the Slovene State Administration: Issues in Introducing Training Evaluation." *International Review of Administrative Sciences* 74(4), 653–676.
- Wise, Lois Recascino. 2002. "Public Management Reform: Competing Drivers of Change." *Public Administration Review* 62(5), 555–567.
- Witesman, Eva M. and Charles R. Wise. 2012. "The Reformer's Spirit: How Public Administrators Fuel Training in the Skills of Good Governance." *Public Administration Review* 72(5), 710–720.
Article II

Sarapuu, K., **Metsma**, **M.**, Randma-Liiv, T., & Uudelepp, A. (2014). Estonia. In M. van Wart, A. Hondeghem, & E. Schwella (Eds.), *Leadership and Culture: Comparative Models of Top Civil Servant Training* (pp. 73– 88). Houndmills, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

ESTONIA

Külli Sarapuu, Merilin Metsma, Tiina Randma-Liiv,¹ and Annika Uudelepp²

Introduction

Although the Estonian state will celebrate its 100th anniversary in 2018, it can be characterized as a young state. The current political and administrative institutions have been built over the last two decades. A declaration of independence from the Soviet Union in 1991 led to a change of political system, from communism to democracy, and from a planned to a market economy. Political and economic transformation was also reflected in vast administrative changes, both in terms of institutions and people.

The basis for a modern professional civil service in Estonia was created in a 1995 Public Service Act (PSA). It introduced an open, position-based civil service system that included a few elements of a career system (for example, additional pay and pension benefits based on years in service). In contrast to several other post-communist countries, accession to the European Union (EU) did not have a substantial impact on public service regulation in Estonia, since the merit-based system had already been established (Meyer-Sahling 2011).

The 1995, the PSA did not stipulate the existence of top civil servants as a distinct category. Although top civil servants came to be treated as a special group for training and development purposes beginning in 2004, and a rather complex system evolved incrementally under the leadership of the Government Office, it existed without any statutory basis until 2012. The 2012 PSA replaced the original act and, among other things, formalized the top civil service. It distinguished top civil servants as a separate civil service category with special regulations for service term, recruitment, selection, assessment, and development.

The positions in the top civil service include the secretary of state, secretaries general and deputy secretaries general of the ministries, and directors general of the executive agencies (such as boards and inspectorates). Top Estonian civil servants serve in public organizations that form a well-defined center of the executive branch and play a primary role in policy making and law-enforcement. In 2013, 96 positions fell into this group, and top executives made up 0.4 percent of the civil service (as of 2012). This falls within an internationally recognized range of senior civil servants between 0.13 and 2.1 percent, which increasingly is descending to less than 1 percent of the civil service (Halligan 2012, 116).

With enforcement of the PSA in the spring of 2013, a new era began in conceptualizing the role and development of Estonia's top executives. The nature of this era, however, is still to be defined. A window of opportunity has opened for advancing from the existing voluntary and rather individual-oriented training framework for top executives to a genuine horizontal system. However, the further development of top civil service depends on the Estonian government's response to three major challenges. The first challenge concerns the need to overcome the "silo-like" nature of the Estonian public administration, which has almost no tradition of centrally coordinated administrative policy. The second challenge is linked to the open-position-based civil service system in Estonia in which there is no institutionalized tenure and the opportunities for top civil servants to alternate within the system are limited. The third challenge relates to the identity and role perception of the Government Office—whether it will reassess and redefine its role as the leader of the executive service in the new legislative framework.

¹ Ragnar Nurkse School of Innovation and Governance, Tallinn University of Technology.

² PRAXIS Centre for Policy Studies, Tallinn, Estonia.

The chapter outlines the cultural, political, and administrative factors in order to understand the nature and functioning of the Estonian top civil service, and then takes a more detailed look at the characteristics of and challenges facing the top civil service training system. The discussion draws partly on an in-depth analysis of Estonian civil service training system commissioned by the Ministry of Finance, and carried out by the authors (Sarapuu et al. 2011).³

Antecedent Factors

It has been argued that Estonia represents one of the fastest political and economic transformations in Central and Eastern Europe (CEE; Vihalemm and Kalmus 2008: 904). Estonia's development has generally been characterized as a success, especially by external observers.⁴ The sharp break with its communist past after the first democratic elections of 1992 created a favorable ground for vast changes. The right-of-center coalition that took power implemented a liberal "shock therapy" in Estonian society and launched an overwhelming reform of the state (Sarapuu 2013). This included a major change in public service personnel, as more than a half of public servants were replaced from 1992 to 1997 (Titma et al. 1998: 126). The complex move from communism to democracy was also reflected in a considerable social transformation. With rapid economic reforms a new logic of self-determination, characterized by pursuit of personal autonomy and well-being, was introduced (Vihalemm and Kalmus 2008).

The negative economic growth of the early 1990s, combined with the collapse of poor but relatively secure socialist systems, contributed to the growing feeling of insecurity and the overwhelming dominance of materialist values. Whereas people in Western European countries tend to value self-expression, quality of life, and feelings of accomplishment over material possessions and security, people in post-communist countries that have undergone rapid social change and experienced a great deal of economic uncertainty tend to value economic and physical security (Inglehart and Baker 2000). These findings are also reflected in Estonia, where material well-being is valued more than self-expression, and the populace is characterized by low trust of other people and low political activity (Realo 2013).

Social transformations are reflected also in public service values and motivation. The national independence movement of the late 1980s and early 1990s contributed to a strong collective identification. The restoration of the independent state attracted many of the nation's best and brightest to public office, predominantly for altruistic reasons. However, by the mid-1990s materialist values became more prominent in the society and the "building up the state" motive started to decline (Lauristin 1997). From 2000 on, the civil servants became more like "rational rent-seekers," as officials started negotiating higher personal benefits, leading to substantial individualization and the "marketization" of public service rewards (Järvalt and Randma-Liiv 2012).

³ The research leading to these results has also received funding from the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme under grant agreement 266887 (Project COCOPS); the Estonian Research Council's institutional grant IUT 19–13 and the Estonian Science Foundation grant 9435.

⁴ For example, according to Transparency International's corruption perception index, Estonia was ranked in the top 20 percent of best performers in 2012 (thirty=second among 174 countries; Transparency International). The trust in government is generally higher than the EU average—in 2012, 35 percent of respondents tended to trust government, against an EU27 average of 27 percent (Eurobarometer78). Using its Government's Effectiveness Index, the World Bank Governance Indicators have ranked Estonia well above most other CEE countries (World Bank).

Altogether, the Estonian political, economic, and social development over the past two decades can be characterized by the dominance of a neoliberal worldview (cf. Drechsler 2004; Lauristin and Vihalemm 2009; Raudla and Kattel 2011; Sarapuu 2012a), which can be explained by looking at both the temporal dimension of public sector reforms and the cultural predisposition of Estonians. One the one hand, the 1990s, when the transformations began, were a time when the neoliberal approach to the state and public administration was prominent in the West and actively promoted in CEE by international organizations (Randma-Liiv 2009; Sarapuu 2013). On the other hand, neoliberalism combined well with the Estonian cultural predisposition to value independence and the country's communist legacy of distrust of the state (see Realo 2013).

With regard to the structural reorganization of the state, the combination of a neoliberal ideology, fear of the possible persistence of an overwhelming one-party-controlled public administration inherited from the Soviet republic, and an extremely complicated task environment during the initial transition led to the emergence of a segmented politico-administrative system and the ideal of a lean state. A crucial trait of the Estonian central government system is its reliance on ministerial responsibility (Sarapuu 2012b). Although the 11 ministries are rather small (employing a total of 2,473 people in 2012; Pesti 2013), they function as strong administrative actors that have considerable leverage in their particular areas of governance. Policies are mostly implemented by the various agencies that employ the vast majority of public sector employees and spend most of the state budget (Sarapuu 2012b).

Although Estonia is "one of the CEE countries [that comes] closest to NPM models" (Drechsler 2004: 391), a closer look reveals that Estonia's administrative system actually represents a peculiar mix of NPM and continental legal traditions. Its administrative development has been influenced by both neoliberal ideas and the pre–World War II historical inheritance. Although practical public management reforms have been drawn primarily from the UK and the Nordic countries (Randma-Liiv 2005); due to the idea of "restoring" the Estonian state in the 1990s and the idealized legacy of the First Republic, Estonia's administrative law has been shaped heavily by the German models. Furthermore, Van der Wal, Pevkur, and Vrangbaek (2008: 326–328) argue that despite the general NPM nature of the administrative reform discourse in Estonia, the actual public service values are more traditional. According to the surveys conducted among civil servants in 2005 and 2009, the most important values in public service were honesty, reliability, dutifulness, lawfulness, and competency, and these were respected more than NPM-type values, such as attainment of objectives, independence, and innovation (van der Wal et al. 2008; Riigikantselei 2009).

In recent years, the issue of the horizontal integration of various policy sectors and the need for a whole-of-government approach have emerged in Estonia. This shift can partly be explained by the increasing evidence of problems related to the segmented system; but it can also be attributed to the international post-NPM trend toward "whole-of-government" reform. The discussion was bolstered by the OECD Public Governance Review of Estonia (2011) that strongly questioned the administration's ability to work in a "joined-up fashion." The review also concluded there was no strategic vision for public administration and personnel management in Estonia (OECD 2011: 32) and pointed to the need for the government to deal systematically with the public service system and its values.

Indeed, the Estonian public service human resource management policy can be characterized as "a case of no central human resource strategy" (Järvalt and Randma-Liiv 2010). Every ministry and executive agency is responsible for the recruitment, training, performance appraisal, and pay of its own officials. The discussion about the public service has been mostly a legal-technical one, and there has been resistance to addressing more fundamental issues, such as the goals and underlying values of the system itself. The open, position-based public service system makes up only a small part of the entire public sector workforce and covers the people working for the ministries, government agencies, local government institutions, and a few other state institutions—that is, the people at the core of the public sector. In 2012, there were 27,072 people working in public service, constituting 4.3 percent of the total workforce of the country.⁵

The new PSA further endorsed an open and decentralized nature of the Estonian public service. The act changed the 1995 institutionally based definition of public service, and reoriented the system toward differentiating between officials who are engaged in executing public authority and those employees who do not have this function. The goal of the new act was to reduce the number of public servants and to abolish the perceived "disparities" between public and private sector employment. This led to the abolishment of public service pensions and seniority pay, reduction of public sector job security to equal that of the private sector, and an increase in managerial discretion over pay. With regard to the top civil servants, the new act filled in the previous legal vacuum whereby the top civil servants development program compulsory for the target group and ended the era of voluntarism. The other mandatory elements include the introduction of open competition for the top positions, and determination of specific requirements that must be met for the development and assessment of top civil servants.

Expectations of Top Civil Servants

The specific leadership model for Estonian top civil servants is defined by the Top Civil Service Competency Framework, which lays out the expectations of public service executives. The initial competency framework was introduced in 2004–2005 and was developed by a team of top civil servants and external experts led by the Government Office. It contained five competencies: credibility, vision, innovativeness, leadership, and goal-orientation. The competencies were described using from two to four activity indicators with the levels of excellent, good, and poor. The project team relied on McClelland's approach, trying to identify competencies and activities that were relevant for the attainment of work-related goals (Limbach-Pirn 2011: 9). However, feedback on the model revealed that it was deemed to be too general, not related to day-to-day work, and of questionable usefulness (ibid.: 11). These findings led to the re-evaluation of the model and its renewal in 2009–2010.

The new model addresses competencies in a more detailed way. The leadership profile it provides aims to ensure that Estonia's top civil servants are committed, know their role, share common values, and make decisions based on the state's priorities (Limbach-Pirn 2011: 61; see Figure 4.1). The four core competencies (credibility, citizen-orientation, leadership, and common identity) illustrate the main expectations on top civil servants and are operationalized in ten further competencies. On the list of competencies, generic management skills dominate.

⁵ The Estonian public sector altogether employs 165,400 people, or 26.5 percent of the country's total workforce (Pesti 2013). The total population of Estonia is 1.29 million.



Figure 4.1: The Estonian top civil service competency framework

Source: Riigikantselei 2013

The competency model is used in the recruitment, selection, and appraisal of top civil servants, as well as to map the overall quality of leadership in the Estonian public service. Candidates for the top positions are assessed by the central Top Civil Servants Selection Committee within the Government Office. The committee screens candidates and short-lists up to three for final selection by the relevant minister or secretary general. There are some exceptions for the secretaries general, who are appointed by the Cabinet and may be recruited outside the open competition, but these are also screened by the committee. Top officials are evaluated at least once every two years, in a combination of self-evaluation and feedback from direct supervisors and colleagues, most of whom are subordinates. This evaluation was voluntary until 2013, and the results of the evaluations were not made public.

Two studies of top civil servants based on the competency framework, one on competencies and the other on commitment, were commissioned by the Government Office in 2011(Riigikantselei 2011). In the first study, the competencies of the top civil servants were assessed by politicians and representatives of partner organizations. The survey did not reveal much that was of interest, and most of the assessments fell in the expected average range. The top executives' competencies in awareness of law, resource management, and self-management scored somewhat higher (3.6 to 3.8 on a 5-point scale) than did their competencies in communication, cooperation, strategic leadership, and policymaking (3.3 to 3.4 on a 5-point scale; Faktum & Ariko 2011). The general conclusion of the study was that

challenge for the future was to develop more of the "soft" competencies (e.g., communication, cooperation, and leadership) among top civil servants (Riigikantselei 2011).

The results of the study on commitment were much more revealing, and disclosed some key challenges facing the Estonian administrative system. The survey interrogated top executives personally, and the results showed that whereas the executives were very committed to their work (though more committed to their institution than to the public service as a whole), only a few of them could be characterized as leaders of development and change. The majority were more oriented toward stability and security than toward looking for avenues for change (TNS Emor 2011). Furthermore, only 31 percent of the surveyed executives saw future career prospects for themselves in the public service, while the rest were hesitant or negative (TNS Emor 2011).

The fact that top executives have difficulty seeing future challenges and career advancement in public administration has led to considerable turnover as many leave the public service. Although the rate of renewal among the top civil servants has decreased compared to the early 2000s (see Järvalt and Randma-Liiv 2010) and has been around 9 percent lately (Limbach-Pirn and Toomet-Björk 2013), the possibilities for mobility within the public service have been restricted. Similarly, the OECD Review (2011) concluded that "the culture of Estonia's public administration works against movement of staff within the public service. Staff currently view themselves as working for a particular public sector organization, and are hired based on technical specialization rather than generic policy skills; it is therefore difficult to encourage staff to move to other sector portfolios" (OECD 2011: 35). Although several experts, as well as many top civil servants themselves, have suggested the introduction of secondment and rotation schemes, these had not yet materialized by 2013.

Altogether, the survey demonstrated the organization-centric and segmented nature of the Estonian public service. It indicated that the top civil servants did not feel united as a group; nor did they believe that their colleagues would place the state's interests above the interests of their individual organizations. Executives maintained that there was little joint understanding of the state's strategic goals among them as a group, and that different public sector organizations did not share joint values and principles (TNS Emor 2011). The survey confirmed the results of the OECD review that found cooperation on policy coordination between the top executives to be mostly informal, incidental, personal, or reactive (see OECD 2011: 28–30). The review also highlighted the incapacity of top civil servants to act as a unified group to lead administrative change and solve horizontal public policy problems.

Top Civil Service Training System

The education system and the training system for public servants are separate in Estonia. Training is the responsibility of the individual organizations and, because there is no central civil service training institution in Estonia, is substantially dependent on the private sector training market. There is no institutionalized pre-service training, and no mandatory training required for promotions or salary increases. Background education prior to entering the civil service is received from various higher education institutions. According to the Government Office, 18 percent of top civil servants have studied public administration, 15 percent have studied law, 9 percent have a background in economics, and 9 percent in history; the remainder have a wide variety of educational backgrounds, including engineering, agronomy, forestry, criminology, and medicine.

Top civil servants also have varied previous work experience in the public or private sectors, which means that when they enter the top ranks, their knowledge, skills, and values may differ substantially. There is no common mandatory entry-level training for top civil servants, and fast-track training systems are unknown in Estonia. Top civil servants often come from the ranks of specialists in the public service, and the politicization of top-level appointments can be considered relatively rare (Meyer-Sahling 2011; Randma-Liiv and Järvalt 2011). According to the Government Office, "The average top executive is a man in his forties with previous public service experience and a level of education that corresponds to the master's degree" (Limbach-Pirn and Toomet-Björk 2013: 19).

The development of top civil servants was addressed in a highly decentralized way by individual public sector organizations until 2004. The Government Office started to work on the development of a top civil service corps, relying on the goals expressed in the Public Service Development Strategy (2004). This document emphasized the need to develop civil service leaders according to a unified competency model and proposed launching a development and training program for top civil service development in general. However, in 2010, all other public-service-related functions of the Government Office were moved to the Ministry of Finance, and since then, the training and development of top executives has operated rather independently of the rest of the public service development.

The Top Civil Service Competency Framework and implementation plan were completed in 2005, without any legal basis. Based on the competency model, a variety of oneoff development activities were offered to the target group on a voluntary basis (e.g., specially designed training and development programs, individual coaching and mentoring; Riigikantselei 2006). During that time, various ideas were tested, a first-round assessment of the target group was completed, and continual adjustments of specific activities were carried out. Because the competency evaluations were voluntary, about 65 percent of the top civil servants participated in the first round. After the third evaluation period, approximately 50 percent of the target group participated in development activities (Limbach-Pirn 2011: 11). Although the evaluation clearly pointed to the need for development (ibid.), the voluntary system could not ensure that top civil servants actually obtained the relevant competencies. The target group's participation was quite accidental, and with the financial crisis in 2008, top civil servants were focused on budget cuts and trying to find new ways of coping, which meant that the participation in development activities decreased significantly, although the funding for training was retained (Limbach-Pirn 2011: 11-12). By 2012, however, the participation rate had recovered and increased to 81 percent of the target group. 40 percent of the top civil servants took part in individual development activities, mostly language courses (Limbach-Pirn and Toomet-Björck 2013).

In 2008, special funding for top civil service development activities was allocated from EU structural aid funds through the signing of the program document "Development of the Top Civil Service 2008–2009." Activities addressing top civil service training were part of a general central civil service training program, and 85 percent were financed from EU structural funds. This document not only secured funding for the activities, but also became a semiformal basis for the continuation of the top civil servants development program. From this point onward, development of top civil servants was separated from general civil service training and, through biannual program documents, the goals and targets for the development of top civil servants were set separately. The development of top civil servants has been generously financed by EU structural funds ever since; whereas the Estonian government has only covered mandatory co-financing of the project. In the years 2006–2011, the financing for training increased steadily, reaching 311,000 EUR in 2011.

The institutionalization of the top civil service training system within the Government Office has taken place under the direction of the secretary of state, Mr. Heiki Loot. To a great extent, this can be characterized as a personal project of his, and it has benefited significantly from his personal leadership and commitment. In 2010, a specialized and rather autonomous unit for the development of civil service top executives was formed under his subordination—the Top Civil Service Excellence Center (TCSEC). By that time, trust had been built among the target group toward the entire development program, and a systematic approach to working with top civil servants had emerged. The institutionalization of development activities also made their formalization possible by inclusion in the 2012 Public Service Act.

Content and Methods of Training

The way that the top civil servants development system has emerged in Estonia is reflected in the content and methods of training. In general, the system can be characterized as a rather flexible framework that relies on the attractiveness of the activities offered to top civil servants, and creates numerous possibilities for executives to develop their individual competencies. The small size of the target group has made this this personalized approach possible and has allowed the TCSEC to maintain an informal working style and to pursue a tailor-made approach. The general goal of the activities has been defined as the development of "competent top civil servants who support the advancement of whole-of-government approach to governing" (Program: Development of Top Civil Servants 2012–2013).

In assessing top civil servants' training needs and devising training activities, TCSEC plays the main role. It uses the results of the annual competency assessments, feedback from previous development activities, and priorities as defined in the government's working plans. Other units (e.g., Government Office's Strategy Unit) are consulted now and then, but the TCSEC relies primarily on its own expertise. The target group's role in identifying training needs and proposing common development activities has been minor and irregular. However, the top civil servants have had opportunities to propose TCSEC training activities that support their individual development needs (e.g., specific training courses, language classes, lessons for developing public speaking). These activities are financed through the TCSEC. In addition, top executives also have the opportunity to receive training through their own institutions (ministries and agencies).

The training and development activities offered to top civil servants can be divided into three categories (Veisson and Limbach 2007): (1) tailor-made development programs with an objective to develop specific competencies related to the strategic objectives of the state; (2) individual development activities supporting top civil servants in solving specific problems or carrying out organizational change (such as coaching and mentoring); and (3) master classes and workshops with the primary goal of enhancing cooperation and joint discussion and sharing experiences and best practices. Over the years, several training programs have been initiated addressing specific subgroups or topics. For example, in the years 2008–2011, development programs focusing on economic competitiveness, sustainable development, the quality of public services, a single government approach, and financial management were carried out. In 2010, an annual conference of Estonian top civil servants was introduced. The TCSEC also runs a leadership offspring program, Newton, which trains future top civil servants (mid-level managers or senior specialists at the time of participation in the program).

With regard to training topics, development activities have cultivated both publicsector specific knowledge and skills related to administrative capacity, policy-making, policy implementation, coordination, and quality of public services, as well as more generic management topics such as innovation, leadership, strategic management, and clientorientation. It can be argued that whereas in earlier years the content of training was quite strongly influenced by business concepts, in later years the TCSEC has focused attention on public sector specifics. Just as the spectrum of training activities has been quite broad, so are the variety of training methods used. They have ranged from classroom lectures to individual coaching and mentoring. Considerable attention has been given to learning from foreign practices. Study trips abroad have been used to a great degree, in almost every multi-staged development program, and have usually involved seminars in the destination country. Likewise, external experts—mostly academics and civil servants from states with special arrangements for top civil servants (e.g., the UK and the Netherlands)—have been involved in providing development and training activities. In general, the emphasis of TCSEC has been on making the training and development activities as attractive, interactive, and as easily accessible for top civil servants as possible.

With regard to evaluation, training activities are mostly assessed by gathering oral and written feedback from the participants and trainers. Whereas such a system gives a representative picture of target groups' satisfaction with the activities, it gives little information of the effect of training on their behavior and performance. An attempt to assess longer-term impacts of training and development has been made via the regular evaluation of top civil servant competencies and surveys. However, both of these sources give only indirect information on the impact of development activities on performance (Sarapuu et al. 2011: 63).

Discussion

It is not yet clear how much the top civil service development system has strengthened horizontal cooperation and the whole-of-government approach in Estonia. There is undoubted value in recognizing top civil servants as a coherent group with specific development needs and in creating a solid framework for addressing those needs. The construction of a sound foundation for top civil service development based on the competency model and professional testing, competency assessment, and development activities has led to merit practices in the Estonian civil service and a systematic approach toward public service training. The presence of the TCSEC has considerably widened the possibilities for maintaining and further developing a network of top civil servants.

However, with the enforcement of the new Public Service Act in the spring of 2013, a window of opportunity was opened through which to conceptualize the role and development of top executives in a novel, more integrated, and "joined-up" way. There is an opportunity to advance from the existing voluntary and rather individual-oriented training framework for top executives, to a genuine horizontal system of top civil service that would demonstrate a "common identity" as expected by the competency model. To achieve this, Government Office faces at least three major challenges.

First of all, it needs to confront the "silo-like" nature of Estonian public administration, in which there is almost no tradition of centrally coordinated administrative policy. The Estonian administrative system relies on strong ministries that are responsible for overseeing their areas of governance, both with regard to policy content and administrative matters. The top civil service system represents an attempt to build a horizontal instrument aimed at bringing the top ranks of ministries and executive agencies together under the same formal and mental roof. In order to succeed in this endeavor, the Government Office needs to challenge a strongly sectorized administrative culture, the lack of political enthusiasm for curbing minister's discretion and to ensure financial sustainability of the top civil service development scheme.

A primary attempt to overcoming the "silos" was unsuccessful when an proposal to establish minimum requirements for top executives with regard to their managerial experience, education, and language proficiency failed in the Cabinet in 2013. Instead of stipulating a minimum amount of work experience, an education level equal to a master's degree, and a command of Estonian and English, as proposed in draft regulation, the Cabinet eventually passed a regulation requiring top civil servants to have only "managerial experience, education and knowledge of foreign languages sufficient to fulfill their civil service duties"; basically, stipulating no formal requirements for the top executives.

In addition, thus far, the system of top civil service training has benefited from generous funding from EU structural funds. Comparing the resources of the TCSEC with the Ministry of Finance's resources for central development activities for the rest of the public service, it is clear that the top executives have been a priority. However, the EU structural support for administrative development is expected to end in 2020 and it is not clear how much the Estonian government is ready to spend its "own money" on creating a horizontal administrative policy. Considering the general belief in the virtues of a lean state and the distrust of centralization and the "doubling" of functions, the top civil service system needs to prove itself in a persuasive way.

Second, the Government Office operates in the context of an open, position-based civil service system with no institutionalized tenure and limited opportunities for top civil servants to move within the (top) civil service. Significant staff turnover and a sector-based approach represent serious challenges for a decentralized system that is dependent on cooperation. A frequent change of partners in the top ranks creates an unfavorable context for collaborative action and poses significant obstacles to developing common top civil service culture. The high turnover in the top civil service may also undermine any efforts put into training and development, since executives use their newly acquired competencies to build careers in the private sector or in international organizations. Moreover top civil servants might design their individual training activities so as to increase their employability in the external labor market. However, in this regard, the Government Office has recently gained some leverage as it has assumed responsibility for recruiting and selecting top civil servants' and also supports rotation and career-building within the civil service.

The third challenge relates to the identity and perception of the role of the Government Office and of the TCSEC itself—whether TCSEC is able to reassess and redefine its role as the leader of the executive service in the new legislative framework. Thus far, the top civil service training and development system could be characterized as an "island of excellence"—secured with necessary resources and aspiring to a high level of professionalism, but largely separated from the rest of the public service development and with restricted access to other actors in the administrative system that might alert the top civil servants about topics and issues that need their attention. However, the move from a training system to a genuine top civil service that facilitates whole-of-government approach to policy making and implementation also demands integration in administrative policy and, most of all, in public service development.

To conclude, it remains to be seen if the present training and development framework for the Estonian top civil servants will be able to evolve into a unified top civil service system, binding together the existing segmented administrative arrangement. The implementation of the new PSA and the special regulations for top civil servant recruitment, selection, performance appraisal, and development establishes a new formal structure around the existing elements. The potential for the existing system to evolve into a unified system will be determined both by the Estonian politico-administrative context and the identity and perception of the role of the Government Office.

REFERENCES

- Drechsler, W. (2004). "Governance, Good Governance, and Government: The Case for Estonian Administrative Capacity." *Trames* 8(58/53), 388–396.
- Eurobarometer78. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/public_opinion/archives/eb/eb78/eb78_fact_ee_en.pdf (accessed May 15, 2013).
- Faktum & Ariko (2011). Uuring: kõrgete riigiametnike asjatundlikkus. Available at: http://valitsus.ee/UserFiles/valitsus/et/riigikantselei/uldinfo/dokumendiregister/Uuring ud/Tippjuhtide%20asjatundlikkuse%20uuringu%20aruanne.pdf (accessed June 14, 2013).
- Halligan, J. (2012). "Leadership and the Senior Civil Service from a Comparative Perspective." In, (eds), *Handbook of Public Administration*, ed. B. G. Peters, and J. Pierre, London: Sage, 115–129.
- Inglehart, R., and Baker, W.E. (2000). "Modernization, Cultural Change, and the Persistence of Traditional Values." *American Sociological Review* 65, 19–51.
- Järvalt, J., and T. Randma-Liiv (2010). "Public Sector HRM: The Case of No Central Human Resource Strategy." *Baltic Journal of Management* 5, 242–256.
- Järvalt, J. and Randma-Liiv, T. (2012). "Starting from Scratch: Rewards for High Public Office in Estonia." In *Rewards for High Public Office in Europe and North America*, ed M. Brans and B. G. Peters, Oxon: Routledge, 190–208.
- Lauristin, M. 1997. "Contexts of transition." In *Return to the Western World*, ed. M. Lauristin and P. Vihalemm, Tartu: Tartu University Press, 25–40.
- Lauristin, M., and P. Vihalemm. (2009). "The Political Agenda during Different Periods of Estonian Transformation: External and Internal Factors." *Journal of Baltic Studies* 40 (1), 1–28.
- Limbach-Pirn, E. (2011). "Growing Leaders: Innovations in the Competence Development System of Estonian Top Civil Service." *Revista Administratie si Management Public* 16, 6–29.
- Limbach-Pirn, E., and K. Toomet-Björck (2013). "2012. aasta tippjuhtide arendamise valdkonnas." Avaliku teenistuse aastaraamat 2012. Tallinn: Rahandusministeerium, 19–21.
- Meyer-Sahling, J.-H. (2011). "The Durability of EU Civil Service Policy in Central and Eastern Europe after Accession." *Governance* 24(2), 231–260.
- OECD. (2011). OECD Public Governance Reviews. Estonia: Towards a Single Government Approach. Paris: OECD.
- Pesti, C. (2013). "Avaliku teenistuse personalianalüüs." *Avaliku teenistuse aastaraamat 2012*. Tallinn: Rahandusministeerium, 29–56.
- Randma-Liiv, T. (2005). "Demand- and Supply-Based Policy Transfer in Estonian Public Administration." *Journal of Baltic Studies* 36 (4), 467–87.
- Randma-Liiv, T. (2009). "New Public Management versus Neo-Weberian State in Central and Eastern Europe." NISPAcee Journal of Public Administration and Policy 1(2), 69– 82.

- Randma-Liiv, T., and J. Järvalt (2011). "Public Personnel Policies and Problems in the New Democracies of Central and Eastern Europe." *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis* 13(1), 35–49.
- Randma-Liiv, T., M. Metsma, and K. Sarapuu (2013). "Between Continuity and Change: The Analysis of the Estonian Civil Service Training System." In *The Past, Present and the Future of Public Administration in Central and Eastern Europe,* ed. M. Vintar, A. Rosenbaum, G. Jenei, and W. Drechsler, Bratislava: NISPAcee Press, 195–218.
- Raudla, R. and Kattel, R. (2011). "Why Did Estonia Choose Fiscal Retrenchment after the 2008 Crisis?" *Journal of Public Policy* 31(2), 163–186.
- Realo, A. (2013). "Values." In M. Heidmets (ed) Estonian Human Development Report 2012/2013. Tallinn: Eesti Koostöö Kogu, 48–58.
- Riigikantselei (2006). Avaliku teenistuse aastaraamat 2005. Tallinn: Riigikantselei.
- Riigikantselei (2009). Rollid ja hoiakud avalikus teenistuses. Tallinn: Riigikantselei.
- Riigikantselei (2011). "Eesti avaliku teenistuse tippjuhtide pühendumus ja asjatundlikkus." *Riigikantselei poliitikaanalüüside ja uuringute sari* 3, 1–24.
- Riigikantselei (2013). Avaliku teenistuse tippjuhtide kompetentsimudel. Available at: http://valitsus.ee/et/riigikantselei/avaliku-teenistuse-tippjuhid/avaliku-teenistusetippjuhtide-kompetentsimudel (accessed June 14, 2013).
- Sarapuu, K., T. Randma-Liiv, A. Uudelepp, and M. Metsma (2011). Final Report of the Analysis of a Civil Service Training System and Development Needs of Estonia. Commissioned by the Estonian Ministry of Finance. Tallinn: Praxis Centre for Policy Studies and Tallinn University of Technology.
- Sarapuu, K. (2012a). "Administrative Structure in Times of Change: The Development of Estonian Ministries and Government Agencies 1990–2010." *International Journal of Public Administration* 35 (12), 808–819.
- Sarapuu, K. (2012b). "Estonia." In Government Agencies: Practices and Lessons from 30 Countries, ed. K. Verhoest, S. van Thiel, G. Bouckaert, and P. Lægreid. Houndmills, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 277–287.
- Sarapuu, K. (2013). Mapping and Explaining Post-Communist Development of Administrative Structure: The Case of Estonian Public Administration 1990–2010. PhD diss. Tallinn: Tallinn University of Technology Press.
- Titma, M., N. Tuma, and B. Silver, 1998. "Winners and Losers in the Postcommunist Transition: New Evidence from Estonia." *Post-Soviet Affairs* 14(2), 114–136.
- TNS Emor. (2011). Avaliku teenistuse tippjuhtide pühendumuse uuring. Available at: http://valitsus.ee/UserFiles/valitsus/et/riigikantselei/uldinfo/dokumendiregister/Uuring ud/Tippjuhtide%20p%C3%BChendumuse%20uuringu%20aruanne.pdf (accessed June 14, 2013).
- Transparency International. Available at: http://cpi.transparency.org/cpi2012/results/ (accessed May 15, 2013).
- Van der Wal, Z., A. Pevkur, and K.Vrangbaek (2008). "Public Sector Value Congruence among Old and New EU Member-States? Empirical Evidence from the Netherlands, Denmark, and Estonia." *Public Integrity* 10 (4), 317–333.

- Veisson, M., and E. Limbach, (2007). "Mission Impossible: Applicability of Competency-Based Development System to Top Managers. The Case of Estonian Civil Service." Leading the Future of the Public Sector: The Third Transatlantic Dialogue, May 31 – June 2. Newark: University of Delaware, ,
- Vihalemm, T. and Kalmus, V. (2008). "Mental Structures in Transition Culture: Differentiating Patterns of Identities and Values in Estonia." *East European Politics* and Societies 22 (4), 901–927.
- World Bank, Worldwide Governance Indicators. Available at: http://info.worldbank.org/governance/wgi/mc_chart.asp# (accessed 15 May 2013).

Article III

Metsma, **M.** (2014). The Impact of Cutback Management on Civil-Service Training: The Case of Estonia. *Administrative Culture*, *15*(1), 58–79.

Merilin Metsma Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia

Abstract

The focus of this paper is on the civil-service training during cutback management. The impact of the cutback management on civil-service training has not been thoroughly analyzed so far. The paper describes and explains the Estonian case and analyzes its implications for the theory. It is concluded that across-the-board cuts and a decentralized training system will lead to major cuts in training budgets. It is also found that in a cutback environment organizations prefer job-specific training over general civil-service training. Furthermore, in times of budget cuts organizations seek cost-effective training methods and thus provide in-house courses.

Key words: civil-service training; cutback management

1. Introduction

The recent economic crisis challenged governments all over the world to react to various economic and social effects. Estonia was one of the first countries to be affected by the global financial crisis and among the most strongly affected ones (Staehr 2010; Peters et al. 2011; Raudla and Kattel 2011). Government responses to the crisis were different in many other European countries. When most of the countries used discretionary measures or automatic stabilizers, the crisis management in Estonia was characterized by immediate and severe governmental expenditure cuts, public-service layoffs and also tax increases (Staehr 2010; Peters et al. 2011; Raudla and Kattel 2011, Jõgiste et al. 2012). Consolidation measures were taken already in 2008 and continued in 2009 when cuts in the budget were made on two occasions (Peters et al. 2011). The government adopted across-the-board cutback strategies which delegated the right to decide on cutback measures (layoffs, wage reductions, abolition of fringe benefits or other measures) to single governmental organizations (Raudla 2013).

Due to the severity of the crisis and governments' responses it is worthwhile to analyze the impact of these circumstances on the different aspects of public administration. A range of topics connected to the recent crisis have been examined already (for example, see Kattel 2009; Staehr 2010; Raudla and Kattel 2011; Jõgiste et al. 2012; Kattel and Raudla 2013; Raudla 2013). The impact of the cutback management on human-resource management and more specifically on civil-service training has not been analyzed so far. The topic is interesting and novel not only in studies on fiscal crisis in Estonia but also in international literature. There are several studies on the impact of fiscal crisis on public administration (for example, see Onofrei and Lupu 2010; Pollitt 2010; Peters et al. 2011; Cepiku and Savignon 2012; Lodge and Hood 2012), yet the impact of the recession on training has received relatively little analytical attention. Furthermore, there are no comprehensive studies on the impact of cutback management on training in civil service, though there are a number of relevant studies conducted among private-sector companies (for example, see Majumdar 2007; Brunello 2009; Rao 2009; Mason and Bishop 2010; Felstead et al. 2012; Wickramasinghe and Perera 2012).

Training has many roles in civil service (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). Firstly, it is related to the implementation of tasks and focuses on developing skills and competencies in order to fulfil objectives of the organization. Secondly, it is part of the motivation system and functions as an instrument to retain a high-quality and high-performing workforce. And thirdly, training is an instrument to raise civil servants' awareness of their role and responsibility and introduce shared values among civil-service staff. The crisis literature suggests that workforce training has never been more important than in challenging financial times (Cayer 1986; Carrel 2000; Rusaw and Rusaw 2008; Lodge and Hood 2012; Wickramasinghe and Perera 2012).

At the same time, training has proved to be vulnerable to the economic downturn (Felstead and Green 1994; Felstead et al. 2012). Many authors even note that the civil-service-training budget is often among the first items to be cut when fiscal stress hits (Cayer 1986; Maor 2000; Felstead et al. 2012; Lodge and Hood 2012). This has further implications for training programs and training methods as shrinking training budgets force organizations to prioritize training topics and seek more cost-effective ways of delivering training (Felstead et al. 2012). Since the fiscal crisis in Estonia resulted in radical cutback management, the paper at hand uses cutback management as a theoretical framework for the analysis. The following research question is posed: how has cutback management affected civil-service training in Estonia during 2006-2011? The analysis is operationalized by looking at three key elements of civil-service training: budget, content and methods.

2. Cutback management in public administration

Fiscal stress necessitates governments to impose spending cuts (Raudla et al. 2013). Most commonly, cutback strategies have been divided between across-the-board and targeted cuts (Pollitt 2010). With across-the-board measures operational managers and professional service deliverers are obliged to find ways of reducing their budgets in equal amounts or percentages (ibid.). Targeted cuts are assumed to identify and rank priorities and to allocate cuts based on these priorities (Levine 1979). Across-the-board cuts are believed to minimize the pain, help to maintain morale, build a good team spirit in organizations and involve fewer decision-making costs (Levine 1978, 1979). Yet, these cuts often do not reflect the public needs and prefer-

ences, tend to penalize efficient organizations, ignore varying needs of different units and may lead to decline in service levels and quality (Raudla et al. 2013).

There are several cutback instruments for dealing with cutting public expenditures. Different cutback instruments have been classified as follows: instruments for cutting operational measures (running costs), program measures (transfers and grants) and capital expenditures (investments) (Raudla et al. 2013). Reductions in operational expenditures, which are most relevant in the current paper, are further divided between personnel expenditures and non-personnel expenditures (ibid.). Decision makers faced with a crisis situation often focus on personnel costs to accomplish the cuts in government spending (Cayer 1986). So, the cutback management puts pressure on traditional public-service bargains in terms of reward, competency and loyalty (Lodge and Hood 2012). Indeed, reducing recruitment costs, freezing new recruitments, dismissal, freezing salaries and social benefits, cutting back public-sector wages, reducing pensions and increasing the retirement age (Cayer 1986; Lodge and Hood 2012; Onofrei and Lupu 2010; Pollitt 2010) have been popular instruments to cut expenditures. Nonpersonnel expenditure cuts restrict or ban spending on utilities, supplies, equipment, travel and communication (Wolman and Davis 1980 cited in Raudla et al. 2013).

Cutbacks in personnel and non-personnel expenditures create a conflict in public administration. At a time when public-sector staff is likely to bear various kinds of negative implications on their functioning (Pollitt 2010) there is an increasing need for professional and committed civil servants (Peters et al. 2011). Indeed, modern governments depend to a great extent on the work of national civil services and their employees (Onofrei and Lupu 2010). During the crisis, the role of the civil service and the permanent, professional components of the governance apparatus are highly important (Rusaw and Rusaw 2008; Peters et al. 2011). As Cepiku and Savignon (2012, 429) put it: "the role of the public sector is essential to overcoming the crisis, to fostering sustainable development, and for managing the equilibrium between public services supply and demand".

The changing environment and new challenges require new skills from civil servants. They may have to organize industrial bailouts and policies, steer nationalized companies, own global mega-banks and property portfolios of daunting complexity, try to find ways of making the best of their bad or doubtful loans and carry out cuts (Lodge and Hood 2012). At the same time, they have to continue their usual work (Cayer 1986), often under extreme time pressure and general uncertainty. Several authors note that human-resource training has an important role in tackling the changes stemming from cutback management (Cayer 1986; Carrel 2000; Rusaw and Rusaw 2008; Rao 2009; Lodge and Hood 2012). The next chapter addresses the role of training in civil service and the impact of cutback management on the key elements of training.

3. The impact of cutback management on civil-service training

3.1 The role of civil service training

Employee training is a key element of human-resource development. Training is "the planned and systematic modification of behaviour through learning events, programmes and instruction which enable individuals to achieve the levels of knowl-

edge, skill and competence needed to carry out their work effectively" (Armstrong 2003, 527). The role of training in civil service has been divided into three levels: the individual level, the positional/organizational level and the level of civil service as a whole (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). On the individual level, training is part of the motivation system, as it provides civil servants with opportunities to move to new positions and develop their careers through developing their skills and competencies. On the positional/organizational level, training is related to the implementation of tasks and focuses on developing skills and competencies in order to fulfil the objectives of the organization. The performance of organizations and their ability to implement policies depends by and large on the qualities of their members and on the organizations' ability to learn and adapt. On the state level, training is an instrument for retaining a high-quality and high-performing workforce, raising civil servants' awareness of their role and responsibility and introducing shared values that contribute to cross-departmental cooperation and public-service ethics.

The key elements of civil-service training are training budget, content and methods.¹ The following subsections describe the potential impact of cutback management on the key elements.

3.2 Civil-service-training budget

Funding of civil-service training is a fundamental characteristic of a training system, as it affects both the quantity and the quality of civil-service training. In general, civil-service training systems are divided between decentralized and centralized systems, as the systems are determined by the funding scheme and the presence of the central coordinating institution responsible for training (Lucking 2003). In case of a centralized model, funds are allocated from a state budget to a central civil-service coordinator or a central training institution which then organizes training activities (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). In a decentralized funding model, funds are allocated to individual organizations which administer the training budget for training and are thus free to decide on training provision (topics, methods, provider) (ibid.). In practice various combinations of these funding models are applied.

In academic discussions the training budget is often linked to the economic cycle of an organization. Felstead et al. (2012) claim that during an economic downturn organizations may increase, decrease or stabilize their investment in training. With increasing profitability organizations can afford to invest in training, while in turbulent times, training budgets are often the first savings targets (Cayer 1986; Vanhala 1995; Maor 2000; Felstead et al. 2012; Lodge and Hood 2012; Wickramasinghe and Perera 2012). Then again, some studies demonstrate that employers have avoided slashing budgets for training during the slump because they believe it is vital to their operations

¹ In general, training provision follows a systematic cycle (Torrington et al. 2002). The training cycle starts with the analysis of training needs, continues with planning and delivering the training and ends with training evaluation. This paper does not cover the topics of organization of training-needs assessment and training evaluation. Training-needs assessment is comprised in the analysis only in terms of training content, as training-needs assessment designs the training content. Training method is a component of planning and delivering training. The paper investigates training delivery in terms of training content and methods.

in the future, and some even increase training costs in the expectation that workers will be needed as businesses pick up (Felstead and Green 1994; Felstead et al. 2012). Some training topics are recession-proof, because a certain minimum level of employee training has to be carried out even during financially hard times (Felstead and Green 1994).

Academic literature offers some explanations to training budget cuts. Firstly, Lodge and Hood (2012, 84) and Felstead et al. (2012) note that there is a tendency of cutting activities with no immediate apparent payoff, such as staff training. Secondly, several authors (Paddock 1997; Maor 2000; Carrel 2000) point to the general view held by political executives and public officials that training is considered a cost rather than an investment. Both of these explanations convey general attitudes towards training. A third explanation derives from the system of training funding. In the case of across-the-board cuts the decentralized funding model leaves a great discretion to the organization level to decide on the size of the training budget (Freibert 1997; Paddock 1997; Maor 2000; Carrel 2000; Lucking 2003), whereas in a centralized system funds are allocated from the state budget, and this guarantees financial sustainability and a continuation of civil-service training activities in times of cutbacks (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). Of course centralized training funding is recession-proof only in case the training budget is not a component of the targeted cuts.

3.3 Civil-service training content

The training topics covered in civil service demonstrate the areas in which civil servants are developing their skills and are thus expected to perform professionally or where they might lack knowledge due to the shortage of training. The content of civil-service training is divided into two: general civil-service training and job-specific training (Schiavo-Campo and Sundaram 2000; Bossaert et al. 2001; Rand-ma 2002; Pollitt and Op de Beeck 2010). General civil-service training is provided in issues that have high priority for the public service as a whole and which require uniform understanding, know-how and principles of action to be adopted and implemented in different organizations in common areas (for example, policy-making skills, policy analysis, civil-service values and ethics).

Job-specific training is oriented around the needs and expectations of the administrative services, and it involves preparing public officials in the specific techniques of their posts (Bossaert et al. 2001). Job-specific training content involves development of knowledge and skills which are critical to the functioning of a specific organization. During the crisis and possible cutbacks organizations have to continue the execution of their tasks (Cayer 1986), so there is a continuing demand for job-specific training.

Both general civil-service training and job-specific training content reflect the challenges that a particular country is facing (Schiavo-Campo and Sundaram 2000). Crisis, catastrophes and international threats affect the functioning of civil service, forcing it to look for new and different working practices and require new skills from civil servants. In the recent financial-crisis context, Lodge and Hood (2012) argue for the need of specific competences in the civil service because public-sector staff has new tasks to fulfil in times of crisis.

During cutback-management training managers have to make reductions in the training amount, which in turn forces them to prioritize training programs (Felstead

et al. 2012). Human-capital theorists have come to the conclusion that during financially hard times organizations are reluctant to finance training that is not connected to specific organizational goals (Becker 1962; Swanson and Dobbs 2006). Empirical research by Felstead et al. (2012) among large and small enterprises in the United Kingdom serves as an example. The studied organizations adopted more systematic and parsimonious forms of administration of training resources in order to focus the training more tightly on organizations' core functions. This also resulted in reducing or losing "nice to have" training programs. In the civil-service context this would mean cutting general civil-service training and maintaining the development of knowledge and skills which are critical to the functioning of a specific organization.

3.4 Civil-service training methods

Besides prioritizing training content, reassessing the way training is delivered becomes equally important. This is a high concern of training managers because they are forced to seek more cost-effective ways of delivering training in times of cutbacks (Felstead et al. 2012). There are many methods of delivering training. A distinction between methods is usually made by the training provider and the location of training activities (Kitching and Blackburn 2002). Methods of training are usually divided into internal and external delivery training depending on the training provider and into on-the-job and off-the-job training depending on the location (see Table 1) (Schiavo-Campo and Sundaram 2000; Torrington et al. 2002; Jacobs 2010).

		Training location	
		On-the-job training	Off-the-job training
Training provider	Internal delivery	Training provided by supervisor or a skilled co-worker; coaching; mentoring; action learn- ing; self-development; E-learning	In-house courses offered by one or more employee(s) to other staff in the same organi- zation; E-learning
	External delivery	Coaching by external expert	Courses run by external experts at locations other than where the work is actually done; outdoor-type courses

Source: compiled by the author, based on Schiavo-Campo and Sundaram 2000; Torrington et al. 2002; Jacobs 2010

On-the-job training is the process in which knowledge and skills are acquired at the location of work; knowledge and skills are often passed down by one person (e.g. a supervisor) to another person (Jacobs 2010). It is believed to be cost-effective because there are no costs for travelling to the training site, and much of the learning is tacit

(Kitching 2008; Jacobs 2010). Yet, it has several disadvantages: its quality depends on the ability of the trainer and time available, it is time-consuming, and bad habits might be passed on (Torrington et al. 2002). Off-the-job training provides groupbased learning opportunities on a variety of topics at a site other than where the work is actually done (Jacobs 2010). Depending on the training provider, off-the-job training can be delivered with relatively low costs in the case of in-house courses (Kitching and Blackburn 2002), yet it can be more expensive and superficial in the case of an external training provider (Torrington et al. 2002; Jacobs 2010). In-house units have the advantage of knowing policies, programs and the culture of the organization concerned (Schiavo-Campo and Sundaram 2000). On the other hand, the outside provider is more flexible and able to cater to a variety of training needs (ibid.).

Both on-the-job and off-the-job training methods serve well the various goals training has in civil service. Most commonly the motivational events (e.g. teambuilding) take place in the form of outdoor-type courses (Torrington et al. 2002). But as the theory suggests, any type of training functions as motivation (Bossaert 2008). New knowledge (e.g. new initiatives, developing time management and change in legislation) is best passed on in the format of classroom-type courses delivered by either an external or an internal provider (Torrington et al. 2002). Classroom-type courses embrace a big audience, which ensures that the target group gets the same information, and this also supports a common understanding of the topic. Job knowl-edge and skills are also passed on by on-the-job methods (coaching, mentoring); these methods are also good to accomplish change in employees' performance (Jacobs 2010) helping to fulfil the objectives of an organization, pass on values and support individual development (Torrington et al. 2002).

During cutbacks, organizations have to make use of methods which are affordable and yet effective. "Train smarter" and "doing more with less" become the catchwords (Felstead et al. 2012). Previous studies (Felstead et al. 2012; Vanhala 1995) have demonstrated that organizations shift from external to in-house and on-the-job training in time of retrenchment. Organizations have found that these methods cost less and are good ways to use in-house knowledge. The recent economic crisis also gave a boost to online and E-learning (Felstead et al. 2012). Organizations perceived E-learning to be a cheap, standardized, cost-cutting and highly flexible mode of training (ibid.).

4. The impact of cutback management on civil-service training in Estonia

4.1. Methodology

The paper aims to describe and explain the Estonian case and to analyze its implications for the theory. The following research question is posed: how has the cutback management affected civil-service training in Estonia during 2006-2011? The analysis is operationalized by looking at three key elements of civil-service training: budget, content and methods. The theoretical background derives from the cutback management and training literature. The empirical evidence is drawn from a qualitative analysis. The paper makes use of several information resources: official statistics of Ministry of Finance, analysis of public documents, public-service legislation, previous academic research on the Estonian public service and the findings of a research project

commissioned by the Estonian Ministry of Finance, where the author of this paper served as an analyst. The statistics presented in this paper reflects training in ministries, boards and inspectorates, constitutional institutions, county governments and local governments. In addition, all together 34 semi-structured interviews were conducted in May-June 2011 and in January 2013. The interviews addressed the training managers of ministries, boards and inspectorates, local governments and the Government Office, secretary generals, deputy secretary generals, county governors and experts in the field. 20 interviews were conducted with human-resource management/ training managers. 7 interviews were conducted with top civil servants. And the remaining 7 interviews were conducted with experts and interested parties. Interviews served as a means to triangulate the information that was gathered from documents.

4.2. Estonian public administration and civil-service training system

Estonia is a unitary state territorially divided into counties, rural municipalities and cities. As of 31 December 2011, there were 27,369 public servants in Estonia, forming 5% of the total work-force of the country. The Estonian public service involves both the civil service (central government) and the local-government service. Only the core of the public administration (ministries, government organizations and county governments) is covered by the open, position-based civil-service system established in 1995 by the Public Service Act. In the rest of the agencies, people work under the general labor law. A few branches within the civil service are careerbased and are regulated by special statutes: foreign service, police service, border guard, the court system and a few institutions within the administrative area of the Ministry of Defence. In April 2013, the new Public Service Act was implemented, which restricts the 1995 institutionally-based definition of the civil service even more and re-orients the system towards differentiating between officials who are engaged in executing the public power and employees who do not have this function (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013).

After regaining independence from the Soviet Union in August 1991 Estonia inherited an institutionally fragmented administrative system with a high number of relatively autonomous individual organizations (Sarapuu 2011). A central trait of the Estonian administrative system is its reliance on ministerial responsibility. Although the eleven ministries are small, they form strong administrative actors that have considerable leverage over the issues (including the organization of people management) belonging to their areas of governance (Sarapuu 2012). Such a decentralized system is accompanied by weak and fragmented central coordination. There are a few government institutions which have specific responsibilities in coordinating administrative policy:

• The Ministry of Finance is responsible for the general development of public administration, the development of personnel and training policy, the development of remuneration policy in the civil service, the planning and implementation of civil-service training and development, the promotion of quality development in the civil service, the development of the strategic-planning system for the central government, the reform of budgetary procedures and financial management;

- The Government Office (formerly called State Chancellery) is responsible for coordinating the recruitment, selection and development system of civil-service top executives;
- The Ministry of Justice is responsible for general public-law development, including civil-service legislation;
- The Ministry of Interior is in charge of the development of regional and local administration.

Since the late 2000s, the increasing demand for better horizontal integration of policy sectors and for a whole-of-government approach has been acknowledged by the government (Sarapuu 2011). The general trend of reforms over the two decades has been towards aggregating the system and establishing mechanisms for steering, control and cooperation (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). Yet, the central coordinating units in the system, such as the Government Office and the Ministry of Finance are equipped with restricted coordinating powers and, in addition, often constrained by limited resources. By 2013, there is neither a central human resource strategy (Järvalt and Randma-Liiv 2010) nor a clear and targeted top-down steering of the development of the civil service. No single institution at the central-government level has the power and the necessary resources to develop and implement the central-government-wide civil-service policy (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013).

In line with the general structure of public administration and public service, the training system is also decentralized in Estonia. The planning and implementation of training activities is largely the responsibility of the individual institutions. Deriving from the open position-based system, training is not a mandatory requirement of career development. The Public Service Act stipulates that public servants' training needs are decided by the manager. Every ministry, board and inspectorate, constitutional institution, county government and local government has its own training budget. A part of the training and development activities is centrally funded and coordinated. The Ministry of Finance (State Administration and the Civil Service Department) administers the central training budget. Since 2008 the amount of the central training budget is divided between the European Social Fund (85%) and own financing (15%). The central training budget is used to offer centralized training programs including training activities which are based on horizontal training needs.

As public organizations are in charge of a substantial part of the training budget, they are free to decide on the training content (job-specific and general civil-service training), training methods and choose training providers. For this reason throughout the years an open and very diverse training market has evolved. A research project of the Estonian civil-service training system (Sarapuu et al. 2011) concludes that most of the training providers offer similar (rather basic-level) courses based on private-sector experience. The Centre for Public Service Training and Development under the Ministry of the Interior is not an active partner to the Ministry of Finance. The Centre is not capable of fulfilling the role of central training institution in the way it is in most highly developed countries' civil-service training systems (ibid.).

Besides the Ministry of Finance, the two other central actors in the training system are the Government Office and the Ministry of Interior. The Government Office

is in charge of the development of top civil servants. A variety of development activities have been launched for slightly less than one hundred top civil-service executives (e.g. specially designed training and development programs, individual coaching and mentoring, development of future leaders). Similarly to the central training program the development of top civil servants is to a substantial part funded by the European Social Fund: 85% of the total funding comes from the EU and 15% from the Estonian state budget.

Although by statute the Ministry of Interior is responsible for the development of the local governments, a systematic approach to local-level training is lacking, as there are no long-term strategies, no overview of the target groups and no central analyses of training needs on the local-government level (Sarapuu et al. 2011). The division of responsibilities between the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Interior in developing a training system for local governments is not defined.

4.3. The impact of cutbacks on civil-service training

Estonia was one of the first countries to be affected by the global financial crisis and among the most strongly affected ones (Staehr 2010; Peters et al. 2011; Raudla and Kattel 2011). The GDP fell by 3.7% and 14.3% in 2008 and 2009 respectively (Kattel and Raudla 2013). Shortly after the outbreak of the crisis, the Estonian government turned to consolidation measures, which were taken already in 2008 and continued in 2009, when cuts in the budget were made on two occasions (Peters et al. 2011). The government adopted across-the-board cutback strategies which delegated the right to decide on cutback measures (layoffs, wage reductions, abolition of fringe benefits or other measures) to single organizations (Raudla 2013). Government operational expenditure was the main source for cuts, as the cuts made were 7% in 2008, 7% in February 2009 and 8% in June 2009 (Jõgiste et al. 2012; Kattel and Raudla 2013). As a result, the Estonian public service saw reductions in workforce, and consequently in 2011 there were 8.8% less civil servants than before the crisis in 2008. Moreover, civil-service salaries were sliced back by 10-20% (Peters et al. 2011). A detailed description of the cutback-management impact on training budget, content and methods will be given below.

4.3.1 Civil-service training budget

Training activities in the Estonian civil service were financed from different resources: the central training budget administered by the Ministry of Finance (including EU structural funds), training budgets of ministries, agencies, local governments and foreign aid (funding from smaller international projects) (Sarapuu et al. 2011). Characteristically to a decentralized system, most civil-service training was financed from the budgets of individual institutions. In 2010, the total training costs in ministries, boards and inspectorates, constitutional institutions, county governments and local governments were about 5 million Euros, while the budget of the central training program was 332,000 Euros (Statistics of Ministry of Finance).

The central training budget was used for horizontal training activities. The budget was divided into two parts: one part for a central training program targeted at all

public servants and the other for the development of around 90 top civil servants. Since 2008, both sub-divisions were to a substantial part funded by the European Social Fund: 85% of the total funding came from the EU and 15% from the Estonian state budget, which made it possible to offer these training and development activities free of charge. As the budget of the central training program was funded by the European Social Fund and was already fixed for the period of 2010-2011 the cutbacks did not have an influence on the central training budget. Table 2 demonstrate that central training funds increased over the years.

Year	Total budget		
2006	255,384		
2007	165,017		
2008	117,550		
2009	703,027		
2010	556,031		
2011	819,000		

Table 2:	Funding	of central	training	(in Euros)	
----------	---------	------------	----------	------------	--

Source: Statistics obtained from Ministry of Finance

The impact of cutback management was the hardest at the level of ministries, boards and inspectorates, constitutional institutions, county governments and local governments. During 2006-2008 the training costs increased consistently. A drastic fall in training costs in 2009 was directly influenced by the austerity measures. The training costs decreased by 60.6% in public-sector organizations. Besides applying across-the-board cuts the government decision to abolish the requirement to spend 2-4% of the annual payroll on training was made as a consequence of the worsening economic situation in 2009 and increased the discretion of organizations by allowing them to substantially cut training costs (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). After the abolishment the act stipulated that funds for professional education and training for employees and civil servants of state authorities shall be prescribed in case of available budgetary resources. A slight growth in training costs was evident in 2010 and 2011. Growth was possible due to more active use of foreign aid. In local governments the training costs still decreased in 2010.



Source: Statistics obtained from Ministry of Finance Figure 1: Training costs 2006-2011(in Euros)

The influence of cutback management is also evident when looking at the share of training costs from the payroll in the period of 2006-2011 and the number of civil servants trained (see Figure 2 and Figure 3). Before the cutbacks in training budgets, the training costs constituted approximately 3% of the payroll. In 2009, the share of funds spent on training from the civil servants' payroll decreased to its lowest level constituting approximately 1.4% of the payroll. A small growth in training costs took place in 2010 and 2011 (training costs constituted approximately 1.8% of the payroll).



Source: Statistics obtained from Ministry of Finance

Figure 2: Share of training costs from the payroll 2006-2011

The number of civil servants who received training during 2006-2011 (Figure 3) is very expressive in describing the considerable drop in training opportunities. A drastic fall occurred in 2008 when the number of civil servants who participated in training dropped from 21,126 to 15,987 civil servants. In sum, statistics clearly demonstrates the drop in training budgets in the Estonian public sector. Due to the European Social Funds, the budget of central training did not change.



Source: Statistics obtained from Ministry of Finance Figure 3: The number of civil servants participating in training activities during 2006-2011

4.3.2 Content of civil-service training programs

The Ministry of Finance addressed general civil-service training needs by administering the central training program targeted at all civil servants. The central training program was a basis for creating common practices, knowledge, skills and values across the civil service. For example, civil servants had horizontal training on civilservice core values and ethics, the Estonian language, policy-making skills, better provision of public services and human-resource-management skills. The Government Office offered various development activities to the top civil-service group on diverse subjects like innovation, leadership, strategic-management, policy-making, coordination, quality of public services etc.

Interestingly, the content of the central training program and the top civil-servants development program did not change during cutbacks. Program leaders did not introduce new topics to the curriculum, nor did they abolish planned training events. Although it has been discussed that crisis requires new competencies, new programs were not offered to the civil servants. One explanation for this is that the training programs were already confirmed for two-year periods², and so it was complicated

² Top civil-servants training and development programs were approved for the periods of 2008-2009 and 2010-2011; the central training program was approved for the periods of 2008-2009 and 2010-2011.

to introduce changes to the curriculum, though not impossible. Secondly, changes occurred rapidly so program leaders could not respond accordingly to the emerging needs. Evaluating horizontal training needs is a long process lacking a systematic approach and resulting eventually in the discretion and competency of a limited number of personnel in State Administration and the Civil Service Department (see Sarapuu et al. 2011). Thirdly, the interviews revealed that civil servants themselves did not show an interest in special training which would support them to cope with the then on-going changes. The same applies to top civil servants who were busy with dealing with the cutbacks without paying attention to their own development in the same sphere. It can be concluded that training topics resulting from specific competencies required in times of crisis did not get attention during cutbacks. These training needs were nor evaluated or targeted due to the lack of resources and interest. But on a more positive note, as the central training was financed by the European Social Fund all planned training events took place even during cutbacks.

The impact of the cutbacks on the content of training is clearly visible on the organizational level. The decentralized nature of the training system and across-theboard cuts left a great discretion to organizations in choosing training content. Cutbacks in training budgets forced training managers to prioritize training programs. Interviewees said that their organizations tried to retain job-specific training to guarantee the functioning of an organization, and the cuts were made at the expense of general training and so-called "motivational events". Interviewees also confirmed that in times of budget cuts, it was not possible to introduce new training topics because introducing a new topic requires a large amount of resources (time, money, and competencies).

Job-specific training was the most commonly used method already in 2006, but it peaked (57% of the total amount of training hours) in 2009. As a result general civil service-training decreased. Statistics show (see Figure 4^3) that training specific to an organization's core function was followed by language courses, law courses, training on communication psychology and other training topics. The amount of language courses decreased during the period of 2006-2011 (approximately from 14% to 7%). There was a slight increase in law courses in 2007 (from 5% to 6%), yet a decrease in 2008 and 2009 (from 6% to 4%), and again a slight increase in 2010 and 2011 (6% in both years). From 2006-2008 communicationpsychology courses constituted around 4% of the total amount of training hours. A drop occurred in 2009, when these courses formed around 2%. 2010 and 2011 witnessed a slight increase (3% and 4% respectively). In sum, as a reaction to the cutbacks in training budgets training managers prioritized training programs and chose to retain training specific to the core function of an organization in order to guarantee the functioning of an organization; the cuts were made at the expense of general training topics and motivational events. The Ministry of Finance and the Government Office continued providing general civil-service training as planned regarding the amount and the content.

³ The statistics do not reflect training delievered from the central training budget.



Source: Statistics obtained from of Ministry of Finance Figure 4: **Content of civil service training in 2006-2011 (% of total amount of training hours)**

4.3.3 Civil-service training methods

The Ministry of Finance collects data about in-house courses, outsourced group training, external training, self-development and E-learning. In-house courses are courses run by an employee from the organization; outsourced group training is offered by external expertise to staff from the same organization; external training is provided in a format of courses run by consultants or professional bodies for people from varying occupational backgrounds; E-learning is a learning activity which is supported by information and communication technologies; self-development is a learning activity in which the civil servant independently acquires knowledge and skills related to a specific purpose. In-house courses and E-learning are off-the-job training methods and delivered internally. Outsourced group training and external training are also off-the-job training methods with the difference that training is delivered by an external provider. Self-development takes place on the job and can be considered to be delivered internally.

Characteristically to a decentralized training system, the substance of Estonian civil-service training was almost entirely pending on what the training market could offer (Sarapuu et al. 2011). Outsourced group training bought in from the training market was the most frequently used training method from 2006 to 2008 (see Figure 5). The share of group training remained around 35% through these years. The second most often used method was external training, amounting to 34%. In-house courses formed about 22%. The share of self-development and E-learning remained modest.

The image of the most frequently used training methods changed substantially in 2009. The amount of in-house courses increased and became the most regularly used training method in the period of 2009-2011 (forming approximately 36%). The

amount of outsourced group training decreased (forming approximately 32% in 2009-2011) as did the amount of external training (forming approximately 24% in 2009-2011). These changes were directly influenced by the training-budget cuts. Together with focusing on organizations' core function training managers sought ways to be more cost-effective. So, cutbacks in budgets brought along the preference for in-house courses in order to make use of the expertise in the organization and to save money. Internal experts had the advantage of knowing the policies, programs and culture of the organization concerned. Also, organizing in-house courses was cheaper compared to outsourced group training, which was accompanied with high transaction costs and did not always fulfil the needs of an organization. Offering inhouse courses entailed problems with motivating employees who were not interested in offering training courses to others because they were occupied with their daily work. Offering in-house courses also raised the question of civil-service ethics and conflicts of interest. However, interviews revealed that in smaller organizations (like local governments) where civil servants have very different tasks, the in-house courses were not so relevant.

Although E-learning and self-development methods are believed to be cheap, standardized, cost-cutting and highly flexible modes of training, these methods were not preferred even before the cutbacks, and their frequency of use did not increase after the cutbacks, either. The frequency of self-development decreased already before the cutbacks, remaining between 3% and 5%. E-learning decreased from 2009 on and formed approximately 1% of the training methods in 2011. These tendencies refer to under-utilization of alternative training methods in civil service. It can be argued that it is costly and time-consuming to introduce new training methods in times of budget cuts.



Source: Statistics obtained from Ministry of Finance Figure 5: **Training methods used in 2006-2011 (% of total amount of training methods used)**

5. Discussion

There are no comprehensive studies on the impact of cutback management on training in civil service. Crisis literature briefly mentions cutbacks in civil-service training budgets without thoroughly analyzing what impact cutbacks have on training content and methods. However, a certain amount of relevant studies conducted among private-sector companies demonstrate the impact of the reductions on training budget, content and methods. Most of the studies reveal that the training budget is often the first saving target which leads to prioritizing training content and choosing cost-effective training methods. The current study indicates several other interesting points which explain the Estonian case and complement the existing knowledge about training during the cutbacks.

Firstly, the Estonian case revealed that the public-sector response to crisis is similar to the private-sector reaction in the sense that in times of financial difficulties training budgets are cut. The budget cuts in public organizations are, of course, determined by various decisions made on the central level. Based on the Estonian case it is possible to point to two decisions made after the burst of the crisis which smoothened the way for drastic cuts in civil-service training budgets. First, the central government decided to impose across-the-board cuts so organizations were free to choose the targets of cutbacks in their institution. Second, the government decision to abolish the requirement to spend 2-4% of the annual payroll on training increased the discretion of organizations by allowing them to substantially cut training costs.

Secondly, the civil-service training system itself influences the cutbacks in training budgets. The decentralized training system put the biggest training obligation to the individual organizations. As is noted by Lucking (2003) the decentralized training-funding model is vulnerable in financially hard times. Across-the-board cuts together with the decentralized civil-service training system increase the discretion of organizations by allowing them to substantially cut training costs. The decision to cut the training budget derives from decision-makers' attitudes towards training – for example from their belief that the benefits of training are doubtful. So, in the decentralized training system the impact of the cutback management on civil-service training is clearly visible at the organizational level. In the Estonian case the central training element remained unchanged. It was not due to the system but due to the source of the training funds, which leads to the third interesting finding.

Thirdly, closely linked to the previous argument, cuts in training budgets are influenced by the source of training funds. When the source of training funds is fixed, at least for some period, and is not the target of cuts (i.e. is not financed from the state budget), it is most probable that training activities will continue even in times of cutbacks. In the Estonian case, the central training program and the development of top civil servants were financed by the European Social Fund so the cutbacks did not have an effect on the central funding. Funding from the European Social Fund even increased over the past few years. As was already noted in the previous section, individual organizations carried the biggest burden of civil-service training. Interestingly, the cutback management points to the systematic problems of a training system. Although it has been a political decision to make use of EU funds as much as possible and external funding has undoubtedly been crucial in the provision of central training activities and the development of top officials, especially during the crisis, a strong reliance on EU funding raises questions about the financial sustainability of centrally provided training (Randma-Liiv et al. 2013). Furthermore, many public-sector organizations turned to external funding in order to provide training in organizations' core function. These resources were definitely crucial for organizations, but it raises serious concerns about the sustainability of the training-funding scheme.

Fourthly, it appears that training specific to an organization's core function is more or less recession-proof. When under pressure to prioritize training programs organizations choose to maintain job-specific training. Prioritizing training content is undoubtedly beneficial, making it possible to perform professionally, but at the same time the decline in general civil-service training undermines the accomplishment of civil-service training goals (motivating civil servants, retaining a highquality and high-performing workforce, raising civil servants awareness of their role and responsibility, introducing shared values that contribute to cross-departmental cooperation and public-service ethics).

Finally, cutbacks make it necessary to reconsider the ways in which training is delivered. Cutbacks in training budgets bring along the preference for in-house courses. In-house courses have the advantage of internal expertise and are relatively cheap. Yet, at least in civil service, offering in-house courses intensifies the need for developing unified principles because in-house courses entail problems with motivation, ethics and conflict of interest. Another interesting finding is that in times of cutbacks organizations are reluctant to introduce new (or previously underexploited) methods. It can be argued that taking up new methods of training would require high investments in terms of design time and other resources (e.g. hardware and software in the case of E-learning). At the same time, cutback management points to many shortages from which organizations can learn (for example, the need to develop on-the-job and in-house course practices).

6. Conclusion

The aim of the paper was to describe and explain the Estonian case and to analyze its implications for the theory. The Estonian case was remarkable as it was one of the countries hit hardest by the global financial crisis and because rather than pursuing devaluation and counter-cyclical fiscal policies, the government decided to cut public spending. The paper at hand demonstrated that central-level decisions and the decentralized training system led to major cuts in training budgets. The extent of cutbacks is different on the central and organizational level, depending on the source of training funding. The study also revealed that public-sector organizations retain training specific to an organization's core function and pay less attention to general civilservice training. They also obtain more cost-effective ways of delivering training.

It appears that cutbacks have positive and negative impacts on training. On the negative side, decreased training opportunities endanger the fulfilment of most of the training goals. On the positive side, cutbacks make it necessary to think about outcomes, priorities and saving costs. Furthermore, cutback management draws attention to many flaws in the system from which organizations can learn.
Merilin Metsma

The current study opens up several avenues for further research. Firstly, as was demonstrated, the structure and sources of training funding are crucial elements of the civil-service training system – the decentralized nature of the training system leads to major cuts in training budgets. Still it would be useful to study cutback management's impact on the centralized civil-service training system. Secondly, it is known that crises provide the opportunity for adopting longer-term solutions and for undertaking reforms. Therefore, as the cutback management points to many systematic flaws in the training system, it would also be interesting to observe what kind of reforms, if any, cutbacks will initiate. This case study demonstrated that the decentralized training-funding model is vulnerable in financially hard times, so one could assume more centralization in the system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Union's Seventh Framework Program under grant agreement No. 266887 (Project COCOPS), Socio-economic Sciences & Humanities and from the Estonian Science Foundation grant no. 9435.

References

- Armstrong, Michael. 2003. *A Handbook of Human Resource Management Practice*. 9th edn. London: Kogan Page Ltd.
- Becker, Gary S. 1962. "Investment in Human Capital: A Theoretical Analysis." *Journal of Political Economy* 70(5), 9-49.
- Bossaert, Danielle. 2008. *Training and Human Resource Development in the EuropeanUnion Member States: New Practices and Innovative Trends*. Maastricht: European Institute of Public Administration.
- Bossaert, Danielle, Christoph Demmke, Koen Nomden, Robert Polet and Astrid Auer. 2001. *Civil Services in the Europe of Fifteen*. Maastricht: European Institute of Public Administration.
- Brunello, Giorgio. 2009. "The Effect of Economic Downturns on Apprenticeships and Initial Workplace Training: A Review of the Evidence." *IZA Discussion Paper* 4326. Available at http://crell.jrc.ec.europa.eu/download/Brunello. pdf (last accessed 23 June 2013).
- Carrel, Laurent F. 2000. "Training Civil Servants for Crisis Management." *Journal* of Contingencies and Crisis Management 8(4), 192-196.
- Cayer, N. Joseph. 1986. "Management Implications of Reduction in Force." *Public* Administration Quarterly 10(1), 36-49.
- Cepiku, Denita and Andrea Bonomi Savignon. 2012. "Governing Cutback Manage-

The Impact of Cutback Management on Civil-Service Training: The Case of Estonia

ment: Is There a Global Strategy for Public Administrations?" *International Journal of Public Sector Management* 25(6/7), 428-436.

- Felstead, Alan and Francis Green. 1994. "Training During the Recession." Work, Employment and Society 8(2), 199-219.
- Felstead, Alan, Francis Green and Nick Jewson. 2012. "An Analysis of the Impact of the 2008-9 Recession on the Provision of Training in the UK." *Work, Employment and Society* 26(6), 968-986.
- Freibert, Anke. 1997. "The Challenges of Training the Public Service During Transition and in an Unstable Environment." In Jak Jabes and Marie Christine Meininger (eds). La Formation dans la Fonction Publique: Enjeux et Perspectives. Civil Service Training: Challenges and Prospects. Slovakia: NISPAcee Press, 28-33.
- Jacobs, Ronald L. 2010. *Structured On-the-Job Training: Unleashing Employee Expertise in the Workplace*. 2nd edn. San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Järvalt, Jane and Tiina Randma-Liiv. 2010. "Public Sector HRM: The Case of No Central Human Resource Strategy." *Baltic Journal of Management* 5(2), 242-256.
- Jõgiste, Kadri, Peeter Peda and Giuseppe Grossi. 2012. "Budgeting in a Time of Austerity: The Case of the Estonian Central Government." *Public Administration and Development* 32(2), 181-195.
- Kattel, Rainer. 2009. "The Rise and Fall of the Baltic States." *Development and Transition* 13, 11-13.
- Kattel, Rainer and Ringa Raudla. 2013. "The Baltic Republics and the Crisis of 2008-2011." *Europe-Asia Studies* 65(3), 426-449.
- Kitching, John. 2008. "Rethinking UK Small Employers' Skills Policies and the Role of Workplace Learning." *International Journal of Training and Development* 12(2), 100-120.
- Kitching, John and Robert Blackburn. 2002. "The Nature of Training and Motivation to Train in Small Firms." *Research Report*. Available at http://dera.ioe. ac.uk/4691/1/RR330.pdf (last accessed 11 February 2013).
- Levine, Charles H. 1979. "More on Cutback Management: Hard Questions for Hard Times." *Public Administration Review* 39(2), 179-183.
- Levine, Charles H. 1978. "Organizational Decline and Cutback Management." *Public Administration Review* 38(4), 316-325.
- Lodge, Martin and Christopher Hood. 2012. "Into an Age of Multiple Austerities? Public Management and Public Service Bargains Across OECD Countries." *Governance* 25(1), 79-101.
- Lucking, Richard. 2003. "Lessons on Best Practice in the Approach to Civil Service Training." *Civil Service Training in the Context of Public Administration Reform: A Comparative Study of Selected Countries from Central and Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union (1989 to 2003).* Available at http://unpanl.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/untc/unpan013648. pdf (last accessed 29 June 2012).
- Majumdar, Sumon. 2007. "Market Conditions and Worker Training: How Does it Affect and Whom?" *Labour Economics* 14, 1-23.

Merilin Metsma

- Maor, Moshe. 2000. "A Comparative Perspective on Executive Development: Trends in 11 European Countries." *Public Administration* 78(1), 135-152.
- Mason, Geoff and Kate Bishop. 2010. "Adult Training, Skills Updating and Recession in the UK: The Implications for Competitiveness and Social Inclusion." *Centre for Learning and Life Chances in Knowledge Economies and Societies Research Paper*. Available at http://www.llakes.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/08/T.-Adult-Training-Skills-Updating-and-Recession.pdf (last accessed 23 June 2013).
- Onofrei, Mihaela and Dan Lupu. 2010. "The Dimension of Public Administration in Central and Eastern European Countries in the Current Financial Crisis." *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences* 29E, 109-124.
- Paddock, Susan C. 1997. "Benchmarks in Management Training." *Public Personnel Management* 26(4), 441-461.
- Peters, B. Guy, Jon Pierre and Tiina Randma-Liiv. 2011. "Global Financial Crisis, Public Administration and Governance: Do New Problems Require New Solutions?" *Public Organization Review* 11(1), 13-27.
- Pollitt, Christopher. 2010. "Cuts and Reforms Public Services as We Move Into a New Era." Society and Economy: Journal of the Corvinus University of Budapest 32(1), 17-31.
- Pollitt, Christopher and Liesbeth Op de Beeck. 2010. "Training Top Civil Servants: A Comparative Analysis." *Report*. Available at http://soc.kuleuven. be/io/eng/publications/detail/IO06050104.htm (last accessed 11 February 2013).
- Randma, Tiina. 2002. "Public Personnel Management." In Glen Wright and Juraj Nemec (eds). *Public Management in the Central and Eastern European Transition: Concepts and Cases.* Bratislava: NISPAcee Press, 179-282.
- Randma-Liiv, Tiina, Merilin Metsma and Külli Sarapuu. 2013. "Between Continuity and Change: The Analysis of the Estonian Civil Service Training System." In Mirko Vintar, Allan Rosenbaum, György Jenei and Wolfgang Drechsler (eds). *The Past, Present and the Future of Public Administration in Central and Eastern Europe*. Bratislava: NISPAcee Press, 195-218.
- Rao, M.S. 2009. "Is Cutting Development and Training in a Recession a Good Idea? Looking at the IT and ITeS sector in India." *Development and Learning in Organizations* 23(5), 7-9.
- Raudla, Ringa. 2013. "Fiscal Retrenchment in Estonia during the Financial Crisis: The Role of Institutional Factors." *Public Administration* 91(1), 32-50.
- Raudla, Ringa and Rainer Kattel. 2011. "Why Did Estonia Choose Fiscal Retrenchment after the 2008 Crisis?" *Journal of Public Policy* 31(2), 163-186.
- Raudla, Ringa, Riin Savi and Tiina Randma-Liiv. 2013. Literature Review on Cutback Management. COCOPS Deliverable D7.1. Available at http://www. cocops.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2013/03/COCOPS_Deliverable_7_1.pdf (last accessed 13 June 2013).
- Rusaw, A. Carol and Michael F. Rusaw. 2008 "The Role of HRD in Integrated Crisis Management: A Public Sector Approach." *Advances in Developing Human Resources* 10(3), 380-396.
- Sarapuu, Külli. 2012. "Estonia." In K. Verhoest, S. van Thiel, G. Bouckaert and P.

The Impact of Cutback Management on Civil-Service Training: The Case of Estonia

Lægreid (eds). *Government Agencies: Practices and Lessons from 30 Countries*. Houndmills, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 277-287.

- Sarapuu, Külli. 2011. "Post-Communist Development of Administrative Structure in Estonia: From Fragmentation to Segmentation." *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences* 35(4), 54-73.
- Sarapuu, Külli, Tiina Randma-Liiv, Annika Uudelepp and Merilin Metsma. 2011. Avaliku Teenistuse Koolitussüsteemi ja Arenguvajaduste Analüüs [The Analysis of Civil Service Training System and Development Needs of Estonia]. Available at http://www.praxis.ee/fileadmin/tarmo/Projektid/Valitsemine_ja_kodanike%C3BChiskond/ATKOS_loppraport_2011.pdf (last accessed 14 June 2013).
- Schiavo-Campo, Salvatore and Pachampet Sundaram. 2000. "Investing in Government Personnel." In Salvatore Schiavo-Campo and Pachampet Sundaram (eds). To Serve and To Preserve: Improving Public Administration in a Competitive World. Philippines: Asian Development Bank, 465-494.
- Staehr, Karsten. 2010. "The Global Financial Crisis and Public Finances in the New EU Countries in Central and Eastern Europe: Developments and Challenges." *Public Finance and Management* 10(4), 671-712.
- Statistics of Ministry of Finance. Available at http://www.avalikteenistus.ee/index. php?id=10691 (last accessed 24 June 2013).
- Swanson, Richard A. and Rita L. Dobbs. 2006. "The Future of Systemic and Systematic Training." *Advances in Developing Human Resources* 8(4), 548-554.
- Torrington, Derek, Laura Hall and Stephen Taylor. 2002. "Learning and Development." In Derek Torrington, Laura Hall and Stephen Taylor (eds). *Human Resource Management*. Essex: Pearson Education Limited, 423-439.
- Vanhala, Sinikka. 1995. "Human Resource Management in Finland." *Employee Relations* 17(7), 31-56.
- Wickramasinghe, Vathsala and Gayan Perera. 2012. "HRM Practices during the Global Recession (2008-2010) Evidence From Globally Distributed Software Development Firms in Sri Lanka." *Strategic Outsourcing: An International Journal* 5(3), 188-212.

MERILIN METSMA is a PhD student at the Ragnar Nurkse School of Innovation and Governance at Tallinn University of Technology. Her main research interest is in civil-service systems. Correspondence: Ragnar Nurkse School of Innovation and Governance, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 3, Tallinn 12618, Estonia; E-mail: metsmamerilin@gmail.com.

Appendix

Article IV

Randma-Liiv, T., **Metsma, M.,** & Sarapuu, K. (2013). Between Continuity and Change: The Analysis of the Estonian Civil Service Training System. In M. Vintar, A. Rosenbaum, G. Jenei, & W. Drechsler (Eds.), *The Past, Present and the Future of Public Administration in Central and Eastern Europe* (pp. 195–218). Bratislava: NISPAcee Press.

I HE PAST, PRESENT AND THE FUTURE OF PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION IN CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE

- Nemec, Juraj. 2008, "Public Management Reforms in CEE: Lessons Learned." In Geert Bouckaert, Juraj Nemec, Vitalis Nakrosis, György Hajnal and Kristiina Tonnisson (eds). *Public Management Reforms in Central and Eastern Europe.* Bratislava: NISPAcee Press, 287–313.
 - Nicolescu, Ovidiu, Ion Verboncu and Marius Profiroiu. 2010. Romanian Management Health Status and Escaping of Crisis. Bucharest: Media 10 Publishing House.
- Pollitt, Christopher. 2008. "An Overview of the Papers and Propositions of the First Trans-European Dialogue (TED1)." *NISPAcee Journal of Public Administration and Policy* 1(2), 9–16.
 - Preda, Marian and Vlad Grigoraş. 2011. "The Public Pension System in Romania: Myths and Facts." Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences 32E, 235–251.
- Profiroiu, Marius, Andrei Tudorel, Dincă Dragoș and Radu Carp. 2006. *Reforma administratiei publice în contextul integrarii europene*. Studii de impact III. Institutul European din România. Available at http://www.ier.ro/documente/studiideimpactPaisIII_ro/Pais3_studiu_3 ro.pdf
- Seybert, Heidi. "Internet use in households and by individuals in 2011", Eurostat. Industry, trade and services, 66/ 2011.
- Şandor, Sorin and Ciprian Tripon. 2009. "Romanian Public Servants on Public Administration Reforms." Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences 24E, 111–122.
- Verheijen, Tony. 1998. "Public Management in Central and Eastern Europe: The Nature of the Problem." In Tony Verheijen and David Coombes (eds). Innovations in Public Management: Perspectives from East and West Europe. Cheltenham, Edward Elgar.

Between Continuity and Change: The Analysis of the Estonian Civil-Service Training System

TIINA RANDMA-LIIV, MERILIN METSMA, KÜLLI SARAPUU

1. Introduction

plementation. The development of modern civil services has presumed, among ment of civil servants to the center of attention by politicians, public-service leaders and academics. Modern governments depend to a great extent on the work of national civil services and their employees (Demmke and Moilanen 2010, 1). Civil service is believed to be one of the most important institutions securing democratic public governance, contributing to administrative capacity, supporting economic development and securing states' competitiveness (Verheijen 1999; Dimitrova 2002; Meyer-Sahling 2011; Peters et al. 2011). The role of civil service as a separate institution is to attract and retain a high-quality and high-performance vorkforce, to establish a foundation for cooperation between government instiutions and to ensure professional continuity in public administration. Also, civil service secures common and shared values among state organizations. Civil-service training has a vital role to play in meeting these objectives. The development of a new generation of professional and democratically-minded civil servants has been especially relevant in the context of the Central and Eastern European (CEE) transition to democracy that has demanded the formation of competent and meritocratic civil services able to support democratic policy-making and imother things, the establishment of effective systems for defining and addressing The public sector worldwide has been under pressure to improve its performance in pursuit of more efficiency and effectiveness, and in order to revive the citizens' trust in public institutions. The quest for a well-performing public sector and, more broadly, for good governance has brought the competence and developthe training needs.

A number of researchers (e.g. Goetz 2001; Verheijen 1998; Meyer-Sahling 2009, 2011; Zubek and Goetz 2010; Bouckaert et al. 2010) have already considered various aspects of public-management reforms in new CEE democracies. Yet, the civil-service – and more particularly, civil-service-training – component of these reform attempts has not received sufficient academic attention so far. On the one hand, there are a few studies that look upon general civil-service developments in CEE (Verheijen 1999; Randma 2002; Bossaert and Demmke 2003; Meyer-Sahling 2011; Randma-Liiv and Järvalt 2011) without going in depth into analyzing civil-service training. On the other hand, another group of existing studies

A MOLLATE LINU.

(OECD 1997a; OECD 1997b; Lucking 2003; Bossaert 2008; Lavtar 2008; ReSPA 2008; Vukovic et al. 2008) focus on civil-service training with particular emphasis on training needs and the substance of training programs. None of the existing studies has paid close attention to the evolvement, design and actual functioning of civil-service training *systems* in the context of post-communist transition. The paper at hand proposes to make up for that deficit.

The focus of this paper is on the Estonian civil-service training system: its structure, evolvement and functioning. The aim is not to investigate civil-service training needs, but to analyze the system that addresses those needs. The following research questions are posed:

- How has the Estonian civil-service training system evolved?
- What are the strengths and weaknesses of the Estonian civil-service training system?
- What lessons can be learnt for the development of decentralized civil-service systems?

The paper starts with a theoretical overview, which sheds light on the role of training in a civil-service system. This is followed by the presentation of an indepth case study of the evolvement of the Estonian civil-service training system, stretching from Estonia's regaining of independence in 1991 to 2012, an analysis of the present system, an analytical discussion and lessons learnt. Empirical evidence is drawn from the analysis of various public documents, interviews and the findings of a research project commissioned by the Estonian Ministry of Finance "The Analysis of Civil Service Training System and Development Needs of Estonia", conducted by the authors of this paper in 2011.

2. The role of training in civil-service systems

Civil-service training reflects challenges that a particular country is facing as well as the developmental stage of and current prevailing trends in its public administration (Schiavo-Campo and Sundaram 2001; Bossaert 2008). The role of training can be divided into three levels: the individual level, the positional/organizational level and the level of civil service as a whole. On the individual level, training is part of the motivation system (Bossaert 2008) as it provides civil servants with opportunities to move to new positions and develop their careers through developing their skills and competencies. Good training and development opportunities may thus increase the attractiveness of civil-service careers. On the positional/organizational level, training is related to the implementation of tasks and focuses on developing skills and competencies in order to fulfill objectives

of the organization. The performance of organizations and their ability to implement policies depends by and large on the qualities of their members and on the organizations' ability to learn and adapt. Training on the organizational level is highly important in transition countries as they are going through organizational changes, e.g. establishment of new management systems, structural changes or implementation of new laws (ReSPA 2008, 8; Chlivickas 2010, 361). All these changes require new skills and competencies in order to prepare and implement them successfully.

related competencies from civil servants (Meyer-Sahling 2009). Finally, the main challenges following the EU accession were related to increasing professionalism performing workforce (Järvalt and Randma-Liiv 2010). For newly democratic countries, competent civil service is very important as countries in immediate cratic institutions, preparing and implementing a great amount of new laws and policies, supporting the development of democratic values). Regime change creates a situation where both "old" and "new" civil servants require fundamental (re)training in order to adapt to the new roles and requirements set forth to civil servants in democratic societies (Randma-Liiv and Connaughton 2005). Besides the communist legacy, most CEE civil services have been affected by the EU accession in the late 1990s and early 2000s. Joining the EU called for higher professionalism in every policy field as the EU made the establishment of a professional civil service a "soft" requirement for the EU membership and assumed new EUin order to influence the decisions of the EU, as well as to making the decision-This study addresses the system level – the entire national civil-service system as a separate institution which has several functions and where training has a crucial role supporting the implementation of these functions (Van der Meer 2011, 3). First, civil service can be seen as a personnel-management system. In this regard, the main role of the civil service is to attract and retain a high-quality and highpost-communist transition face many specific challenges (e.g. building up demomaking processes more transparent, trustworthy and knowledge-based.

Second, civil service can function as a mechanism of accountability and control. From this perspective, civil service describes the basis of accountability of civil servants and contributes to the differentiation between political and administrative spheres by drawing the line between public positions with different principles of access. Furthermore, civil service ensures preventing the misuse of power and helps to secure the legal and transparent use of public resources. This function of civil service helps public officials to acknowledge their role and responsibility. Such an acknowledgement has been of critical importance in the postcommunist countries of CEE with their need to reorient from single-party rule and serving political elite to democratic governing and serving the public. Train-

ing is a particularly valuable mechanism to raise civil servants' awareness of their role and responsibility in a democratic public administration and to contribute to the development of public-service ethics (Chlivickas et al. 2002; Randma-Liiv and Connaughton 2005; Bossaert 2008; Trendafilova 2008). Last, and certainly not least, civil service can be seen as a system of symbols and values. Training is an instrument for the development of shared values and knowledge in the civil 2008). The development of a common knowledge and value base throughout service, which form a basis for coherent policy-making and analysis (Bossaert the civil service is likely to create a solid foundation for coordination and cooperation between different institutions and also ensure a similar development stage and management principles throughout the executive (Peters 1998). Shared values provide a basis on which to give practical ethical judgments since many every civil-service system involves conflicting values (e.g. flexibility vs. stabilservice functions as a creator and maintainer of a unified identity throughout civil-service daily operations are related to decisions which are value-based, and ity, economy vs. professionalism, merit vs. representativeness). Therefore, civil the executive, which is transferred and cemented through the training process. Whereas in "old democracies", public-service training traditionally revolves around skills and competencies, training efforts in CEE countries are expected -

Training objectives can be achieved through a well-designed and functioning training system. However, several authors researching the CEE states have even impede the progress in public administration (see e.g. World Bank 2006; Chlivickas 2008; Meyer-Sahling 2009). Specific characteristics of civil-service reached the conclusion that existing training systems are poorly developed and training systems require a closer look in order to develop a framework for identifying system flaws and pinpointing critical factors for success.

differ with regard to the presence and importance given to the central coordi-The analysis of civil-service training systems can be operationalized by looking, first, at the relevant institutions (actors). Training in civil service is usually administered and/or organized by several institutions. For example, countries nating institutions responsible for training, and the role that central civil-service training centers play in the entire system (see e.g. Bossaert et al. 2001; Lucking 2003; OECD 2008; Meyer-Sahling 2009). Funding of civil-service training is another important component of a training system as different funding models operationalize roles and relationships of various actors. Funding is a fundamen-

or or a central training institution. In a decentralized funding model, funds are allocated to individual ministries and agencies which administer the funds for training. Governments, however, tend to increasingly mix different civil-service systems and funding models (Lucking 2003) in order to compensate weaknesses al characteristic that affects both the quantity and the quality of civil-service training. In general, funding schemes can be divided into two: centralized and decentralized models (Lucking 2003, 10; Dujić et al. 2006). In case of a centralized model, funds are allocated from a state budget to a central civil-service coordinaof "pure" models. In usual Western practice, civil-service training systems have evolved over a long time and have been substantially affected by path dependency in both institutional setup and funding. The Estonian case study below will demonstrate how a civil-service training system has been developed from scratch in a newly independent country with a de-institutionalized administrative system and the freedom to choose different paths of development.

3. Estonian public administration and civil service

in addition to skill development - to specifically focus on the role and values of the public service, because in spite of the fact that two decades have elapsed since the beginning of democratic reforms in CEE, democratic values cannot be taken

for granted yet (Randma-Liiv and Järvalt 2011).

Estonia is a small parliamentary democracy with an area of 45,227 km² and a population of 1.29 million. The formal Head of State, the President, mainly has a representative and ceremonial role. Estonia regained independence from the Soviet Union in August 1991. Since then, the Estonian state has gone through major economic and administrative reforms. The radical shift of political regime from communism to democracy necessitated changes in the institutional structure of the state. As Estonia inherited an institutionally fragmented administrative sysem with a high number of relatively autonomous individual organizations, the general trend of reforms over the two decades has been toward aggregating the system and establishing mechanisms for steering, control and cooperation (Sarapuu 2011).

ernance. Such a decentralized system has effectively reproduced itself and has network-type cooperation (Bouckaert et al. 2010) and in that way reinforce the The executive power rests with the government. A central trait of the Estonian administrative system is its reliance on ministerial responsibility. Although eleven ministries is a small number, they form strong administrative actors hat have considerable leverage over the issues belonging to their areas of govbeen reluctant in committing coordinating powers to some central units. Horizontal coordination mechanisms that have been built into the system (e.g. consultation of draft regulations, management of EU affairs) are mostly based on central role of ministries in deciding over the policies falling to their areas of

governance. The central coordinating units in the system such as the Govern-

BETWEEN CONTINUITY AND CHANGE: THE ANALYSIS OF THE ESTONIAN CIVIL-SERVICE TRAINING SYSTEM

ment Office and the Ministry of Finance are equipped with restricted coordinating powers and, in addition, often constrained by limited resources. Since the late 2000s, the increasing demand for better horizontal integration of policy sectors and for a whole-of-government approach has been acknowledged by the government (Sarapuu 2011).

As of 31 December 2010, there were 28,340 public servants in Estonia (Rahanministration (ministries, government organizations and county governments) is dusministeerium 2011), forming 5 % of the total work-force of the country (Statistics Estonia). The Estonian public service involves both the civil service (cengovernment) and local-government service. Only the core of the public adthe Public Service Act. In the rest of the agencies, people work under the general labor law. A few branches within the civil service are career-based and are covered by the open, position-based civil-service system established in 1995 by regulated by special statutes: foreign service, police service, border guard, the court system and a few institutions within the administrative area of the Ministry which restricts the 1995 institutionally-based definition of the civil service even more and re-orients the system toward differentiating officials who are engaged in executing the public power and employees who do not have this function. The goal has been to reduce the number of civil servants. In other respects, the reform further endorses the open and decentralized nature of the Estonian civil service of Defence. In June 2012, the new Public Service Act was passed in parliament, and aims to abolish the perceived "disparities" that there are between the civil service and private-sector employment (e.g. in redundancy benefits). The implementation of the law is expected in 2013. ral

The organization of people management in the civil service follows the generis responsible for the recruitment, probationary periods, training, performance appraisal, promotion, setting of pay levels and organization of the work of its ally decentralized setup of the government. Every ministry and executive agency officials. Ministries and executive agencies are guided by the legal framework and centrally set advisory guidelines. Minor exceptions concern top officials. The Competition and Evaluation Committee of Higher State Public Servants screens candidates and suggests the shortlisted applicants for the final selection to the relevant minister or to the Secretary General. Therefore, the final selection of top recruitment of around 100 top civil servants is partly centralized as the central civil servants is left to the individual institutions. This scheme does not cover the Secretary Generals of the ministries who are appointed by the Cabinet.

There is no institution at the central government level with single powers to develop the government's human-resource policy, as the management of the civil service is fragmented among several institutions (Meyer-Sahling 2009, 21; OECD 2011, 25). There are a few government institutions which have specific coordinating responsibilities:

- The Government Office (formerly called State Chancellery) is responsible for the recruitment, selection and development system of civil-service top executives:
- mentation of civil-service training and development, the promotion of quality development in the civil service, the development of the strategic planning system for the central government, the reform of budgetary procedures and The Ministry of Finance is responsible for the general development of public administration, the development of personnel and training policy, the development of remuneration policy in the civil service, the planning and implefinancial management;
- The Ministry of Justice is responsible for general public-law development, including civil-service legislation;
- The Ministry of Interior is in charge of the development of regional and local administration.

responsible institution for civil-service policy, its coordination activities have in policy design. By 2012, there is neither a horizontal civil-service strategy nor a clear and targeted top-down steering of the development of the civil service. No resources to develop and implement the central government-wide civil-service Previous studies have indicated that the current Estonian institutional framework does not guarantee the fulfillment of the functions that a central civil-service coordinator is expected to perform (Meyer-Sahling 2009; Järvalt and Randma-Liiv 2010). Although in 2010, the Ministry of Finance was designated as the been limited in most cases to technical functions without strategic involvement single institution at the central government level has the power and the necessary policy. The analysis below will take a closer look at the development and funcioning of the Estonian civil-service training system.

4. The Estonian civil-service training system

4.1 Evolvement of a decentralized training system in the 1990s

The Estonian civil-service training system has evolved over the past 20 years. The (990s can be described as a period of institution-building and an introduction of modern personnel policies in the public service. Among other things, the im-

mediate post-communist transition in Estonia caused high turnover in the public service. Changes in personnel were especially marked in 1992–1993, when 37 % of public servants were replaced (Drechsler 2003). By 2000, the proportion of Estonian public servants who had worked in the public service for less than 10 years reached 76 % (Riigikantselei 2001). This clearly indicated the need for comprehensive civil-service training. Training efforts in CEE countries after the collapse of communist regimes have been generally characterized by a frantic process of institution-building with uncoordinated and over-lapping programs (OECD 1997a, 21). This is also true for Estonia. In 1992, the State Chancellery's Training Centre was established, and its activities were directed by a Training Council located at the State Chancellery. In 1994, the Estonian Institute of Public Administration (EIPA) was created in the area of administration of the State Chancellery. EIPA was responsible for offering training, conducting research in the field of public administration and preparing study materials for civil servants. These training materials are still freely available and in use. So, EIPA had the responsibilities of a central civil-service training and competence center and was largely funded by the State Chancellery. Therefore, the early years of transition were characterized by a number of central initiatives with regard to the civil-service training. After the adoption of the Public Service Act in 1995, the coordination and steering essential power to prepare and draft the Public Service Act as well as to prepare secondary legislation, as these tasks rested with the Ministry of Justice. The State of civil-service training formally became the responsibility of the State Chancellery. In 1996, the Department of Public Service and Human Resources was created at the State Chancellery. The Department had the responsibility for coordinating civil-service human-resource management (personnel appraisal, training and the reserve list). Yet, the responsibility for civil-service pay and grading stayed with the Ministry of Finance. Previous analysis has hypothesized that the performance of the civil service could have been enhanced by giving the State Chancellery a mandate to develop all civil-service human-resource issues, including pay and grading (Nunberg 2000, 179). Furthermore, the State Chancellery lacked the Chancellery largely had a consulting role (Meyer-Sahling 2009). Consequently, the institutional setup of the training system was fragmented between different units, and the civil-service training system lacked clear responsibilities and efficient coordination instruments. In parallel with the adoption of the Public Service Act, the Government of the Republic Act was passed in 1995. This endorsed a highly decentralized institutional setup of the Estonian executive with very limited opportunities for institutional-

ized central coordination. The consequence for the civil-service training system was the increasing responsibility of individual public-sector organizations for the training and development of their officials. The central funding of the EIPA was gradually diminished in the second half of the 1990s and increasingly, a lion share of civil-service training costs was carried by various central and local government institutions. In 2001, the Cabinet approved "The Principles of a Training System for Public Servants". These Principles had a bearing effect on the system as they provided a framework and guidelines for organizing the training of officials (The Principles of a Training System for Public Servants 2001):

- "The organization and coordination of training of officials is carried out at
- different levels (public service as a whole, ministry with its governing area, individual public-sector organizations, officials). For each level, there is a responsible agency, unit or person nominated";
- "A part of the training of officials is conducted centrally. Central training is provided in issues that have high priority for the public service as a whole and which require uniform understanding, know-how and principles of action to be adopted and implemented in different organizations. The need for
 - central training is closely related to the preparation and introduction of major changes to the public service (i.e. accession to the EU, budget reform, etc.)";
 - "The organization and financing of training is mostly delegated to the organizational level."

These principles operationalized a decentralized setup of a training system. Every institution was responsible for the development of its staff since every ministry and executive agency had its own training budget and was free to choose where to buy in training activities (Tõnnisson and Paabusk 2005).

4.2 Development of central instruments within the decentralized system in the 2000s

Further developments in the 2000s have indicated that a fully decentralized setup of civil-service training requires coordinating mechanisms in order to steer the entire civil-service training system. This has led to the reforms related to the central training institution, the central training coordinator and the development of top civil servants. In 2002, the Centre of Continuing Studies was established at the Estonian Academy of Security Sciences under the Estonian Ministry of Interior. In 2003, EIPA was reorganized, and the Centre for Public Service Training and Development

under the jurisdiction of the State Chancellery was established. The Centre of Continuing Studies and the Centre for Public Service Training and Development were merged in 2005. The new structural unit was called the Centre for Public Service Training and Development (ATAK), and it was located at the Estonian Academy of Security Sciences under the Estonian Ministry of Interior. The formal aim of ATAK was to provide comprehensive continuing education throughout the civil service. ATAK had to (and still has to) finance all its activities from its own income sources without getting any fixed income from the state budget.

Until 2004, the development of top civil servants was addressed in a highly decentralized way by individual public-sector organizations. However, at the end of 2003, the State Chancellery started to work on the development of top civilservice competencies leading to the adoption of a top civil-service competency model in 2005. Since then, the top civil servants' competency model has been used as the basis for the assessment of top civil servants both in the selection and development processes led by the State Chancellery. A variety of development activities have been launched for slightly less than one hundred top civil-service executives (e.g. specially designed training and development programs, individual coaching and mentoring, development of future leaders). The top civil-service was institutionalized by the new Public Service Act adopted in 2012. The central development of top civil-service executives is one of a few central instruments that aim to counterbalance a largely decentralized training system.

Major institutional changes were carried out in 2010, when a new division of labor in civil-service coordination was established: the main responsibility for the coordination of civil-service development (strategic approach, performance appraisal, training) was moved from the Government Office (former State Chancellery) to the Ministry of Finance. The change was made with the aim of reducing fragmentation in the system (Riigikantselei 2010b) by uniting civil-service one exception: the Government Office remained in charge of the development of top civil servants. The Government Office also retained its functions in preselecting top civil servants in the recruitment process. The Government Office personnel functions in one unit, as the Ministry of Finance had so far been responsible for pay and grading in the public service. This structural reform had and several top civil servants demonstrated their preference for such a structural solution as they perceived the Government Office as being more "neutral" for such a central function compared to the Ministry of Finance. As a result of this structural reform, a dual system has evolved: the development of top civil service is administered by the Government Office, and other coordination activities for had developed strong ownership toward the development of top civil service, the rest of the public service are steered by the Ministry of Finance. Besides that,

the Ministry of Interior continued to be responsible for the development of the local governments and the Ministry of Justice stayed in charge of civil-service legislation. Accordingly, the Estonian civil-service training system continues to operate as a network with many actors, where the training and development decisions concerning civil servants are taken at different levels and institutions. The Ministry of Finance as the central coordinating body has the most important role in holding the civil-service training system together and steering its development. The Ministry of Finance is expected to use the following instruments for central coordination:

- Planning and implementation of central training activities. The Ministry of Finance administers the central training program by contracting out to the external providers specific horizontal training activities. The central training program can be seen as a basis for creating common practices, knowledge, skills and values across the civil service. For example, civil servants have had horizontal training on civil-service values and ethics, Estonian language, policy-making skills and human-resource management skills (Program "Central Training 2010–2011"). However, the impact of the central training program is rather moderate due to very limited funding, which allows reaching only a small share of the target groups. There are very few teaching materials produced to support the aims of the central training program;
- Cooperation with training managers in public-sector organizations. The Ministry of Finance cooperates with the networks of public personnel and training managers. The latter provides a valuable communication mechanism for the public-service training managers. The participating training managers have gotten to know each other through joint activities which have facilitated the sharing of training information and best practices. It has also served as a communication channel between individual public organizations and the Ministry of Finance. However, participation in the network is voluntary, and therefore not all training managers participate in the network is voluntary, which makes its impact rather uneven;
- Gathering, analyzing and circulating relevant information. The Ministry of Finance gathers general statistics about training activities in individual public-sector organizations. However, the analysis of training needs and the effectiveness in the civil service as a whole has been rather modest and irregular due to limited resources;
- Design and steering of common policies and principles. However, as of 2012, there
 is neither a horizontal civil-service strategy nor clear and targeted top-down
 steering of the development of the civil service. As there is also no common

training strategy in civil service, this (potential) instrument is largely underemployed by the Ministry of Finance. The coordination instruments used by the Ministry of Finance have been in many cases limited to technical functions without strategic involvement in policy design. These central coordination instruments are administered by three persons in the Public Administration and Public Service Department at the Ministry of Finance, which is a clear indication of the lack of resources and which limits the coordination ability of the Ministry. In sum, the central coordinator is institutionalized, but it lacks both a legal mandate and financial and human resources to effectively fulfill its coordinator's role.

training institution have hardly any formal linkages. Although ATAK offers a ATAK, under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Interior, should fulfill the role of a central training institution. Its aim is to provide comprehensive continuing education throughout the civil service. According to the formal rules, the Ministry of Finance should steer ATAK by heading the Council of ATAK, but in practice, this has not been accomplished, and the central coordinator and the central considerable amount of training to civil servants, it does not fulfill several other The SIGMA report on Estonia's public service stated that ATAK has not been active in consultancy work or research and methodological work necessary for the training of officials (Cardona and Meyer-Sahling 2007, 50). These deficiencies are roles foreseen by its statute (e.g. building in-house public-service-specific competencies, conducting applied research, assessing civil-service training needs, partly related to the lack of a fixed budget as ATAK has to cover all its costs from its own income. This makes it a similar training provider to other external actors preparing training materials, training of trainers, cooperation with universities). in the training market.

The general civil-service training market has shown constant development since the late 1990s. As public organizations came to be in charge of a substantial part of the training budget, they were free to choose training providers. In 2001, over 200 training providers offering various training activities for public servants were mentioned in the State Chancellery statistics (Riigikantselei 2002). In 2004, 410 training providers were listed (Riigikantselei 2005). According to a survey carried out by the State Chancellery (Riigikantselei 2010a), there were 354 different public, private and third-sector training institutions providing training courses for public servants in 2009. In sum, external training providers have a very important role to play in the Estonian civil-service training system.

4.3 Funding

Civil-service training activities are financed from three main resources: the central training budget administered by the Ministry of Finance (including EU structural funds), training budgets of ministries and agencies, and foreign aid (funding from smaller international projects). Characteristically to a decentralized system, most civil-service training is financed from institutions' own budgets. For example, in 2010, total training costs in ministries and agencies were about 5 million Euros while the budget of the central training program was 332,000 Euros (Ministry of Finance).

The central training budget is divided into two parts: first, for a central training program targeted to all public servants, and second, for the development of top civil servants. Both sub-divisions are to a substantial part funded by the European Social Fund: 85 % of the total funding comes from the EU and 15 % from the Estonian state budget. Table 1 shows that funds allocated for the central training program and the development of the top civil servants have grown over the years. It is also evident that the development of about 100 top civil servants public servants.

Table 1

Funding of top civil-servants development and central training program (in Euros)

Year	Top civil-servants development	Central training program
2006	51,307	250,247
2007	51,307	113,710
2008	65,374	52,176 ¹
2009	191,734	511,293
2010	223,690	332,341

Source: Ministry of Finance

The Public Administration and Public Service Department at the Ministry of Finance carries additional costs to support networking among training and personnel managers. This budget includes costs for regular seminars and developmental events. In 2011, the budget for these activities was 14,030 Euros. Comparing these figures to the EU funds and the small number of people working on the training issues in the Department provides evidence that the central coordinator Between Continuity and Change: The Analysis of the Estonian Civil-Service Training System

is overwhelmingly occupied with the administration of the EU Social Funds and has limited possibilities to focus on the general policy design and steering.

As the development of top civil servants and the central training program are so generously financed by the European Social Fund, the recent financial crisis did not have much effect on the central funding of civil-service training. However, the impact of the financial crisis on training budgets is clearly visible at the level of individual public-sector organizations (ministries, boards and inspectorates, country governments, local governments and constitutional institutions). From 1999 up to 1 July 2009, the Adult Education Act stipulated that 2–4 % of the annual payroll of each central government organization should be spent on training. As a consequence of the discretion of individual public organizations by allowing them to substantially cut training costs. Figure 1 illustrates training ecosts made by ministries, boards and inspectorates, county governments and constitutional public organizations applications and intervent was abolished. This has increased the discretion of individual public organizations by allowing them to substantially cut training costs. Figure 1 illustrates training costs made by ministries, boards and inspectorates, local governments, county governments and constitutional institutions and intervent was by allowing them to substantially cut training costs. Figure 1 illustrates training to the more than the substantially cut training costs. Figure 1 illustrates training governments and constitutional institutions during 2006–2010.

Figure 1



Source: Ministry of Finance

During 2006–2008, the training costs increased consistently. A drastic fall in training costs took place in 2009, directly influenced by the austerity measures. A slight growth in training costs is evident in 2010 although in local governments, the training costs kept decreasing in 2010, as well.

5. Discussion

The Estonian civil-service training system has gone through dynamic development over the past 20 years, which allows it to explore critical factors that influence the setup and functioning of the system as well as to pinpoint its strengths and weaknesses (which are sometimes two sides of the same coin). The most important actor in the Estonian civil-service training system appears to be the Ministry of Finance as the central coordinator of civil-service humanresource management. As the civil-service training system is decentralized and the organization of civil-service training is carried out at different levels – public service as a whole, ministries with their governing areas, individual public-sector organizations, civil servants – centralized coordination instruments are expected to guarantee an effective functioning and steering of the entire system. However, the absence of a central training (or HRM) strategy hinders a systematic approach to civil-service training. There are no long-term goals when it comes to the development and training of civil servants. This has contributed to a correct external assessment that Estonia has not one but many civil-service systems as each ministry has resulted in a wide variety of training and development policies and practices across the public service which are likely to lead to very different professional knowledge, skills and values of public servants. The Estonian civil-service training system is characterized by specific emphasis and considerable resources spent on the development of top civil-service executives. The aim of these activities has been declared as supporting the development of competent top executives who contribute to achieving the strategic goals of the state and who are critical in fostering the whole-of-government approach. is yet to be seen whether the development of top civil servants will help to counterbalance the fragmentation of the central government. It can already be said that institutional changes in 2010 reduced the problem of fragmentation only to a limited extent. Firstly, because the coordination of public-service policy is still shared by the ministries of Finance, Justice and Interior. Secondly, the coordination of civil-service training is distributed between the Ministry of Finance and the Government Office. Cooperation between the Ministry of Finance and the Government Office is neither regular nor systematic. The existing setup reflects the fragmentation of the Estonian executive and has not contributed to the development of a coherent approach to the development of the civil service as a whole. Another factor that illustrates the fragmentation of the Estonian executive is related to the central training institution ATAK. It belongs to the governing area of the Ministry of Interior, which means that the Ministry of Finance as a central

training coordinator has very limited opportunities to effectively steer ATAK, and the Ministry of Interior does not have proper instruments to hold ATAK accountable for civil-service training. ATAK has not turned into an active partner for the Ministry of Finance. Although the formal goals of ATAK correspond to traditional roles of a central training institution (building in-house capacity specific to public service, providing the public service with analysis, etc.), the confusing governing scheme, together with a missing fixed budget, positions ATAK like any private-sector firm in the training market and makes it dysfunctional as a central training institution. This, in turn, puts a heavy operational burden on the central coordinator, who, instead of steering general civil-service policy, has to administer centrally provided training activities.

The substance of Estonian civil-service training is almost entirely pending on fessionals that the public service needs. This has to be compensated by in-service what the training market can offer. One can argue that more than 300 training providers for a population of 1.29 million is a lot. On the one hand, a higher-education system of a small country cannot offer the specialized degrees for all protraining. On the other hand, there is no critical mass of people who request specialized training activities, which often means that specific and advanced courses are unavailable. Lack of demand, in turn, means that training providers do not have enough incentives for building their own (public-service specific) capacities, which leads to the shortage of professional trainers. Consequently, most of vate-sector specificity, which may not be suitable to the civil service. In a training market with so many external private-sector training providers, it is difficult to control the quality of training, and transaction costs for ministries and agencies are high, increasing the likelihood of market failure. This speaks further for the the training providers provide similar (rather basic-level) courses based on prineed of a central civil-service training institution, which could be especially relevant for small countries when considering the limitations of a training market.

External funding from the European Social Fund has been crucial in the provision of central training activities and the development of top officials. The availability of the EU structural funds has substantially facilitated the role that central coordinator(s) fulfill. However, a strong reliance on EU funding raises questions about the financial sustainability. 85 % of the central training budget has been financed by the EU structural funds, which will end in 2013. The EU funding has created a temporary "oasis", which may need to substantially shrink once it ends. The current funding scheme refers to a temporary arrangement and raises questions about the sustainability of centrally provided training. Moreover, substantial dependence on the EU funding mixes the accompanying accountability

Table 2

Strengths and weaknesses of the Estonian civil-service training system

Instrument	Strengths	Weaknesses
Unified training policies and principles		Absence of common training strategy in the civil service; a wide variety of training practices developed by individual organizations
Central coordination	Central coordination of civil-service training is administered by the Ministry of Finance together with coordinating general public-service development, performance appraisal and pay	Central coordination of public service is fragmented between the Ministry of Finance, Government Office, Ministry of Justice and Ministry of Interior; limited human and financial resources at the Ministry of Finance
Central training program	The Ministry of Finance administers horizontal training activities organized centrally for public servants for the dissemination of common knowledge, skills and values	Not sustainable because it is almost entirely (85 %) based on the EU structural funds
Gathering, analyzing and circulating training information	The Ministry of Finance gathers training information and disseminates it through publications, seminars and information days	There are insufficient central resources to systematically evaluate training needs and effectiveness of training activities
The network of public training managers	Provides for informal networking opportunity among training managers in the public sector; supports the dissemination of best practices	Voluntary network which does not involve all training managers and thus leads to uneven information sharing and development; no formal power of the network for influencing central training policies
Top civil servants	The Government Office is in charge of the development of top civil-service executives (about 90 persons) based on a common competency model; training activities are generously financed from the EU funds	Funding is not sustainable; voluntary participation of top executives leading to limited participation; imperfect coordination with the Ministry of Finance and individual public-sector organizations
Central training institution ATAK	Status of a central civil-service training institution	Poor instruments of the Ministry of Finance to steer its activities; absence of a fixed budget, no specific in-house competence; operates like any other actor on the training market
Training market	Market competition for training provision; cooperation between various actors of the training market	Training market is fragmented with many training providers (354 in 2009); difficult to assess the quality of trainers; high transaction costs in buying-in training

framework on the part of the Ministry of Finance with the Government Office. The accountability to funders has been given a prominent role while the accountability to the target group, political leaders and citizens has not been systematically addressed.

Based on the discussion above, Table 2 attempts to summarize the strengths and weaknesses of the Estonian civil-service training system.

6. Conclusions

Two decades after the fall of the Communist regime, civil-service training in Estonia still struggles with weak strategic planning, institutional fragmentation, unsustainable funding and insufficient coordination. Despite conceptual weaknesses, several lessons can also be learned from the Estonian experience. These lessons can be sepecially useful, a) for other CEE countries which have faced similar challenges in institution-building and upgrading of civil servants' competencies, b) for other small states which, like Estonia, need to address specific challenges related to smallness (e.g. limitations of the education system and training market), and finally, c) for other countries with a decentralized setup of central government and with open position-based civil service. The first lesson concerns the strategic approach to civil-service training. Above all, civil-service human-resource management should be based on a central human-resource strategy (Järvalt and Randma-Liiv 2010, 20). The training system should be a part of a systematic public-service HRM, and training objectives should stem from the needs of a civil-service system. The presence of a broad strategy is especially important in decentralized systems so that individual public-sector organizations would have a solid "backbone" on which to build their organizational programs and activities. Secondly, high levels of decentralization coupled with absent strategic planning on the state level and poor coordination are likely to lead to *ad hoc* practices and varying training levels and contents in different public-sector organizations. In order to compensate for such weaknesses of a decentralized training system, there is a need for elaborate coordination at the center of government. A clear division of roles, responsibilities and instruments between various actors in the training system helps to avoid overlapping functions and duplication of duties. Coordination at the center of government can be more efficient if it is located in one (central) organization – otherwise a number of coordinators may face difficulties with coordinating central roles between themselves instead of taking care of the entire system. The Estonian case study shows that the formal institution-

alization of a central coordinator is not enough – it needs to have a clear mandate for steering backed with necessary human and financial resources.

Thirdly, the market alone is not enough for an effective provision of civil-service training. This is particularly relevant for CEE countries as well as for small states, which are more likely to face market failures due to underdeveloped training markets with limited provision of training activities. Although practices of various countries justify the need for a central training institution in centralized systems, the analysis of the Estonian experience indicates the need for a functioning central training institution for a decentralized system. A central training institution for a decentralized system. A central training institution in centralized systems, the analysis of the Estonian experience indicates the need for a functioning central training institution for a decentralized system. A central training institution should be "at arm's length" from the civil-service central coordinator and offer specific training activities (mostly those which are not available in the training market), develop training materials, analyze civil-service training needs and effectiveness, as well as building and offering specific competencies relevant for the civil service.

Fourthly, even a decentralized training system needs central funding in some of its parts and central implementation of training activities. Specific training needs exist (e.g. related to facilitating major reforms or implementing new legislation) that are better addressed centrally to ensure a unified approach across the civil service. Moreover, common training contributes to the development of common values and enables the sharing of best practices. The central training institution should (at least partially) be financed by central funding in order to develop specific competencies and not be purely based on business income. Funds allocated from the state budget guarantee financial sustainability and continuation of civilservice training activities in times of financial crisis. Additional funding sources (e.g. the EU structural funds, foreign aid) are only temporary arrangements which need to be replaced in a longer perspective in order to guarantee sustainability. The best use of such one-off funds would be to use them for the development of a training system (e.g. for building up a central civil-service training and competence center), rather than spending them on regular training activities.

Finally, investments in top civil servants' development are vital. A civil-service training system should involve programs for top officials as they play a substantial role in initiating and maintaining changes. The importance of top executives, their competencies and cooperation is crucial in any country, but particularly as in new democracies, which need to build and guarantee fundamentally new practices in public administration.

Acknowledgements

This paper is based on the governmental report "The Analysis of Civil Service Training System and Development Needs of Estonia", commissioned by the Estonian Ministry of Finance, funded by the European Social Fund and carried out by the authors and PRAXIS Center for Policy Studies. The authors are grateful to Annika Uudelepp for co-authoring the above-mentioned report. This study has received additional funding from the European Commission's Seventh Framework Programme under grant agreement No. 266887 (Project COCOPS), and from the Estonian Science Foundation Grant no. 9435.

References

- Bossaert, Danielle. 2008. Training and Human Resource Development in the European Union Member States: New Practices and Innovative Trends. Maastricht: European Institute of Public Administration.
- Bossaert, Danielle and Christoph Demmke. 2003. Civil Services in the Accession States: New Trends and the Impact of the Integration Process. Maastricht: European Institute of Public Administration.
- Bossaert, Danielle, Christoph Demmke, Koen Nomden, Robert Polet and Astrid Auer. 2001. *Civil Services in the Europe of Fifteen*. Maastricht: European Institute of Public Administration.
- Bouckaert, Geert, B. Guy Peters and Koen Verhoest. 2010. The Coordination of Public Sector Organizations: Shifting Patterns of Public Management. United Kingdom: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Cardona, Francisco and Jan-Hinrik Meyer-Sahling. 2007. Sustainability of Civil Service Reforms after EU Accession: Expert Questionnaire for the SIGMA-OECD Project on Civil Service Developments in East Central Europe since the 2004 European Union Enlargement. Paris: OECD/SIGMA.
 - Chlivickas, Eugenijus. 2010. "Development of Human Resources System for Improvement of Public Administration in Eastern European Countries." Paper presented at the 6th International Scientific Conference, Business and Management, 13–14 May, Vilnius, Lithuania.
- Chlivickas, Eugenijus. 2008. "Creating Training System in Eastern and Central Europe: Essential Assumption of Stable Development in Labour-Market." *Proceedings of the* 12th World Multi-Conference on Systemics, Cybernetics and Informatics 6, 24–29.

- Chlivickas, Eugenijus, Kristina Marceline and Raimonda Vaitenkovaite. 2002. "Civil Servant Training Strategy as a Precondition for Improving the Quality of Public Administration: The Example of Lithuania." In Joanne Caddy and Mirko Vintar (eds). Building Better Quality Administration for the Public: Case Studies from Central and Eastern Europe. Bratislava: NISPAcee Press,
- Demmke, Christoph and Timo Moilanen. 2010. *Civil Services in the EU of 27: Re-form Outcomes and the Future of the Civil Service*. New York: Peter Lang Publishing.

124 - 141.

- Dimitrova, Antoaneta. 2002. "Enlargement, Institution-Building, and the EU's Administrative Capacity Requirement." West European Politics 25(4), 171–190.
- Drechsler, Wolfgang. 2003. Managing Public Sector Restructuring: Public Sector Downsizing and Redeployment Programs in Central and Eastern Europe. Report for the Inter-American Development Bank. Available at http://idbdocs.iadb.org/wsdocs/getdocument.aspx?docnum=623667 (last accessed 29 lune 2012).
- Dujic, Slobodan, Gozdana Miglic, Radoje Cerovic, Jadranka Vojinovic and Nevenka Pavlicic. 2006. "Civil Service Training System in Montenegro." *Pub*-
- lication on Civil Service Training System in Montenegro. Available at http:// www.uzk.co.me/stari/eng/publications/doc/PARIM_Publikacija_Sistem_
- usavrsavanja_sluzbenika_ENG.pdf (last accessed 29 June 2012).
- Goetz, Klaus H. 2001. "Making Sense of Post-Communist Central Administration: Modernization, Europeanization or Latinization?" *Journal of European Public Policy* 8(6), 1032–1051.
- Järvalt, Jane and Tiina Randma-Liiv. 2010. "Public Sector HRM: The Case of no Central Human Resource Strategy." Baltic Journal of Management 5(2), 242–256.
- Lavtar, Roman. 2008. "Tacit Knowledge and In-Service Training of Civil Servants." *Uprava, letnik* 6(4), 63–76.
- Lucking, Richard. 2003. "Lessons on Best Practice in the Approach to Civil Service Training." Civil Service Training in the Context of Public Administration
- Reform: A Comparative Study of Selected Countries from Central and Eastern
- Europe and the Former Soviet Union (1989 to 2003). Available at http://un-
- pan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/untc/unpan013648.pdf
 - (last accessed 29 June 2012).
- Meer, F. M. van der. 2011. *Civil Service Systems in Western Europe*. Northampton: Edward Elgar Publishing.

Meyer-Sahling, Jan-Hinrik. 2011. "The Durability of EU Civil Service Policy in Central and Eastern Europe after Accession." *Governance* 24(2), 231–260.

Meyer-Sahling, Jan-Hinrik. 2009. Sustainability of Civil Service Reforms in Central and Eastern Europe Five Years after EU Accession. Sigma Paper 44. Paris: OECD. Ministry of Finance. Public Service homepage. Available at http://www.avalik-teenistus.ee/?id=10694 (last accessed 29 June 2012).

Nunberg, Barbara. 2000. Ready for Europe: Public Administration Reform and European Union Accession in Central and Eastern Europe. Washington DC: The World Bank.

OECD. 2011. Estonia: Towards a Single Government Approach. OECD Public Governance Reviews. Paris: OECD.

OECD. 2008. The State of the Public Service. Paris: OECD.

OECD 1997a. Country Profiles of Civil Service Training Systems. Sigma Papers 12. Available at 10.1787/5kml60pvjmbq-en (last accessed 29 June 2012). OECD 1997b. Public Service Training in OECD Countries. Sigma Papers 16. Available at 10.1787/5kml619ljzzn-en (last accessed 29 June 2012).

Peters, B. Guy. 1998. "Managing Horizontal Government: The Politics of Coordination." *Public Administration* 76(2), 295–311.

Peters, B. Guy, Jon Pierre and Tiina Randma-Liiv. 2011. "Global Financial Crisis, Public Administration and Governance: Do New Problems Require New Solutions?" Public Organization Review 11(1), 13–27. The Principles of a Training System for Public Servants 2001. Available at http:// www.riigikantselei.ee/arhiiv/atp/Koolitus/dokumendid/koolitussyst.pdf (last accessed 29 June 2012). Rahandusministeerium. 2011. Avaliku teenistuse aastaraamat 2010 [Public Service Yearbook 2010]. Tallinn: Rahandusministeerium. Randma, Tiina. 2002. "Public Personnel Management." In Glen Wright and Juraj Nemec (eds). Public Management in the Central and Eastern European Transition: Concepts and Cases. Bratislava: NISPAcee, 179–282. Randma-Liiv, Tiina and Jane Järvalt. 2011. "Public Personnel Policies and Problems in the New Democracies of Central and Eastern Europe." *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis* 13(1), 35–49.

Randma-Liiv, Tiina and Bernadette Connaughton. 2005. "Public Administration as a Field of Study: Divergence or Convergence in the Light of 'Europeanization'?" *Tranes* 9(4), 348–360.

ReSPA 2008. "Civil Service Training Systems in the Western Balkans Region." An Overview of the Civil Service Training Systems in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia, and Kosovo under UNSCR 1244/99. Available at http://www.sigmaweb.org/

dataoecd/37/28/42331015.pdf (last accessed 29 June 2012). Riigikantselei. 2010a. Avaliku teenistuse aastaraamat 2009 [Public Service Yearbook 2009]. Tallinn: Riigikantselei.

Riigikantselei. 2010b. Riigikantselei aastaraamat 2009 [State Chancellery Yearbook 2009]. Tallinn: Riigikantselei.

Riigikantselei. 2005. Avaliku teenistuse aastaraamat 2004 [Public Service Yearbook 2004]. Tallinn: Riigikantselei.

Riigikantselei. 2002. Avaliku teenistuse aastaraamat 2001 [Public Service Yearbook 2001]. Tallinn: Riigikantselei.

Riigikantselei. 2001. Avaliku teenistuse aastaraamat 2000 [Public Service Yearbook 2000]. Tallinn: Riigikantselei.

Sarapuu, Külli. 2011. "Post-Communist Development of Administrative Structure in Estonia: From Fragmentation to Segmentation." Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences 35(4), 54–73.

Schiavo-Campo, Salvatore and Pachampet Sundaram. 2001. "Investing in Government Personnel." In Salvatore Schiavo-Campo and Pachampet Sundaram (eds). To Serve and To Preserve: Improving Public Administration in a

Competitive World. Philippines: Asian Development Bank, 465–494. Statistics Estonia. Statistics Estonia database. Available at http://www.stat.ee/ (last accessed 29 June 2012).

Tõnnisson, Kristiina and Kaido Paabusk. 2005. "Securing Common Knowledge and Values in Decentralized Public Service: The Case of Estonia." In Györ-

give gradient and Problem Solving in the Public Administrations of the Enlarged

European Union and its Neighbours. Bratislava: NISPAcee, 262–278.

Trendafilova, Tatjana. 2008. "Managing the Civil Service: Roles, Mechanisms and Capacities – Central Capacity and Line Ministries." Seminar on Building a Professional Civil Service, 26–27 June, Pristina, Kosovo.

Verheijen, Tony. 1999. Civil Service Systems in Central and Eastern Europe. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Verheijen, Tony. 1998. "NPM Reforms and Other Western Reform Strategies: The Wrong Medicine for Central and Eastern Europe?" In Tony Verheijen and

David Coombes (eds). Innovations in Public Management: Perspectives from East and West Europe. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, 407–417.

- Vukovic, Goran, Bruno Zavrsnik, Blaz Rodic and Gozdana Miglic. 2008. "The Training of Civil Servants in the Slovene State Administration: Issues in Introducing Training Evaluation." International Review of Administrative Sciences 74(4), 653–676.
 - World Bank. 2006. Administrative Capacity in the New Member States: The Limits of Innovation? Washington, DC: World Bank.
 - Zubek, Radoslaw and Klaus H. Goetz. 2010. "Performing to Type? How State Institutions Matter in East Central Europe." *Journal of Public Policy* 30(1), 1–22.

Public Administration in Georgia: Twenty Years of Development

MALKHAZ MIKELADZE

In many respects, Georgia is a country at the crossroads of East and West, North and South, and its way ahead combines examples of both problems and success stories of great relevance for the whole Eastern European region. Georgia went through different cycles of challenges and problems: it has seen wars and conflicts, poverty and shortages, fear of the future and nostalgic feelings about the past. But thanks to the young Georgians, we were able to rebuild our country; we were able to follow the path of democratic development based on prosperity and the fundamental values of democracy and individual liberty, which are not exclusive to Western societies, but also applicable to the rest of the world. Most assuredly, young public-administration professionals from Georgia and important and essential part in building the future of the country of Georgia and in this regard, I would express my appreciation to NISPAcee for its contribution to the education of young public-administration professionals in Georgia.

Numerous internal as well as external factors have had an impact upon the system of public administration in Georgia. The development process has been very much influenced by the recent past and, in this regard, we should take into account the impact of Soviet legacy on public administration in Georgia. In that regard, I will try to formulate a general definition of the aforementioned Soviet legacy and examine its impact on developments in Georgia during different phases of the existence of this young developing democracy.

Discussing the Soviet style of management, one must begin with the leading role of the Communist party and ideology during the Soviet Era – both of which had primacy over the rule of law in many, if not all, spheres of life. The fundamental administrative rules were directed at facilitating the implementation of political tasks and did not take into account any other interests. The political party was controlling all activities of the executive branches in order to keep full control over the bureaucratic machine and to avoid any possibility of alternative approaches or the emergence of civil society based on volunteerism.

In terms of it basic foundation, we can distinguish four main pillars on which Communist governance, I believe, was based:

Primacy of the political party component and political goals,

Curriculum vitae

Personal data			
Name:	Merilin Metsma		
Date of birth:	28.01.1987		
Place of birth:	Estonia		
Citizenship:	Estonian		
Contact data			
E-mail:	merilin.metsma@ttu.ee		
Education			
2012–2018	Tallinn University of Technology, Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance, PhD in Public Administration		
2009–2011	Tallinn University of Technology, Faculty of Social Sciences, Department of Public Administration, MA in Social Sciences (Public administration) (<i>Cum laude</i>)		
2006–2009	Tallinn University of Technology, Faculty of Humanities, BA in Public Management		
2003–2006	Põltsamaa Co-educational Gymnasium, High School		
Language competence			
Estonian	Native language		
English	Fluent		
Professional employmer			
12/2017 –	Estonian Ministry of Defence, Personnel Department, Staff Development Advisor		
08/2017–12/2017	Estonian Ministry of Finance, Administrative Department, Personnel Service, Personnel Consultant		
03/2016–07/2017	Estonian Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications, Human Resources Department, Head Specialist of Training		
10/2013-02/2016	Estonian Ministry of Finance, Public Administration and Public Service Department, Central Training Program Specialist		
01/2012-10/2013	Institute of Baltic Studies, analyst		
09/2011–02/2014	Tallinn University of Technology, Ragnar Nurkse School of Innovation and Governance, teaching assistant		
04/2010–09/2010	Swedbank, Department of Development and Supervision of Accounting, internship, assistant		
07/2007–05/2009	SEB Bank, Department of Financial Market Operations, assistant		

Elulookirjeldus

Isikuandmed Nimi: Sünniaeg: Sünnikoht: Kodakondsus: Kontaktandmed E-post: Hariduskäik 2012–2018	Merilin Metsma 28.01.1987 Eesti Eesti merilin.metsma@ttu.ee Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Ragnar Nurkse innovatsiooni ja valitsemise instituut, doktorikraad (avaliku halduse
2009–2011	õppekava) Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, sotsiaalteaduskond, sotsiaalteaduse magistri (avalik haldus) kraad (<i>cum laude</i>)
2006–2009	Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, humanitaarteaduskond, sotsiaalteaduse bakalaureuse kraad (avaliku halduse õppekava)
2003–2006 Keelteoskus	Põltsamaa Ühisgümnaasium, reaalharu, keskharidus (hõbemedal)
Eesti keel Inglise keel Teenistuskäik 12/2017–	emakeel asjatundlik Kaitseministeerium, personaliosakond, personaliarenduse
08/2017–12/2017	nõunik Rahandusministeerium, ühisosakond, personalitalitus, personalikonsultant
03/2016–07/2017	Majandus- ja Kommunikatsiooniministeerium, personaliosakond, koolituse peaspetsialist
10/2013-02/2016	Rahandusministeerium, riigihalduse ja avaliku teenistuse osakond, keskse koolituse programmi spetsialist
01/2012–10/2013	Balti Uuringute Instituut, analüütik
09/2011–02/2014	Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, sotsiaalteaduskond, Ragnar Nurkse innovatsiooni ja valitsemise instituut, õppeassistent
04/2010–09/2010	Praktika Swedbank AS, järelevalve arendus- ja arvestusosakond, assistent
07/2007–05/2009	SEB Eesti Ühispank, finantsturgude operatsioonide osakond, assistent